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India Globalization Capital, Inc.
4336 Montgomery Avenue
Bethesda, MD, 20814
(301) 983-0998

,201_

To the Stockholders of India Globalization Capital, Inc.:

The board of directors of India Globalization Capital, Inc. (“IGC”) has unanimously approved the acquisition of a 95%
equity interest in Linxi HeFei Economic and Trade Co. aka Linxi H&F Economic and Trade Co. a People’s Republic
of China-based company (“PRC Ironman”) by acquiring 100% of the equity of H&F Ironman Limited, a Hong Kong
company and its stockholders (“HK Ironman”) pursuant to a stock purchase agreement dated October 14, 2011 (“Stock
Purchase Agreement”). Upon completion of the acquisition (the “Acquisition’), which is subject to customary closing
conditions including approval of the IGC stockholders, IGC will issue 31,500,000 shares of IGC common stock (the
“Exchange Shares”) in exchange for 95% of the equity in PRC Ironman through HK Ironman (the “Share Issuance
Proposal”). In addition, the Stock Purchase Agreement provides for the issuance of 3,150,000 shares of IGC common
stock (the “Compensation Shares”) to the officers and directors of IGC and HK Ironman, which is subject to a 12-month
vesting schedule for continued service with their respective companies for 12 months following the closing (the
“Compensation Proposal”).

The number of Exchange Shares is fixed and will not be adjusted to reflect stock price changes prior to completion of
the Acquisition. The issuance of the Exchange Shares in connection with the Acquisition would result in the issuance
of more than 20% of its pre-issuance outstanding shares. As of October 18, 2011 (the “Record Date”), we had
20,960,433 shares of common stock outstanding. Therefore, under NYSE Amex rules, the issuance of the 31,500,000
Exchange Shares requires stockholder approval prior to their issuance. In addition, NYSE Amex rules require
stockholders approval prior to the issuance of the Compensation Shares.

You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of the stockholders of IGC to be held at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time,
on , 201_, at the offices of Shulman, Rogers, Gandal, Pordy & Ecker, P.A., 12505 Park Potomac Avenue,
6th Floor, Potomac, Maryland 20854 (“‘Special Meeting”). At this important Special Meeting, we are asking IGC
stockholders to: (1) authorize and approve the issuance of Exchange Shares to the HK Ironman stockholders (the
“Share Issuance Proposal”), (2) elect Danny Qing Chang to IGC’s board of directors to hold office as a Class A director
to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders in 2014 and when his successor is duly elected and qualified (the
“Election Proposal”); (3) approve the issuance of Compensation Shares to the current officers and directors of IGC and
HK Ironman (the “Compensation Proposal”’) which Compensation Shares are subject to vesting upon the officers and
directors’ completion of 12 months of service following the closing of the Acquisition; and (4) approve the
adjournment of the Special Meeting to another time or place, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies

if there are insufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to authorize and approve the Share Issuance Proposal,
the Election Proposal or the Compensation Proposal (the “Adjournment Proposal”).

The approval of the Share Issuance Proposal require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the
outstanding shares of IGC common stock entitled to vote on each of the proposals. The approval of the Compensation
Proposal and Election Proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares represented in
person or by proxy at the IGC Special Meeting where a quorum is present. The approval of the Adjournment Proposal
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Accordingly, as discussed in detail in the attached proxy statement, our Board of Directors unanimously recommends
that you vote, or give instruction to vote, “FOR” the Share Issuance Proposal, “FOR” the Election Proposal to elect Mr.
Danny Qing Chang to the Board of Directors, “FOR” the Compensation Proposal and “FOR” the Adjournment Proposal,
as each are described in full in the proxy statement. We cannot complete the Acquisition of HK Ironman unless the
Share Issuance Proposal is approved by the IGC stockholders.

A copy of the Stock Purchase Agreement is attached as Annex A. Our shares of common stock, units and warrants
are listed on the NYSE Amex under the symbols IGC, IGC.U and IGC.WT, respectively. The securities of HK
Ironman are not listed or quoted on any securities exchange.

The attached proxy statement contains a detailed discussion of the background of, and the reasons for, the Acquisition,
as well as the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. We are soliciting the enclosed proxy card on behalf of the
Board of Directors, and we will pay all costs of preparing, assembling and mailing the proxy materials. In addition to
mailing our proxy materials, our officers may solicit proxies by telephone or fax without receiving any additional
compensation for their services. We have requested brokers, banks and other fiduciaries to forward proxy materials to
the beneficial owners of our stock.

Enclosed is a notice of Special Meeting and proxy statement containing detailed information concerning the
Acquisition and the other proposals listed above. Whether or not you plan to attend the Special Meeting, we urge you
to read this material carefully. In particular, you should carefully consider the discussion in the section entitled ‘“Risk
Factors” beginning on page __ of the proxy statement.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. WHETHER YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE SPECIAL MEETING OR NOT,
PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AS SOON AS POSSIBLE IN THE
ENVELOPE PROVIDED.

This proxy statement is dated , 2011, and is first being mailed to IGC stockholders on or about __, 2011.

I look forward to seeing you at the meeting. On behalf of your Board of Directors, thank you for your continued
support.

Sincerely,

Ram Mukunda
Chief Executive Officer

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of
this transaction, or passed upon the fairness or merits of this transaction or the adequacy or accuracy of the enclosed
proxy statement. Any contrary representation is a criminal offense.
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NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To Be Held On ,201

To the Stockholders of India Globalization Capital, Inc.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of a Special Meeting of stockholders of India Globalization Capital, Inc., a Maryland
corporation, will be held at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on , 201__, at the offices of Shulman,
Rogers, Gandal, Pordy & Ecker, P.A., 12505 Park Potomac Avenue, Sixth Floor, Potomac, MD, for the following

purposes:

- to consider and vote on a proposal to approve the issuance of 31,500,000
shares of IGC common stock (the “Exchange Shares”) pursuant to the Stock
Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2011 in exchange for the
acquisition of a 100% equity interest in H&F Ironman Limited (“HK
Ironman”) (the “Share Issuance Proposal”);

- to elect Danny Qing Chang to IGC’s board of directors to hold office as a
Class A director to serve until IGC’s annual meeting of stockholders in 2014
and when his successor is duly elected and qualified (the “Election
Proposal”);

- to consider and vote on a proposal to approve the issuance of 3,150,000
shares of IGC common stock (the “Compensation Shares”) to the current
officers and directors of IGC and HK Ironman (the “Compensation
Proposal”’) which Compensation Shares are subject to vesting upon the
officers and directors’ completion of 12 months of service following the
closing of the Acquisition; and

- to consider and vote on any proposal to adjourn the Special Meeting to a
later date, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposals
contained herein if there are insufficient votes to adopt the proposals at the
time of the Special Meeting (the “Adjournment Proposal”).

Our Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on October 18, 2011, as the date for which our stockholders are
entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, our Special Meeting and any adjournments or postponements

thereof. Only the holders of record of our common stock on that date are entitled to have their votes counted at our
Special Meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof. We will not transact any other business at the
Special Meeting, except for business properly brought before the Special Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement by our Board of Directors.
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Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote “FOR” the Share Issuance Proposal, “FOR” the Election
Proposal, “FOR” the Compensation Proposal, and “FOR” the Adjournment Proposal.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Special Meeting, please submit a proxy as soon as possible. Even if you plan to
attend the Special Meeting in person, we request that you complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy or submit
your proxy by telephone prior to the Special Meeting to ensure that your shares will be represented at the Special
Meeting if you are unable to attend. If you are a stockholder of record, voting in person at the Special Meeting will
revoke any proxy previously submitted.
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After careful consideration, our Board of Directors has unanimously determined that the Stock Purchase Agreement,
the performance by IGC of its obligations thereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby,
including the Acquisition, is advisable and fair to and in the best interests of IGC and our stockholders. Our Board of
Directors has unanimously approved the Stock Purchase Agreement, the performance by IGC of our obligations
thereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby.

If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other nominee, you will receive instructions from the holder of
record that you must follow for your shares to be voted. Please follow their instructions carefully. Also, please note
that if the holder of record of your shares is a broker, bank or other nominee and you wish to vote in person at the IGC
Special Meeting, you must request a legal proxy from your bank, broker or other nominee that holds your shares, and
in addition to proof of identification, present that legal proxy identifying you as the beneficial owner of your shares of
IGC common stock and authorizing you to vote those shares at the IGC Special Meeting.

You may revoke your proxy or change your vote at any time before the vote is taken by following the procedures set
forth in the section entitled “ ” beginning on page __ of the proxy statement that accompanies this notice.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Ram Mukunda
Chief Executive Officer

Bethesda, Maryland
Date: , 2011
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India Globalization Capital, Inc.

PROXY STATEMENT FOR SPECIAL MEETING OF
STOCKHOLDERS OF
INDIA GLOBALIZATION CAPITAL, INC.

The Board of Directors of India Globalization Capital, Inc., which we call IGC, has unanimously approved the
Acquisition of 100% of the equity interests of H&F Ironman Limited (“HK Ironman”).

One of IGC’s areas of focus is the export of iron ore to China. HK Ironman through its subsidiary, Linxi HeFei
Economic and Trade Co., aka Linxi H&F Economic and Trade Co. (“PRC Ironman”), operates a beneficiation plant in
China, which converts low-grade ore to high-grade ore through a dry and wet separation process. Beneficiation is the
process of crushing and separating ore into valuable substances from waste by any of a variety of techniques. This
Acquisition is intended to provide IGC with a platform in China to expand its business and ship low-grade iron ore,
which is available for export in India, to China and convert the ore to higher-grade ore before selling it to customers in
China.

PRC Ironman has contracts to process iron ore that it receives from Mongolia and other sources. This Acquisition
would provide PRC Ironman a larger steady supply of low-grade ore that it can process through its plant. We believe
this Acquisition will provide you with an opportunity to participate in a company with significant growth potential in
the infrastructure and materials sector in India and China. It further establishes seasoned management teams in China
who can help IGC expand both organically and through other Acquisitions.

IGC’s units, shares of common stock and warrants are listed under the symbols IGC.U, IGC and IGC.WT on NYSE
AMEX, respectively. The securities of HK Ironman and its subsidiary are not listed or quoted on any securities
exchange.

As the stockholders of IGC are not receiving any consideration and are not exchanging any of their outstanding
securities in connection with the Share Issuance Proposal, and instead, are asked only to vote on the proposals
contained in the proxy statement, it is not expected that the IGC stockholders will have any tax-related issues as a
result of voting on these matters.
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SUMMARY TERM SHEET

The following summary highlights selected information in this proxy statement and may not contain all the
information that may be important to you. Accordingly, we encourage you to read carefully this entire proxy
statement, its annexes and the documents referred to or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement. References
to “IGC,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us” in this proxy statement refer to India Globalization Capital, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, and references to “the board,” “the Board of Directors” or “our Board of Directors” refer to the Board of
Directors of India Globalization Capital Inc., unless, in each case, otherwise indicated or the context otherwise
requires.

The Parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement
India Globalization Capital, Inc. IGC)

India Globalization Capital, Inc. (“IGC” or the “Company”), organized under the laws of the State of Maryland on April
29, 2005, was originally formed as a publicly traded “blank check” vehicle for the acquisition of one or more operating
businesses through a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition or other similar business combination. In

March 2008, IGC completed the acquisition of interests in two companies in India, Sricon Infrastructure Private
Limited (“Sricon”) and Techni Bharathi Limited (“TBL”). Both companies are focused on the infrastructure

industry. Currently, IGC owns 77% of TBL and 22% of Sricon. IGC operates rock aggregate quarries and exports

iron ore to China. IGC has identified the infrastructure materials business as a high growth business in both India and
China as this is fundamental to the long-term development of Chinese and Indian infrastructure.

Based on the past several years of purchasing and projected need in the near future for infrastructure projects, IGC’s
management believes that strong demand for iron ore in India and in China will continue over the medium and long
term, as both countries become leading global economies. IGC’s management believes that though China’s appetite for
iron ore will continue to be strong, other countries, including countries that have iron ore to export, especially India
will eventually restrict the export of high-grade iron ore, as it will be required for internal use. However, IGC believes
that this restriction will not likely be made on low-grade iron ore, as restricting both would mean a substantial
curtailment of much needed foreign exchange and export revenue. IGC’s proposed Acquisition would allow IGC to
adopt an aggressive strategy of shipping low-grade ore to China and processing it there into high-grade ore. IGC’s
management believes the Acquisition will add substantial synergies to IGC’s iron ore business, as well as develop a
strong base in China. The mailing address of our principal executive office is 4336 Montgomery Avenue, Bethesda,
MD 20814 and our telephone number is 301-983-0998.

HK Ironman

HK Ironman is a Hong Kong-based company incorporated on December 20, 2010 to acquire PRC Ironman. Prior to
the formation of HK Ironman, PRC Ironman was owned by Danny Qing Chang and is now owned by him through HK
Ironman. PRC Ironman is 95% owned by HK Ironman and 5% of the ownership resides with its local legal
representative in China, but under the control of the board of PRC Ironman. After the Acquisition, IGC would own
100% of HK Ironman and, through HK Ironman, 95% of its operating company in China, PRC Ironman. We refer to
HK Ironman and its subsidiary PRC Ironman in the following discussion collectively, as Ironman.

Ironman is currently an iron processing plant with operations in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of

China. Ironman processes low-grade iron ore (3% Fe content) mixed with sand that it obtains from the hills of Inner
and from Outer Mongolia and produces high-grade iron powder. The processing technique used by Ironman is a

13
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magnetic separation process that consists of two parts: dry magnetic separation and wet separation. Ironman uses 19
magnets in the dry separation production line and two magnets in the wet separation process. Ironman has cultivated
close relations with the local government and has a respected position in the local area. Danny Qing Chang, the
principal of HI Ironman, is a partner at a private equity fund called Jasmine Capital located in Beijing, which is a
public-private partnership with the Government of China. In addition, his family owns sheep farms and constructs
real estate in and around Chifeng, the capital of Inner Mongolia.

PRC Ironman

PRC Ironman was incorporated as Linxi HeFei Economic & Trade Co., Ltd. in China on January 8, 2008. PRC
Ironman is engaged in the processing and extraction of iron ore from sand and dirt at its beneficiation plant on 2.2
square kilometers of hills, with iron ore deposits of more than three million tons in southwest LinXi in the

autonomous region of eastern Inner Mongolia, under the administration of Chifeng City, Inner Mongolia, which is
located 250 miles from Beijing, 185 miles from Tianjin Port and 125 miles from Jinzhou Port and well connected by
roads, planes and railroad. PRC Ironman is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture (“EJV”) established by both foreign and
Chinese investors (i.e., Sino means “China” herein). HK Ironman, a Hong Kong based company owns 95% of PRC
Ironman, and Mr. Zhang Hua, a Chinese citizen owns the remaining 5%. An EJV is a joint venture between a Chinese
and a foreign company within the territory of China. See ‘“The Equity Joint Venture Structure” below for additional
discussion of the EJV.
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PRC Ironman’s technique for extracting ore consists of two processes. First, naturally occurring sand mixed with
sparse amounts of iron ore is processed through a magnetic separator where magnets attracts the iron dust; the
separation of iron from the sand is called a dry separation process. This is followed by mixing the material with water
and processing the slurry through a wet magnetic separator, further purifying the material until it extracts ore that is
65-67% iron content. PRC Ironman currently mines the ore from the surrounding hills or buys sand and low-grade
ore from Mongolia, processes the material to produce 66% Fe ore, and then sells the high-grade ore to steel mills and
other traders in China. Its customers are mostly traders and steel mills located mostly around the port of Tianjin,
China.

PRC Ironman has received a license, to operate the beneficiation plant on a specific acreage of land in Inner Mongolia
through August 2018. In addition, PRC has a business license, which is currently being amended to reflect PRC
Ironman’s new ownership by HK Ironman, effective December 2010. PRC Ironman’s business objective is to operate
and grow an environmentally friendly company that extracts and processes ore from barren hills and leaves in its place
green acreage. PRC Ironman is located in southwest LinXi in the autonomous region of Inner Mongolia. PRC
Ironman’s office is in the capital city of Chifeng. It has access via highways to Tianjin port, which gives us access to
steel mills in the northeastern part of China. PRC Ironman customers come to its site to pick up the refined and
processed high-grade ore.

Chinese foreign investment policies classify various industries into four groups with respect to the propriety of foreign
investments: encouraged, permitted, restricted and prohibited for foreign investment. Mining and processing of
ferruginous sandstone and sale of refined iron powder is not in either the encouraged, restricted or prohibited groups
explicitly stipulated by the Catalogue of Industries Guiding Foreign Investment. Consequently, foreign investment is
permitted into PRC Ironman.

The Equity Joint Venture Structure

Following the closing of the Acquisition, IGC will own 100% of HK Ironman and HK Ironman will continue to own
95% of PRC Ironman. IGC will conduct business thereafter in China through PRC Ironman. Under People’s Republic
of China law, PRC Ironman is considered an EJV, which is a company with limited liability and legal person status,
established based on a Sino-foreign joint venture contract between foreign (non-Chinese) and Chinese investment
partners within the territory of China. The articles of association of both the investment partners and the PRC
company are subject to the approval of the Chinese government, which approval is pending and expected to be
received within two to three months. The EJV form of foreign investment is the most widely used form in

China. PRC Ironman has the status of Chinese legal person, which is desirable because an EJV is capable of buying
land, hiring Chinese employees, constructing buildings, etc.

Generally, the management of an EJV is in the hands of a board of directors, consisting of at least three members,

with each party either appointing the chairman or the vice-chairman. The board of directors is the highest authority of
the EJV. The standard length of time for an EJV is between thirty and fifty years, however, approval for an unlimited
period of operation is possible. PRC law requires that the profit-sharing ratio among the EJV’s equity owners is in line
with the actual equity ownership held by each owner. An EJV’s activities in China must comply with Chinese laws
and regulations, which, in addition to generally applicable laws such as the PRC Company Law and the general legal
regime regulating foreign direct investment in China, an EJV is also regulated by EJV-specific laws and
implementation regulations. Currently, the primary governing laws for EJV’s are the PRC laws on Sino-foreign equity
joint ventures and its implementation regulations, as amended. The boards of directors are elected by the stockholders
and voting must be in proportion to the ownership. The minority partner has no special rights.

Iron Ore Industry & China’s Demand for Iron Ore
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The world’s most commonly used metal is steel; the key ingredient in steel is iron ore representing almost 95% of all
metals used per year worldwide. Iron ore is the most abundant rock-forming element and composes about 5% of the
earth’s crust. Iron ore is the primary material from which iron and steel products are made. These products are widely
used around the world for structural engineering applications and in maritime purposes, automobiles and general
industrial applications. Consumption of iron ore is constantly growing. China is currently the largest consumer of
iron ore, which translates to be the world's largest steel producing country, and is the largest importer of iron ore and
steel. China imports almost half of the iron ore mined worldwide. Supply of iron ore comes from China, India,
Australia, Brazil and several other parts of the world. Iron ore is mined from the earth and is the raw material used to
make pig iron, which is one of the main raw materials to make steel. According to an October 26, 2009, Financial
Times article, iron ore is “more integral to the global economy than any other commodity, except perhaps oil.”

Industry reports indicate that Chinese steel consumption has continued to grow even through the global economic
downturn, as China’s economy only modestly decelerated from its previous multi-year growth trajectory. Industry
experts predict that growth in Chinese consumption is expected to remain a key driver for the global steel industry for
a number of years to come. According to the World Steel Association, world crude steel production was 119 million
metric tons (mmt) in January 2011, an increase of 5.3% from January 2010. In 2010, world crude steel production
reached a record 1,414 mmt, up 15% year over year. China’s crude steel production for January 2011 was 52.8 mmt,
up 0.5% year over year.

16



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

Table of Contents

The iron ore industry is broadly divided into mining and processing. The companies that hold mining licenses mine
ore and sell it to steel mills directly or to processing plants. The processing plants convert ore into high-grade ore, like
PRC Ironman, or into pellets that are then sold to steel mills. Typically, low-grade ore is ore that has an iron (Fe)
content of less than 52% and high-grade ore is ore with a Fe content of over 52%. The processing involves the
extraction of iron ore from sand and dirt at beneficiation plants. The beneficiation process involves crushing and
separating ore into valuable substances or waste by any of a variety of techniques. PRC Ironman’s beneficiation plant
extracts iron ore from a dry magnetic separation process followed by a wet separation process. PRC Ironman
currently either mines ore from the hills of Inner Mongolia in their designated acreage or it buys sand and low-grade
ore from Mongolia, processes the material to produce 66% Fe ore, and then sells the high-grade ore to steel mills and
other traders in China. Its customers are mostly traders and steel mills located mostly around the port of Tianjin,
China.

The Stock Purchase Agreement

The Acquisition. IGC proposes to acquire a 100% equity interest in HK Ironman on a fully diluted basis by
purchasing all of the shares beneficially held by the principal of HK Ironman, Danny Qing Chang, for 31,500,000
common shares of IGC (the “Exchange Shares”), which would represent approximately 60% of IGC’s outstanding shares
of common stock, as of October 18, plus up to $4 million in cash or additional shares, as discussed below. HK
Ironman holds 95% of PRC Ironman, the iron ore processing company in China. For the years ended March 31, 2010
and 2011, PRC Ironman generated approximately (audited) USD $5,223,422 and (audited) USD $13,525,890,
respectively, in revenues from its operations. The Stock Purchase Agreement follows a strategic partnership
agreement entered into between IGC and HK Ironman in August 2011 to allow IGC to export low-grade ore from
India and to provide high-grade ore to Chinese steel mills. Under the strategic partnership agreement, IGC would
source ore from India and ship the ore to PRC Ironman and their customers in China. As the parties moved quickly
toward an acquisition, no business under the strategic partnership agreement occurred to date.

The Consideration. The Stock Purchase Agreement contains several contingencies to closing including, for both
parties, satisfactory completion of due diligence, which the parties have substantially completed, and approval of the
IGC and HK Ironman stockholders, among others. The Stock Purchase Agreement provides that at closing, IGC will
issue the Exchange Shares in exchange for all of the HK Ironman issued and outstanding shares. In addition, the
Stock Purchase Agreement provides for a contingent payment by IGC to Mr. Chang of $1 million payable within 30
days of closing and upon satisfaction of certain post-closing covenants. In addition, the consideration under the Stock
Purchase Agreement includes certain contingent payments by IGC to PRC Ironman stockholders, as follows (i) $1.5
million in cash or stock, which is contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of at least 30% from the previous
year’s closing audit (i.e., March 31, 2011); and (ii) $1.5 million in cash or stock, which is contingent on IGC achieving
earnings growth of at least 30% from the previous year’s closing audit (i.e., March 31, 2012). If either of the foregoing
annual targets are missed, there would still be a payout of $3 million provided IGC achieves a cumulative earnings
growth of 69% between fiscal years 2011 and 2013. In addition, under the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC has
agreed to file a registration statement to register the Exchange Shares for resale within 60 days of the closing of the
Acquisition.

As discussed under Proposal 3 below, the Stock Purchase Agreement provides that 3,150,000 shares of IGC common
stock (the “Compensation Shares”) will be reserved for issuance, in equal parts (50:50), to the management of IGC and
PRC Ironman. The Compensation Shares will be issued to the officers and directors of IGC and HK Ironman, subject
to the discretion of the boards of directors of both companies, which Compensation Shares are subject to a 12-month
vesting schedule for continued service with their respective companies for 12 months following the closing of the
Acquisition.
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IGC’s Board of Directors. Following the closing, the Stock Purchase Agreement provides that IGC’s Board of
Directors will continue to comprise five seats subject to the staggered terms of the Class A, Class B and Class C
directors. IGC stockholders will nominate three directors and Mr. Chang will nominate two directors. Pursuant to
Proposal 2 of this proxy statement, as discussed below, Mr. Chang’s election to the Board of Directors, conditioned
upon the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal only, would satisfy one of the two seats. Mr. Chang has agreed to
vote his shares in favor of the IGC nominated directors for a period of three years, as those seats come up for election
under the Board of Directors’ three-year staggered regime. Mr. Chang’s will be entitled to nominate a candidate for the
second seat beginning with the election of the Class B directors at the 2013 annual meeting.

HK Ironman and PRC Ironman Boards of Directors. The Stock Purchase Agreement provides further that following
the closing of the Acquisition, IGC will henceforth nominate the directors to the boards of HK Ironman and PRC
Ironman. The quorum for board meetings will be in accordance with the respective companies’ bylaws and applicable
local laws. Further, for the first three years following this closing, IGC will supervise and manage U.S. GAAP and
SEC financial reporting, bank accounts in China as well nominating auditors. The parties have agreed further that
IGC will nominate the person responsible for control over financial reporting and disclosure for each of HK Ironman
and PRC Ironman.

Representations and Warranties. The Stock Purchase Agreement also includes customary representations and
warranties and indemnification obligations. The representations and warranties of the parties to the Stock Purchase
Agreement were made only for purposes of that agreement and as of specific dates and were solely for the benefit of
the other applicable parties thereto. The Stock Purchase Agreement is a contractual document that establishes and
governs the legal relations among the parties thereto and is not intended to be a source of factual, business or
operational information about IGC and its subsidiaries. The representations and warranties made by the parties in the
Stock Purchase Agreement may be (i) qualified by disclosure schedules containing information that modifies,
qualifies or creates exceptions to such representations and warranties and (ii) subject to standards of materiality
applicable to the contracting parties that differ from those applicable to investors. Accordingly, investors and security
holders should not rely on such representations and warranties, as any characterization of the actual state of facts or
circumstances.
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The Special Meeting

Date, Time and Place. The Special Meeting of the stockholders of IGC will be held at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time,
on , 201_, at the offices of Shulman, Rogers, Gandal, Pordy & Ecker, P.A., 12505 Park Potomac Avenue, 6th
Floor, Potomac, Maryland 20854.

Purpose. You will be asked to (i) to approve the Share Issuance Proposal; (ii) to approve the Election Proposal; (iii) to
approve the Compensation Proposal; and (iv) to approve the Adjournment Proposal.

Voting Power, Record Date. You are entitled to vote or direct votes to be cast at the Special Meeting if you owned
shares of IGC common stock at the close of business on October 18, 2011, which is the record date for the Special
Meeting. You have one vote for each share of IGC common stock you owned at the close of business on the record
date. At the close of business on the record date, there were 20,960,433 shares of IGC common stock outstanding and
entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. A majority of the shares of our common stock issued, outstanding and entitled
to vote at the Special Meeting present in person or by proxy constitutes a quorum for the purpose of considering the
proposals.

Broker Non-Votes. A broker non-vote occurs when a broker submits a proxy card with respect to shares held in a
fiduciary capacity (typically referred to as being held in “street name”) but declines to vote on a particular matter
because the broker has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner. Under the rules that govern brokers
who are voting with respect to shares held in street name, brokers have the discretion to vote such shares on routine
matters, but not on non-routine matters. Non-routine matters include the Share Issuance Proposal, the Compensation
Proposal and the Election Proposal. The Adjournment Proposal is deemed a routine matter.

Accordingly, if you hold your shares in street name, in order for your shares to be voted for the Share Issuance
Proposal, the Compensation Proposal and the Election Proposal, you must provide voting instructions to your broker
in accordance with the voting instruction card that you will receive from your broker. Proxies received but marked as
abstentions or treated as broker non-votes will be included in the calculation of the number of shares considered
present at the Special Meeting for quorum purposes only.

Vote Required to Approve the Share Issuance Proposal. The approval of the Share Issuance Proposal will require the
affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote at the
meeting. Approval of the Share Issuance Proposal is not conditioned upon the approval of any other proposals in this

proxy.

Vote Required to Approve the Election Proposal. The approval of the Election Proposal will require the affirmative
vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock that are present in person or by proxy and entitled to
vote at the meeting. The election of Mr. Chang for director under the Election Proposal is conditioned upon the
approval of the Share Issuance Proposal only.

Vote Required to Approve the Compensation Proposal. The approval of the Compensation Proposal will require the
affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock that are present in person or by proxy and entitled to
vote at the meeting. Approval of the Compensation Proposal is conditioned upon the approval of the Share Issuance
Proposal only.

Vote Required to Approve the Adjournment Proposal. The approval of the Adjournment Proposal requires a majority

of all the votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Approval of the Adjournment Proposal is not
conditioned upon the approval of any other proposals in this proxy.
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Other Matters. The Board of Directors knows of no matters other than those described in this proxy that are likely to
come before the Special Meeting.

Appraisal or Dissenters Rights. No appraisal rights are available under the Maryland General Corporation Law for
our stockholders in connection with the Share Issuance Proposal.

Soliciting Proxies. We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies. In addition to soliciting stockholders by mail through
our employees, we will request banks, brokers and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries to solicit clients for
whom they hold our stock and will reimburse them for their reasonable, out-of-pocket costs. We may use the services
of our officers, directors and others to solicit proxies, personally or by telephone, without additional

compensation. We have also engaged InvestorCom to solicit proxies on our behalf. We anticipate that the fees to
InvestorCom will be approximately $10,000. In addition, we have incurred accounting, audit and legal fees in
connection with the Acquisition and preparation of the Proxy. If you grant a proxy, you may still vote your shares in
person if you revoke your proxy before the Special Meeting.
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Voting and Proxies. Any stockholder of record entitled to vote at the Special Meeting may submit a proxy by
telephone, by returning the enclosed proxy card by mail, or by voting in person by appearing at the Special

Meeting. If your shares of our common stock are held in “street name” by your broker, bank or other nominee, please
instruct your broker, bank or other nominee on how to vote such shares of common stock or use the instructions
provided by your broker. If you do not provide your broker, bank or other nominee with instructions, your shares of
our common stock will not be voted. The persons named in the accompanying proxy will also have discretionary
authority to vote on any adjournments or postponements of the Special Meeting.

Revocability of Proxy. Any stockholder of record who executes and returns a proxy card (or submits a proxy via
telephone may revoke the proxy at any time before it is voted at the Special Meeting in any one of the following ways:

¢ if you hold your shares in your name as a stockholder of record, by written notice to our Secretary, at 4336
Montgomery Avenue, Bethesda, MD, 20814;

¢ by attending the Special Meeting and voting in person (your attendance at the Special Meeting will not, by itself,
revoke your proxy; you must vote in person at the Special Meeting);

® by submitting a later-dated proxy card;
® by re-voting by telephone; or

¢ if you have instructed a broker, bank or other nominee to vote your shares of our common stock, by following the

directions received from your broker, bank or other nominee to change those instructions.

Accounting Treatment
IGC prepares its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States,

which we refer to as GAAP. The Acquisition will be accounted for by applying the acquisition method with IGC
treated as the acquiror.
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Our Board of Directors’ Recommendation

After careful consideration, our Board of Directors unanimously approved the Share Issuance Proposal, as
contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement, the performance by IGC of its obligations thereunder and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, and resolved to recommend that the stockholders approve the
Share Issuance Proposal and directed that such matter be submitted for consideration of the stockholders of IGC at the
Special Meeting. Our Board of Directors did not obtain a fairness opinion in making this determination. The Board
of Directors determined that, in light of the likely cost and the Board’s belief that the extensive resources devoted to
evaluating and conducting due diligence of our Acquisition, including IGC’s directors and other professionals that IGC
hired for due diligence, including India and China-based legal and accounting professionals, had the skill and
experience to properly evaluate the fairness of the Share Issuance Proposal and that IGC’s assets should not be used to
pay for a formal fairness opinion.

Our Board of Directors has unanimously approved and unanimously recommends that you vote or instruct your vote
to be cast “FOR” the following proposals: (i) the Share Issuance Proposal, (ii) the Compensation Proposal, (iii) the
Election Proposal and (iv) the Adjournment Proposal.

Interests of Our Directors and Officers in the Acquisition

When you consider the recommendation of our Board of Directors that you vote in favor of the proposals herein, you
should keep in mind that certain of our directors and officers have interests in the Share Issuance Proposal and the
Compensation Proposal that are different from, or in addition to, your interest as a stockholder. These interests
include, among other things, that if the Share Issuance Proposal is approved, the possibility of an appreciation in the
value of stock, warrants and options held by them. In addition, all officers and members of the Board of Directors of
IGC will participate in the Compensation Shares awards entitling them to share in 50% of the 3,150,000
Compensation Shares. In addition, we anticipate that following the closing of the Acquisition, all of IGC’s directors
will continue to serve on the Board of Directors. Each of our directors and officers who remain with IGC for 12
months following the closing of the Acquisition, will receive the Compensation Shares and such other amounts and in
such manner, as our Board of Directors may determine to be appropriate, subject in the case of our officers to the
requirements of any employment agreements entered into with them. No such other compensation is contemplated at
this time.

Conditions to the Stock Exchange

Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations. Each party’s obligation to close the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or
waiver if permissible under applicable law) of the following conditions:

¢ No governmental entity shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation,
executive order, decree, injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect
and that has the effect of making the Acquisition illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Acquisition
substantially on the terms contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement;

e Completion of a business, financial, accounting tax, technical, legal and regulatory due diligence to the reasonable
satisfaction of both parties, which due diligence process has been completed by all parties;

¢ Since the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement, among each of the parties, there must not have been any change,
event, occurrence, circumstance or effect which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
have a material adverse effect including no action, suit or proceeding shall exist that is reasonably likely to prevent
the Acquisition or cause rescission of the Acquisition following closing;
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e The stockholders and boards of directors of both parties shall have approved the transactions outlined in the Stock
Purchase Agreement; and

e None of the transactions contemplated hereby are disapproved by any regulatory authority whose approval is
required to consummate such transactions.
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Conditions to IGC’s Obligations. The obligation of IGC to close the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or
waiver if permissible under applicable law) of the following conditions:

e HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and their stockholders must have performed in all material respects all obligations that
are to be performed by each of them under the Stock Purchase Agreement;

e HK Ironman and PRC Ironman must have provided details of the bank accounts maintained by the companies in
PRC and Hong Kong;

e Each of the representations and warranties made by HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and Mr. Chang, as set forth in the
Stock Purchase Agreement, disregarding all qualifications and exceptions contained therein relating to materiality
or material adverse effect being true and correct as of the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement and as of the
effective time of the transaction (except to the extent made as of a specific date), except where the failure to be true
and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect;

e HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and Mr. Chang must have performed in all material respects all of its covenants and
agreements required to be performed by them under the Stock Purchase Agreement at or prior to the closing date;
and

e HK Ironman and PRC Ironman shall have been furnished an IGC officer’s certificate with certain representations
and warranties.

Conditions to HK Ironman’s Obligations. The obligation of HK Ironman to close the Acquisition is subject to the
satisfaction (or waiver if permissible under applicable law) of the following conditions:

e |GC shall have obtained all consents, waivers, permits and approvals required in connection with the consummation
of the Acquisition if failure to obtain the same would be reasonably expected to cause a material adverse effect;

e [GC shall have been furnished an HK Ironman and PRC Ironman’s officer’s certificate with certain representation
and warranties;

e Each of the representations and warranties made by IGC, as set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement,
disregarding all qualifications and exceptions contained in the Stock Purchase Agreement relating to materiality or
material adverse effect being true and correct as of the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement and as of the effective
time of the transaction (except to the extent made as of a specific date), except where the failure to be true and
correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect;

¢ |GC shall have been furnished an IGC officer’s certificate with certain representations and warranties; and

e IGC have performed in all material respects all of its covenants and agreements required to be performed by
them under the Stock Purchase Agreement at or prior to the closing date.
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Termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement

The Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the close of the Acquisition, whether before or
after stockholder approval has been obtained:

¢ by mutual written consent of IGC and HK Ironman;
¢ by either IGC and HK Ironman if:

o any order, decree or ruling permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Stock
Purchase Agreement shall become final and non-appealable; provided, that the party seeking to terminate the Stock
Purchase Agreement has not breached in any material respect its obligations to use reasonable best efforts to cause
the Stock Purchase Agreement to be consummated;

o the IGC stockholders do not approve the Share Issuance Proposal at the Special Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof; and

o other party is not satisfied with its due diligence review of the other parties, which due diligence process has been
completed by both parties.

¢ by HK Ironman, if:

o IGC has breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements under the
Stock Purchase Agreement;

e by IGC, if:

o either HK Ironman, PRC Ironman or Danny Chang has breached or failed to perform any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or agreements under the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

o by IGC, if the transaction is disapproved by any regulatory authority whose approval is required to close the
Acquisition.

Officers and Directors after the Acquisition

IGC. Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes (Class A, Class B and Class C) with only one class of
directors being elected in each year and each class serving a three-year term. The term of office of the Class A
directors, consisting solely of Mr. Shenoy currently, will expire at the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders. The term
of office of the Class B directors, currently consisting of Mr. Prins and Dr. Krishna, will expire at the 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders. The term of office of the Class C director, currently consisting of Mr. Mukunda, will expire
at the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders.

The NYSE Amex, upon which the Company is listed, has rules mandating that the majority of the Board be
independent. Our Board of Directors will consult with counsel to ensure that the Board’s determinations are consistent
with those rules and all relevant securities laws and regulations regarding the independence of directors. The NYSE
Amex listing standards define an “independent director” generally as a person, other than an officer or an employee of a
company, who does not have a relationship with the company that would interfere with the director’s exercise of
independent judgment. Consistent with these standards, the Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. Krishna,
Prins and Shenoy are independent directors.
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After the closing of the Acquisition, Mr. Danny Qing Chang, if elected, will join the board as a Class A director with a
term to expire at the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders. According to the NYSE Amex rules, Mr. Chang will not
be considered as an independent director. Mr. Ram Mukunda will continue as the Executive Chairman, President and
Chief Executive and Mr. Prins will continue as the Chairman of the Audit and the Compensation Committees. As
required by the SEC and NYSE Amex rules, the new board will elect a chairman.

HK Ironman and PRC Ironman. After the Acquisition, the board of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman will be
reconstituted to Mr. Danny Qing Chang, Mr. Ram Mukunda and Mr. Richard Prins. The reconstituted board will elect
a Chairman and form the committees. In addition, the Company expects to appoint Mr. Daniel Shu Kwong Ngai, a
current member of the IGC staff in Hong Kong, as an officer of Ironman.

Market Price of Common Stock

The closing sale price of our common stock on the NYSE Amex on October 17, 2011, the last trading day before IGC
publicly announced the Acquisition, was $0.18. On November 23, 2011, the last trading day before the date of this
proxy statement, our common stock closed at $0.25 per share.

U.S. and PRC Regulatory Approvals

The Acquisition and related transactions are not subject to any federal or state regulatory requirements or approvals,
including the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (HSR Act).

The PRC has no regulatory impediment to the transactions proposed in the Stock Purchase Agreement and no
advanced permission is required, apart from the approval by the Chinese government of PRC Ironman’s articles of
association and the approval of the modification of PRC Ironman’s business license to reflect its shift to EJV status in
December 2010.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Acquisition

The issuance by IGC of its common stock to HK Ironman stockholders in exchange for HK Ironman stock, as
contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement, generally will not be a taxable transaction to U.S. holders for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. It is expected that IGC and its stockholders will not recognize any gain or loss because
of the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Enforceability of Civil Liabilities Against Non-U.S. Persons

HK Ironman incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on December 20, 2010, and operates only in Hong

Kong. HK Ironman’s owns 95% of the equity of PRC Ironman, which incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
on January 8, 2008, and operates only in China. All of the assets of HK Ironman are located in China and all of HK
Ironman and PRC Ironman’s current officers and directors and their legal and accounting teams, are located outside the
U.S. Although China and the U.S. are signatories to the 1965 Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial
and Extra Judicial Documents in Civil and Commercial Matters, service under this treaty is cuambersome and time
consuming, and may result in inadequate notice, so that any judgment based on that service may be reopened,
re-litigated and overturned. It is therefore unlikely that service of process upon HK Ironman, PRC Ironman, their
officers and directors, assets and experts will be obtainable within the U.S., and it may be difficult to enforce outside
the U.S. as a judgment obtained in the U.S. in an action against one or more of them.

These difficulties stem from the lack of official judicial arrangements between the U.S. and China, which means that
judgments of competent courts of U.S. may not be enforced in China without review and re-litigation of the merits of
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their claims. There is doubt as to the enforceability in China of actions to enforce judgments of U.S. courts arising out
of or based on ownership of the securities of HK Ironman, including judgments arising out of or based on civil
liability provisions of U.S. federal or state securities laws. There is also doubt whether the Chinese courts would
enforce, in original actions, judgments against HK Ironman or PRC Ironman or the persons mentioned above
predicated solely based upon U.S. securities laws. Therefore, original actions may be brought in Hong Kong or PRC,
as the case may be, against these parties only if the actions or disputes are not arbitrable under the Chinese law and
only if the facts alleged in the complaint give rise to a cause of action under Chinese law, in which event, a Chinese
court may award liquidated damages.

Fees and Expenses

All costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement will be paid by the party incurring
such expense.
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

The following questions and answers are intended to briefly address some commonly asked questions about the four
proposals contemplated in the proxy statement, the Special Meeting of the stockholders of IGC and the effect of the
proposals on the holders of common stock of IGC. These questions and answers may not include all of the
information that is important to you as an IGC stockholder. Please refer to the “Summary Term Sheet” and the more
detailed information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement, the annexes to this proxy statement and the
documents to which we refer. We urge you to read carefully this entire document, including the annexes and the other
documents to which we have referred you.

Q. What is being voted on?

A: You are being asked to consider four proposals: (i) to approve the Share Issuance Proposal as contemplated by the
Stock Purchase Agreement that provides for the Acquisition of HK Ironman by IGC. Once the Stock Purchase
Agreement has been adopted by our stockholders and other closing conditions under the Stock Purchase Agreement
have been satisfied or waived, HK Ironman will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of IGC and PRC Ironman will
become a 95% indirect-owned subsidiary of IGC through HK Ironman; (ii) to approve the Election Proposal to elect
Danny Qing Chang to IGC’s Board of Directors to hold office as Class A director till the 2014, conditioned upon the
approval of the Share Issuance Proposal only; (iii) to approve the Compensation Proposal issuance of 3,150,000
shares of IGC common stock to the officers and directors of IGC and HK Ironman subject to 12-month vesting
requiring their continued service for 12 months following the closing of the Acquisition; and (iv) to vote for the
Adjournment Proposal to adjourn the Special Meeting to a later date if necessary or appropriate to solicit additional
proxies in favor of the proposals herein if there are insufficient votes to approve the Share Issuance Proposal at the
time of the Special Meeting.

Q: Why am I receiving this proxy statement?

A. IGC’s common stock is listed on the NYSE Amex. NYSE Amex rules require a listed company to obtain the
approval of its stockholders for certain types of securities issuances, including private placements that may result in
the issuance of common shares (or securities convertible into common shares) equal to 20% or more of presently
outstanding shares.

Q: Why is IGC proposing the Acquisition of HK Ironman as contemplated in the Share Issuance Proposal?

A: IGC currently competes in the materials and infrastructure industry in India. Part of its business is to export iron
ore from India to China. This Acquisition will provide IGC with management, facilities and specifically beneficiation
facilities, licenses and environmental clearances to ship low-grade iron ore from India to China and process it into
high-grade iron ore that can be sold in China at higher margins. We believe that this Acquisition will provide IGC
stockholders with an opportunity to participate in a company with significant growth potential, in two growing
economies. See “Proposal 1: The Share Issuance Proposal.”

Q: Can the Acquisition of HK Ironman be completed without the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal?

A: No. The Acquisition of HK Ironman is conditioned on the closing of the Acquisition, which contemplates the
issuance of the Exchange Shares among other consideration. The Acquisition cannot close without approval by the
IGC stockholders of the Share Issuance Proposal. Similarly, the Stock Purchase Agreement is conditioned on all of
the conditions to the Acquisition being satisfied other than the approval of Share Issuance Proposal. As a result, your
vote on the Share Issuance Proposal is effectively a vote on the Acquisition of HK Ironman and the transactions
contemplated within the Stock Purchase Agreement. The Acquisition will not happen unless the Share Issuance
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Proposal is approved by the stockholders of IGC and all of the other conditions to the closing of the Acquisition are
satisfied. See “Proposal 1: The Share Issuance Proposal.”
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Q: When and where is the Special Meeting?

A: The Special Meeting of stockholders of IGC will be held on , 201_ at the law firm of Shulman, Rogers,
Gandal, Pordy & Ecker, P.A., located at 12505 Park Potomac Avenue, 6th Floor, Potomac, Maryland 20854 at 10:00
a.m., Eastern Time. See “The Special Meeting.”

Q: Who is entitled to vote at the Special Meeting?

A: Only stockholders of IGC, as of the close of business on October 18, 2011, the record date for the Special Meeting,
are entitled to receive notice of the Special Meeting and to vote the shares of IGC common stock that they held at that
time at the Special Meeting, or at any adjournment or postponement of the Special Meeting.

Q: Who is entitled to attend the Special Meeting?

A: Please note that space limitations make it necessary to limit attendance at the Special Meeting to stockholders as of
the record date (or their authorized representatives). If your shares are held by a bank or broker, please bring to the
Special Meeting your statement evidencing your beneficial ownership of common stock. All stockholders should also
bring photo identification.

Q. What vote is required in order to approve the Share Issuance Proposal?

A: The approval of the Share Issuance Proposal will require the affirmative vote of a majority of all of the outstanding
shares of our common stock, issued and outstanding, that are entitled to vote at the meeting. See “Proposal 1: The
Share Issuance Proposal.”

Q. What vote is required in order to approve the Election Proposal?

A: The approval of the Election Proposal will require the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of
our common stock that are present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting. See “Proposal 2: The
Election Proposal.”

Q. What vote is required in order to approve the Compensation Proposal?

A: The approval of the issuance of the Compensation Shares to the officers and directors of HK Ironman and IGC
requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock that are present in person or
by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting. See “Proposal 3: The Compensation Proposal.”

Q. What vote is required in order to approve the Adjournment Proposal?

A: The approval of the Adjournment Proposal will require the affirmative vote of a majority of all votes cast at a
meeting where a quorum is present. See “Proposal 4: The Adjournment Proposal.”

Q. How will the stockholders of IGC be affected by the Acquisition?

A: Holders of our securities will continue to hold the securities of IGC that they currently own, and will not receive
any of the stock or cash paid in connection with the Share Issuance Proposal.

11
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Q. How are we paying for the Acquisition?

A: This strategic Acquisition is being made with shares of common stock of IGC and an amount of $1 million to be
paid to HK Ironman stockholders within 30 days of closing of the Stock Purchase Agreement and on satisfaction of
the post-closing conditions. In addition, the consideration under the Stock Purchase Agreement includes certain
contingent payments by IGC to PRC Ironman stockholders, as follows (i) $1.5 million in cash or stock, which is
contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of at least 30% from the previous year’s closing audit (i.e., March 31,
2011); and (ii) $1.5 million in cash or stock, which is contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of at least 30%
from the previous year’s closing audit (i.e., March 31, 2012). If either of the foregoing annual targets are missed, there
would still be a payout of $3 million provided IGC achieves a cumulative earnings growth of 69% between fiscal
years 2011 and 2013. In addition, under the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC has agreed to file a registration
statement to register the Exchange Shares for resale within 60 days of the closing of the Acquisition. We may be
required to raise additional funds to make this post-closing payment and/or some or all of the contingent payments
that may be due in the future. While we have been successful in raising funds in the past, there can be no assurance
we can continue to do so in the future. In the event that IGC is unable to raise the required funds, we may be in breach
of the Stock Purchase Agreement, which could lead to legal costs and a reduction in our stock price.

Q: Are there other risks associated with the Stock Purchase Agreement that I should consider when deciding how or
whether to vote?

A: Yes. In evaluating the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC stockholders should carefully consider the factors
discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page __of this document.

Q. Do I have dissenter or appraisal rights in connection with the proposals?

A: No dissenter or appraisal rights are available under the Maryland General Corporation Law for our stockholders in
connection with the Share Issuance Proposal.

Q. Who will manage the company upon completion of the Acquisition?

A: The Stock Purchase Agreement provides that IGC’s Board of Directors will continue to comprise five seats subject
to the staggered terms of the Class A, Class B and Class C directors. IGC stockholders will nominate three directors
and Mr. Chang will nominate two directors. Pursuant to Proposal 2 of this proxy statement, as discussed below, Mr.
Chang’s election to the Board of Directors would satisfy one of the two seats and Mr. Chang would nominate a
candidate to fill a Class B seat at the 2013 annual meeting. Mr. Chang has agreed to vote his shares in favor of the
IGC nominated directors for a period of three years, as those seats come up for election under the three-year staggered
regime. Accordingly, Ram Mukunda will continue to serve as our chief executive officer, president and a member of
our Board of Directors; Messrs. Ranga Krishna, Richard Prins and Sudhakar Shenoy will also continue to serve on our
Board of Directors. See “Proposal 1: The Share Issuance Proposal — The Stock Purchase Agreement.”

Q. What happens if the Acquisition is not consummated?

A: The Stock Purchase Agreement contains a number of conditions to the obligations of the parties to close the
Acquisition. In addition, the Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated under a number of circumstances. If the
Acquisition is not closed for any reason, IGC may be subject to a number of material risks include that the market
price of IGC common stock may decline to the extent that the current market price IGC common stock reflects a
market assumption that the Acquisition will be completed and the fees, costs and expenses incurred by IGC in
connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement, such as legal, accounting and financial advisor fees, costs and
expenses, which are estimated to total approximately $500,000, must be paid even if the Acquisition is not closed. If
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the Stock Purchase Agreement is terminated and IGC is required to pay the foregoing fees and expenses, it could have
a material adverse effect on IGC's business, financial condition and results of operations, which could ultimately
affect the market price of IGC common stock.

Q. When do you expect the Acquisition to be completed?

A: It is currently anticipated that the Acquisition will be completed promptly following our Special Meeting of
stockholders on ,2011.

Q. If I am not going to attend the Special Meeting of stockholders in person, should I return my proxy card instead?
A: Yes. After carefully reading and considering the information contained in this proxy statement, please complete

and sign your proxy card. Then return the enclosed proxy card in the return envelope provided herewith as soon as
possible, so that your shares may be represented at our Special Meeting.

12
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Q. What is our Board of Directors’ recommendation with respect to the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election Proposal,
the Compensation Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal to be considered at the Special Meeting?

A: Our Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election
Proposal, the Compensation Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal.

Q. What will happen if I abstain from voting or fail to vote for the Proposals?

A: An abstention will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election Proposal,
the Compensation Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal. A failure to vote will have no effect on the outcome of the
Election Proposal, the Compensation Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal.

Q. What do I do if I want to change my vote?

A: If you wish to change your vote, please send a later-dated, signed proxy card prior to the date of the Special
Meeting or attend the Special Meeting and vote in person. You may revoke your proxy by sending a notice of
revocation to IGC, at the address of our corporate headquarters, prior to the Special Meeting.

Q. If my shares are held in “street name” by my broker, will my broker vote my shares for me?

A: No. Your broker cannot vote your shares unless you provide instructions on how to vote in accordance with the
information and procedures provided to you by your broker. Broker non-votes, while considered present for the
purposes of establishing a quorum, will have no effect on the proposals.

Q. Do I need to turn in my certificates?
A: No. You do not need to turn in your certificates because you will continue to own your IGC shares.
Q. Will IGC’s securities still be traded on the NYSE Amex after the Acquisition is completed?

A: The officers of IGC currently believe that IGC will continue to trade on the NYSE Amex stock exchange (“NYSE
Amex”). However, NYSE Amex has notified IGC that if the Acquisition is deemed a “reverse merger,” then IGC will be
required to re-qualify for listing of its securities. IGC believes the Acquisition is not a reverse merger and is

advocating against a reverse merger classification by NYSE Amex. However, a final decision by the NYSE Amex is
outside of IGC’s control. If re-qualifying for listing is required, then IGC is not likely to qualify because one of the
conditions of the initial listing standards of the NYSE Amex requires that the trading price of IGC’s common stock be
maintained at or above the minimum price requirement of $2.00 per share for a sustained period of time, generally

five trading days, subject to lengthening or shortening by the NYSE Amex depending on how consistently the stock
trades above $2.00 during that period, and that the Company maintain a market capitalization of $50 million and a
public float of $15 million. IGC intends to satisfy those conditions that are within its control. However, there are no
assurances that any conditions outside the control of IGC will be satisfied. If the Acquisition is deemed a reverse
merger by NYSE Amex and IGC cannot satisfy the conditions for listing, IGC’s common stock will not be listed for
trading on the NYSE Amex. In such event, IGC would trade its common stock on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin

Board (the “OTCBB”) until all of the conditions to trading on the NYSE Amex have been satisfied and the shares begin
officially trading on the NYSE Amex.

Q: What do I need to do now?
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A: We urge you to carefully read this proxy statement, including its annexes. Even if you plan to attend the Special
Meeting, if you hold your shares in your own name as the stockholder of record, please vote your shares by
completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card; using the telephone number printed on your proxy
card; or using the Internet voting instructions printed on your proxy card. If you have Internet access, we encourage
you to vote via the Internet. You can also attend the Special Meeting and vote in person. If you hold your shares in
“street name,” follow the procedures provided by your broker, bank or other nominee.

13
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Q: How do I vote?
A: You may vote by:

* using the telephone number printed on your proxy card;

* signing and dating each proxy card you receive and returning it in the enclosed prepaid envelope;

» attending the Special Meeting and voting in person; or

* if you hold your shares in “street name,” follow the procedures provided by your broker, bank or other nominee.

If you return your signed and dated proxy card, but do not mark the boxes showing how you wish to vote, your shares

will be voted “FOR” the Share Issuance Proposal, “FOR” the Adjournment Proposal, “FOR” the Election Proposal, and “FOR’
the Compensation Proposal. If you do not return your signed and dated proxy card, your shares will not be voted and

the effect will be the same as a vote against the adoption of the Stock Purchase Agreement, but will not affect the

other proposals at the Special Meeting, so long as a quorum is otherwise present.

Q: If my broker, bank or other nominee holds my shares in “street name,” will my broker, bank or other nominee vote
my shares for me?

A: Your broker, bank or other nominee will only be permitted to vote your shares if you instruct your broker, bank or
other nominee how to vote. You should follow the procedures provided by your broker, bank or other nominee
regarding the voting of your shares. If you do not instruct your broker, bank or other nominee to vote your shares,
your shares will not be voted and the effect will be the same as a vote against the adoption of the Stock Purchase
Agreement, but will not have an effect on the proposal to adjourn the Special Meeting and the non-binding proposal
regarding certain merger-related compensation arrangements.

Q. Who can help answer my questions?
A: If you have questions about the Acquisition, you may write, fax, email or call:

India Globalization Capital, Inc.

4336 Montgomery Avenue

Bethesda, MD 20814

Telephone: (301) 983-0998

Fax: (240) 465-0273

Attn: John Selvaraj, John.selvaraj@indiaglobalcap.com or
Attn: Claudia Grimaldi, Claudia.grimaldi @indiaglobalcap.com
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RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information included or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus,

including the matters addressed in the section entitled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”
below, you should carefully consider the matters described below in deciding whether to vote for the matters to be
considered at the IGC Special Meeting. If any of the risks described below are realized, the business, properties,
operations, results, financial condition, prospects, assets or stock price of the combined company could be materially
adversely affected. In addition, the risks described below may not constitute all of the information that is important to
you in evaluating the matters to be considered at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, you are urged to read this entire
proxy statement, including the appendices. Further, additional risk factors are available for your review and
consideration under the caption, “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of IGC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2011 and any amendments thereto for IGC, filed with the SEC on July 14, 2011.

For purposes of this “Risk Factors” section, we refer from time-to-time, to HK Ironman and its subsidiary PRC Ironman,
collectively, as “Ironman.”

Risks Related to the Acquisition of [ronman.

If the Acquisition is deemed a reverse merger, NYSE Amex may require IGC to requalify for listing, which may cause
the delisting of our securities, which could limit investors’ ability to trade in our securities.

On July 22, 2011, the NYSE Amex LLC filed a proposed rule change to adopt additional listing requirements for a
company that has become public through a reverse merger. In the case of a listed company who participates in a
reverse merger, that listed company must re-qualify for listing after the transaction. IGC’s Board of Directors believes
this Acquisition is an acquisition by IGC of HK Ironman and not a reverse merger or an acquisition of IGC by HK
Ironman. IGC intends to oppose a classification by NYSE Amex that the Acquisition is a reverse merger

vigorously. However, if IGC is not successful in this argument and if the combined company does not meet the
NYSE Amex listing requirement, largely because of IGC’s stock price, then our securities may become subject to
delisting. If our securities were delisted from NYSE Amex, the trading market for our securities would likely be
adversely affected even if IGC listed with OTCBB until we could re-qualify for listing with NYSE Amex.

PRC Ironman has a significant underpayment of taxes.

PRC Ironman is currently delinquent in its regulatory compliance in the PRC due to its unpaid taxes for previous years
stemming from underreported income. The taxes shown in the financial statements of PRC Ironman reflect what has
been calculated as per U.S. GAAP rules, which for the financial year ended March 31, 2011, out of a total current
liability of $7,300,917 was is a total of $6,763,485 in taxes payable. As of September 30, 2011 PRC Ironman has
access to $7,667,364 in cash and $3,816,977 in receivables. In addition, PRC Ironman is due up to $4 million in
contingent payments from IGC if this Acquisition closes with which it could pay its tax deficiencies if

needed. Therefore, PRC Ironman has resources from which to pay these amounts in the event a favorable agreement
is not reached with the Tax authorities. IGC believes that PRC Ironman will be successful in negotiating a settlement
or a concession based on oral representations made by the authorities though the resolution of this deficiency is not
free from doubt. The authorities have offered concessions as part of an incentive to attract investment into a
geographic area in China that needs trade, commerce, jobs and a sustainable environment. All taxes and penalties due
prior to the Acquisition are the responsibility of PRC Ironman and its stockholders before the closing of the
Acquisition. An unfavorable outcome could significantly reduce PRC Ironman’s cash reserves and even cause it to
pay any shortfall from its current year income.
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IGC may experience difficulty transferring money from China to the U.S.

Chinese currency is not freely convertible into other currencies in part because of its undervalued status. Therefore,
profits made in China may have to be reinvested in China. While well reported in the news that China is seeking to
make its currency convertible by 2015, there is no certainty that this problem will be corrected in the short-term. IGC
has engaged legal counsel in China to advise on paths to move money between China and the US or India, which
include the sale of PRC Ironman stock back to HK Ironman without dilution, a dividend payment or transfer pricing
that involves USA overhead expenses paid out of the Chinese company.

We will be issuing securities, which would dilute your equity interest in us.

In this Acquisition, we will issue 31,500,000 shares of our common stock, as the Exchange Shares, as consideration
and an additional 3,150,000 shares of our common stock, as the Compensation Shares. This issuance will cause a
change of control and an immediate and significant dilution of your equity position in IGC. Following the issuance of
the Exchange Shares, at closing of the Stock Purchase Agreement, holders of 100% of IGC’s common stock prior to
the Acquisition will then own approximately 40% of IGC’s outstanding common stock after the Acquisition. Our
stockholders will be further diluted following the issuance of the Compensation Shares to the officers and directors of
IGC and HK Ironman following twelve months of service after the closing of the Acquisition.
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Through HK Ironman, Mr. Danny Chang will become IGC’s largest stockholder and the interests of Mr. Chang and
IGC may conflict with the interests of other of IGC’s stockholders.

As a result of the issuance of the Exchange Shares, Mr. Danny Chang will become IGC’s largest stockholder and he
will have the ability to influence the nominations of our board of directors, after the three-year period following the
closing of the Acquisition, as well as hold a majority voting powers to determine the outcome of certain matters
submitted to our stockholders, such as the approval of significant transactions.

Iron Ore Exports from India may be reduced by one-third in 2012 and beyond.

Iron ore exports from India, usually the world's third biggest supplier of the ingredient for steel, could fall a third into
2012. India's iron ore exports were already down 25 percent in April to October 2011 because of stalled shipments
arising from a legal dispute in Karnataka, India and because of high transport costs. Karnataka, India normally
accounts for a quarter of India’s exports. Most of India's iron ore exports go to China, which has the world's largest
steel industry. India exported about half of China’s annual production until Karnataka introduced a ban on shipments in
July 2010. IGC is aware of the export issues in Karnataka, India, which could cause (a) logistics pricing, (b) export
bans similar to the Karnataka ban on exports elsewhere in India, and (c) increased in the export duty. If one or more

of these risks materialize, IGC’s revenues could be adversely affected. IGC believes that low grade ore remains readily
available in other parts of India including both Orissa and Goa in India. Further, IGC’s established presence in China
and India will facilitate its ability to export ore from India.

The failure to integrate Ironman’s business and operations successfully in the expected timeframe may adversely affect
the combined company’s future results.

IGC believes that the Acquisition will result in certain benefits, synergies and operational efficiencies. However, to
realize these anticipated benefits, the businesses of IGC and Ironman must be successfully combined. The success of
the Acquisition will depend on the combined company’s ability to realize these anticipated benefits from combining
the businesses of IGC and Ironman. The combined company may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the
Acquisition for a variety of reasons, including:

» failure to successfully manage relationships with customers, distributors and suppliers;

* revenue attrition in excess of anticipated levels;

» failure to leverage the increased scale of the combined company quickly and effectively;

» potential difficulties integrating and harmonizing financial reporting systems;

* the loss of key employees;

» failure to effectively coordinate sales and marketing efforts to communicate the capabilities of
the combined company; and

» failure to combine product and services offerings quickly and effectively.

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to satisfaction of a number of conditions for which the timing cannot be
predicted. The actual integration may result in additional and unforeseen expenses or delays. If the combined
company is not able to successfully integrate [ronman’s business and operations, or if there are delays in combining the
businesses, the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize
than expected.
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The integration of IGC and Ironman may result in significant accounting charges that adversely affect the announced
results of the combined company.

The financial results of the combined company may be adversely affected by cash expenses and non-cash accounting
charges incurred in connection with the combination. These expenses have been preliminarily estimated to be
approximately $500,000, which includes legal, accounting, due diligence and filing fee to date. In addition, under the
Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC has agreed to file a registration statement to register the Exchange Shares for resale
within 60 days of the closing of the Acquisition, which will cause IGC to incur additional legal fees. IGC and

Ironman have not yet prepared pro forma financial statements that reflect the effects of the Acquisition and,
accordingly, the amount and timing of these possible charges are not yet known. The price of the combined company’s
common stock could decline to the extent the combined company’s financial results are materially affected by the
foregoing charges or if the foregoing charges are larger than anticipated.
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The announcement and pendency of the Acquisition could cause disruptions in the businesses of IGC and Ironman,
which could have an adverse effect on their respective business and financial results, and consequently on the
combined company.

IGC and Ironman have operated and, until the completion of the Acquisition, will continue to operate

independently. Uncertainty about the effect of the Acquisition on customers, distributors and suppliers may have an
adverse effect on IGC and Ironman and consequently on the combined company. These uncertainties may impair
IGC’s and Ironman’s ability to retain and motivate key personnel and could cause customers, distributors, suppliers and
others with whom each company deals to seek to change existing business relationships which may materially and
adversely affect their respective businesses. Due to the materiality standards agreed to in the Stock Purchase
Agreement, IGC and Ironman may be obligated to consummate the Acquisition in spite of the adverse effects

resulting from the disruption of IGC’s and Ironman’s ongoing businesses. Furthermore, this disruption could adversely
affect the combined company’s ability to maintain relationships with customers, distributors, suppliers and employees
after the Acquisition or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition. Moreover, integration efforts between
the two companies will also divert management attention and resources. These integration matters could have an
adverse effect on each of IGC and Ironman. Each of these events could adversely affect Ironman in the near term and
the combined company, if the Acquisition is completed.

Failure to complete the Acquisition could negatively affect the stock prices and the future business and financial
results of IGC.

If the Acquisition is not completed, the ongoing business of IGC may be adversely affected and IGC will be subject to
a number of risks, including the following:

* IGC will be required to pay certain costs relating to the Acquisition, such as legal, accounting,
financial advisor and printing fees whether or not the Acquisition is completed; and

* matters relating to the Acquisition (including integration planning) may have required
substantial commitments of time and resources by IGC management, which could otherwise
have been devoted to other opportunities that may have been beneficial to IGC,

in each case, without realizing any of the benefits of having completed the Acquisition. If the Acquisition is not
completed, these risks may materialize and may adversely affect IGC’s business, financial results and stock price.

Because the market price of IGC common stock will fluctuate, the value of the IGC common shares that will be issued
in the Acquisition will not be known until the closing of the Acquisition.

The value of the IGC common shares to be issued in the Acquisition could be considerably higher or lower than they
were at the time the Acquisition consideration was negotiated. Neither IGC nor Ironman is permitted to terminate the
Stock Purchase Agreement or resolicit the vote of Ironman stockholders solely because of changes in the market
prices of either company’s stock. Stock price changes may result from a variety of factors, including changes in the
respective businesses operations and prospects of IGC and Ironman, changes in general market and economic
conditions, and regulatory considerations. Many of these factors are beyond the control of IGC or I[ronman.

Because the number of IGC common shares to be issued in the Acquisition has been fixed, the value of the
Acquisition consideration will depend upon the market price of IGC common shares. This market price may vary
from the closing price of IGC common shares on the date the Acquisition was announced, on the date that the proxy
statement is mailed to IGC stockholders and on the date of the IGC stockholder meeting at which stockholders will be
asked to vote on certain matters relating to the Acquisition. Accordingly, at the time of the stockholder meetings,
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stockholders will not know or be able to calculate the value of the Acquisition consideration that would be issued
upon completion of the Acquisition.

IGC’s management lack’s experience in the iron ore industry.

IGC’s current officers and directors do not have experience operating a business in China and lack direct experience in
the iron ore industry. IGC believes that the officers and directors of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman will remain with
the companies at least one year following the closing of the Acquisition to facilitate the transition, though there is no
guaranty of this result. The success of the Acquisition of HK Ironman will depend in part on the ability of the
combined company following the completion of the Acquisition to realize the anticipated benefits, including annual
net operating synergies. Following the Acquisition, the size of the combined company’s business will be significantly
larger than the current business of IGC. The combined company’s future success depends, in part, upon its ability to
manage this expanded business, which will pose challenges for the combined company’s management, including
challenges related to the management and monitoring of new operations and associated increased costs and
complexity. IGC cannot assure you that the combined company will be successful or that the combined company will
realize the expected operating efficiencies, annual net operating synergies, revenue enhancements and other benefits
currently anticipated resulting from the Acquisition. The failure to manage successfully the challenges presented after
an Acquisition may result in the combined company’s failure to achieve some of all of the anticipated benefits of the
Acquisition. Consequently, our operations, earnings and ultimate financial success may suffer harm as a result.
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Any Acquisitions made by us may disrupt our operations or adversely affect our business.

In addition to the Acquisition, as a part of our long-term strategy, we plan to acquire additional mining

operations. This Acquisition, along with any future acquisitions, will require us to employ additional personnel and
we may have difficulty integrating such new personnel or may experience difficulty in integrating the operations of
the mining companies we acquire with that of our own. We cannot predict the effect that any intended expansion may
have on our business. Further, any future acquisition may disrupt our ongoing business, divert the attention of our
management and employees or may result in an increase in our operating expenses. In addition, a number of inherent
risks, including, without limitation, accompanies acquisitions:

delays and waiting periods associated with required safety inspections, as well as government licensing or
permitting procedures;
e the difficulty of incorporating acquired resources, facilities, operations or products into the existing business;
difficulties in disposing of the excess or idle facilities of an acquired company or business and expenses in
maintaining such facilities;

e difficulties in maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies;
the potential impairment of relationships with employees and customers as a result of any integration of new
management personnel; and
potential unknown liabilities associated with acquired businesses and the associated operations, or the need to spend
significant amounts to retool, reposition or modify the existing operations.

No assurance can be given that any of the above risks will be sufficiently addressed or that such will not have a
negative effect on our business operations.

Ironman has limited business insurance coverage.

Insurance companies in China currently do not offer as extensive array of insurance products as insurance companies
do in the U.S. We do not have any business liability or disruption insurance to cover our operations. Any uninsured

occurrence of business disruption may result in our incurring substantial costs, which could have an adverse effect on
our results of operations and financial condition.

If the Acquisition’s benefits do not meet the expectations of financial or industry analysts, the market price of our
common stock may decline.

The market price of our common stock may decline as a result of the Acquisition if we do not achieve the perceived
benefits of the Acquisition as rapidly as, or to the extent anticipated by, financial or industry analysts or the effect of
the Acquisition on our financial statements is not consistent with the expectations of financial or industry

analysts. Accordingly, investors may experience a loss because of a decreasing stock price.

We may not be able to effectively control and manage our growth.

As part of our current business strategy, we intend to acquire other local mining operations. As our business grows, it
will be necessary for us to finance and manage expansion in an orderly fashion. We may face challenges in
identifying attractive mining sites and/or additional mining rights and/or complementary mining businesses. Such
eventualities will increase demands on our existing management, workforce and facilities. Failure to satisfy such
increased demands could interrupt or adversely affect our operations and cause administrative inefficiencies that may
have a negative impact on our financial operations.

Our ability to operate effectively could be impaired if we lose key personnel or if we fail to attract qualified personnel.
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Following the closing of the Acquisition, we will manage our business through a number of key personnel, including
Mr. Danny Chang, [ronman’s managing director, Mr. Jianqun Dou, its deputy chairman and Mr. Wei Dong Qu, its
general manager and chief operating officer. The loss of any of these key officers could have a material adverse effect
on our operations. In addition, as business develops and expands, we believe that our future success will depend
greatly on our continued ability to attract and retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. No assurance can be given
that key personnel will continue to be employed by us or that we will be able to attract and retain qualified personnel
in the future. Accordingly, if we are not able to retain these officers and/or personnel, or effectively fill vacancies
created by departing key persons, our business may be impaired. The lack of key man insurance on any of these
important personnel will also have an adverse effect on our financial conditions in case of the death of any of these
important key personnel.
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Material weaknesses in our internal controls and financial reporting, and our lack of a CFO at Ironman with sufficient
U.S. GAAP experience may limit our ability to prevent or detect financial misstatements or omissions. As a result,
our financial reports may not comply with U.S. GAAP and the Accounting Standards Codification. Any material
weakness, misstatement or omission in our financial statements will negatively affect the market, and price of our
stock which could result in significant loss to our investors.

None of the members of Ironman has experience managing and operating a public company and they rely in many
instances on the professional experience and advice of third parties. While we are obligated to hire a qualified chief
financial officer to enable us to meet our ongoing reporting obligations, we do not have a CFO with any significant
U.S. GAAP experience for now with Ironman. Although we are actively seeking a new CFO, qualified individuals
are often difficult to find, or the individual may not have all of the qualifications that we require. Therefore, we may
experience “weakness” and potential problems in implementing and maintaining adequate internal controls as required
under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This “weakness” also includes a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal controls over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Management has identified a weakness relating to the Company not having sufficient experienced personnel
with the requisite technical skills and working knowledge of the application of U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are also subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Failure to comply or adequately comply with any laws, rules, or regulations applicable to
our business may result in fines or regulatory actions, which may materially adversely affect our business, results of
operation, or financial condition and could result in delays in achieving either the effectiveness of a registration
statement or the development of an active and liquid trading market for our common stock. To the extent that the
market place perceives that, we do not have a strong financial staff and financial controls, the market for and price of,
our stock may be impaired.

This may result in significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal controls, which could affect the
reliability of our financial statements and prevent us from complying with SEC rules and regulations and the
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Failure to comply or adequately comply with any laws, rules, or regulations
applicable to our business may result in fines or regulatory actions, which may materially adversely affect our
business, results of operation, or financial condition and could result in delays in achieving either the effectiveness of
a registration statement or the development of an active and liquid trading market for our common stock. To the
extent that the market place perceives that, we do not have a strong financial staff and financial controls, the market
for and price of, our stock may be impaired.

Risks Related to the Share Issuance Proposal and the Compensation Proposal .

If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue unfavorable
commentary or downgrade our common stock, then the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts
publish about our business and us. We do not control these analysts. The price of our stock could decline if one or
more equity analysts downgrade our stock or if those analysts issue other unfavorable commentary or cease publishing
reports about our business or us.

We incur costs as a result of operating as a public company. Our management is required to devote substantial time to

new compliance initiatives. Because we report in U.S. GAAP, we may experience delays in closing our books and
records in India, and delays in the preparation of financial statements and related disclosures.
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As part of a public company with substantial operations, we are experiencing an increase in legal, accounting and
other expenses. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and new rules implemented by the SEC
and the NYSE Amex have imposed various requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in
corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to
these compliance initiatives. We have completed the testing of internal controls in all our subsidiaries. We expect to
carry out the evaluations and install improved systems and processes as required. However, we cannot be certain as to
the timing or completion of the remediation actions, or their impact on our operations. Furthermore, it is difficult to
hire personnel in India who are familiar with U.S. GAAP. We have hired several competent consultants to help
review our internal reporting and disclosures, and to train our Indian staff in SEC reporting and U.S. GAAP. We do
not foresee a problem other than the time required to complete the training adequately and to implement the improved
processes.

Ironman has not operated as a US public company. Fulfilling our obligations incident to being a US public company
after completing the Share Issuance Proposal will be expensive and time consuming.

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the related rules and regulations of the SEC, we will need to implement additional
corporate governance practices and adhere to a variety of reporting requirements and complex accounting

rules. Compliance with these obligations will require increased management and could result in delays if we cannot
recruit individuals with the requisite experience and technical accounting knowledge in China.

Our directors may have certain conflicts in determining to recommend the Share Issuance Proposal, since certain of
their interests, and certain interests of their affiliates and associates, are different from, or in addition to, your interests
as a stockholder.

IGC’s management and directors have interests in and arising from the Share Issuance Proposal that are different from,
or in addition to, your interests as a stockholder, which could result in a real or perceived conflict of interest. These
interests include the fact that certain of the shares of common stock owned by our management and directors, or their
affiliates and associates, may increase in value if the Acquisition is approved. In addition, certain directors of the
board may receive additional shares of common stock, as an incentive to remain with the Company through the
integration period, if the Acquisition is consummated.
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Compliance with Foreign Corrupt Practices Act could adversely affect our competitive position. Failure to comply
could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which generally prohibits U.S. public companies from
engaging in bribery of or other prohibited payments to foreign officials to obtain or retain business. While we will
take precautions to educate the employees of our subsidiaries of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, there can be no
assurance that we or the employees or agents of our subsidiaries will not engage in such conduct, for which we might
be held responsible. We could suffer penalties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to our Corporate Structure.

The PRC government may determine that HK Ironman’s ownership of PRC Ironman or PRC Ironman’s structure is not
in compliance with applicable PRC laws, rules and regulations. If so, the relevant regulatory authorities would have
broad discretion with respect to actions that could be taken in dealing with such non-compliance. Any of these actions
could adversely affect our ability to manage, operate and gain the financial benefits of PRC Ironman, which would
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Following the closing of the Acquisition, IGC will conduct business in China through its subsidiary, PRC

Ironman. PRC Ironman is a Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture also called an equity joint venture (“EJV”’), which is a
corporation jointly invested and incorporated by foreign companies, other economic organizations or persons and
Chinese companies or other economic organizations. An EJV typically is established by joint contribution, joint
operation of all parties to the joint venture, and sharing of risk, profits and losses in proportion to their respective
contributions towards the registered capital.

In the opinion of Gaopeng & Partners, our PRC legal counsel, PRC Ironman’s business is a foreign investment that is
permitted in China. Chinese foreign investment policies classify various industries into four groups, which are
encouraged, permitted, restricted and prohibited for foreign investment. Mining and processing of ferruginous
sandstone and sale of refined iron powder is not in either the encouraged, restricted or prohibited groups explicitly
stipulated by the Catalogue of Industries Guiding Foreign Investment, so such business is foreign investment
permitted. HK Ironman entered into a share transfer agreement to purchase 95% shares of PRC Ironman from Mr.
Zhang Hua and Mr. XU Jianjun in January 2011. On April 28, 2011, the share purchase was approved by the
Department of Commerce of Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region. On the same day, HK Ironman was granted the
Certificate of Approval for Establishment of Enterprises with Investment of Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macao and
Overseas Chinese in the People’s Republic of China (Approval No. Shang Wai Zi Meng Wai Zi Shen 2011-

0023). Currently, before the closing of the Acquisition, 95% shares of PRC Ironman is held by HK Ironman and 5%
is held by Mr. Zhang Hua.

We have been advised by our PRC legal counsel that there are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of current and future PRC laws and regulations. If PRC Ironman were for any reason determined to be in
breach of any future PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have broad discretion in
dealing with such breach, including:

* imposing economic penalties;

» discontinuing or restricting the operations of PRC Ironman;

* imposing conditions or requirements with respect to HK Ironman or PRC Ironman with which
HK Ironman or PRC Ironman may not be able to comply;
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* requiring our company to restructure the relevant ownership structure or operations;

» taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could adversely affect our company’s
business; and

» revoking the business licenses and/or the licenses or certificates of PRC Ironman.

Any of these actions could adversely affect our ability to manage, operate and gain the financial benefits of PRC

Ironman, which would have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We rely on the approval certificates and business licenses held by HK Ironman and PRC Ironman. HK Ironman and
PRC Ironman’s failure to renew its licenses and certificates when their terms expire with substantially similar terms as
the ones it currently holds could result in our inability to operate our business.

We operate our business in China in reliance on approval certificates, business license and other requisite licenses
held by and HK Ironman and PRC Ironman. PRC Ironman has received a license, to operate the beneficiation plant
on a specific acreage of land in Inner Mongolia through August 2018. In addition, PRC has a business license, which
is currently being amended to reflect PRC Ironman’s new ownership by HK Ironman effective January 2011. There is
no assurance that HK Ironman will be able to renew its licenses and certificates when their terms expire with
substantially similar terms as the ones they currently hold. HK Ironman’s failure to renew its licenses and certificates
when their terms expire with substantially similar terms as the ones it currently holds could result in our inability to
operate our business.

Following the Acquisition, we will rely on dividends paid by HK Ironman for our cash needs and any limitation on the
ability of our HK Ironman to pay dividends to us could have a material adverse effect on our ability to pay dividends,
to service debt we may incur and to pay our operating expenses.

Following the Acquisition, we will rely on dividends paid by HK Ironman for our cash needs, including the funds
necessary to pay dividends and other cash distributions, if any, to our stockholders, to service any debt we may incur
and to pay our operating expenses. The payment of dividends by entities organized in China is subject to
limitations. Regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends only out of accumulated profits as
determined in accordance with accounting standards and regulations in China. If we determine to pay dividends on
any of our common stock in the future, as a holding company, we will be dependent on receipt of funds from HK
Ironman.

Pursuant to the new PRC enterprise income tax law effective on January 1, 2008 and its implementation rules, an
enterprise established outside of the PRC with “de facto management bodies” within the PRC is considered a PRC
resident enterprise and is subject to the enterprise income tax at the rate of 25% on its worldwide income. The
implementation rules to the EIT Law define the term “de facto management bodies” as “establishments that carry out
substantial and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel,
accounting, properties, etc. of an enterprise.” As to dividends payable to non-PRC investors that are “non-residence
enterprises” to the extent such dividends are derived from within the PRC, a maximum income tax rate of 20% may be
applicable thereto and the State Council has reduced such rate to 10%, in the absence of any applicable tax treaties
that may reduce such rate. Pursuant to the double taxation avoidance arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong
and subject to the approval of the local tax authorities, dividends paid by PRC Ironman to HK Ironman may be subject
to PRC withholding tax at the preferential rate of 5% as long as HK Ironman is demonstrated to be a Hong Kong
resident enterprise under the related regulations and directly holds 25% or more equity interest in PRC Ironman.

However, there can be no guarantee that this practice will continue as more guidance is provided by relevant
government authorities. As a result, we are unable to predict whether payments from HK Ironman to IGC will be
subject to withholding tax because it is unclear whether HK Ironman will be deemed to be a PRC resident enterprise
for Chinese tax purposes. If so, it will be subject to an enterprise income tax rate of 25% on all of its income,
including interest income on the proceeds from this offering on a worldwide basis. However, if is deemed to be a
non-resident enterprise, then it will be subject to a withholding tax at the rate of 10% on any dividends paid by PRC
Ironman, as its Chinese subsidiary to HK Ironman.

PRC Ironman is also required to set aside at least 10% of its after-tax profit based on PRC accounting standards each

year to its surplus reserves fund until the accumulative amount of such reserves reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this surplus reserves fund must be made before distribution of any dividend to
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stockholders. The surplus reserve fund is non-distributable other than during liquidation and can be used to fund
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be utilized for business expansion or converted into share capital by issuing
new shares to existing stockholders in proportion to their shareholding or by increasing the par value of the shares
currently held by them, provided that the remaining reserve balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

Dividends payable by us to our non-PRC stockholder, and gains on the sales of our common stock, may be subject to
withholding taxes under the enterprise income tax laws (“EIT Laws”), which may materially reduce the value of our
investment.

The EIT Law and its implementation rules provide that the PRC enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% will
generally be applicable to dividends derived from sources within China received by non-PRC resident enterprise
stockholders. Similarly, gains derived from the transfer of shares by such stockholders are also subject to the PRC
enterprise income tax if such gains are regarded as income derived from sources within China. It is unclear whether
the dividends we pay with respect to our common stock, or the gains our non-PRC stockholders may realize from the
transfer of our common stock, would be treated as PRC-sourced income and therefore be subject to the tax. If we are
required under the EIT Law to withhold PRC enterprise income tax on our dividends payable to our non-PRC
stockholders, or if non-PRC stockholders are required to pay PRC income tax on the transfer of their common stock,
the value of our investment may be materially reduced.

Risks associated with doing business in India and China.

Any downgrading of China’s or India’s debt rating by an international rating agency, or an increase in interest rates in
China or India, could adversely affect our ability to generate or use Letters of Credit .

The iron ore business relies heavily on Letters of Credit. Ironman is attempting to establish a record of execution that
can eventually lead to back-to-back Letters of Credit, which would greatly enhance our business and help us grow
rapidly. Back-to-back Letters of Credit are used primarily in international transactions, with the first Letter of Credit
serving as collateral for the second. Any adverse revisions to China’s or India’s credit ratings for domestic and
international debt by international rating agencies as well as an increase in interest rates or a tightening of credit may
adversely affect our ability to finance growth through back-to-back Letters of Credit, which could lead to a decrease in
our growth rate, adversely affecting our stock price.
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A change in government policy, a downturn in the global, Chinese or Indian economy or a natural disaster could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects.

IGC’s and Ironman’s business depends on the growth of infrastructure in Asia as well as other parts of the world and
not just in India and China. However, a global recession that causes a slowdown of infrastructure spending could
reduce the demand for steel and consequently iron ore adversely affecting our business, financial condition and results
of operations and future prospects.

Political, economic, social and other factors in China may adversely affect business.

Our results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be adversely affected by economic, political and
legal developments in China. Since the late 1970s, the Chinese government has been reforming its economic

system. These policies and measures may from time to time be modified or revised. While the Chinese economy has
experienced significant growth in the past 20 years, growth has been uneven across different regions and among
various economic sectors of China. Furthermore, while the Chinese government has implemented various measures to
encourage economic development and guide the allocation of resources, some of these measures may also have a
negative effect on us. For example, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by
government control over capital investments or changes in tax regulations that are applicable to Ironman. The
processing unit operated by [ronman is subject to central, provincial, local and municipal regulation and licensing in
China. Compliance with such regulations and licensing can be expected to be a time-consuming, expensive process
resulting in expenses which could adversely affect our margins.

Returns on investment in Chinese companies may be decreased by withholding and other taxes.

Our investment in China may incur tax risk unique to investment in China, India and in developing economies in
general. Income that might otherwise not be subject to withholding of local income tax under normal international
conventions may be subject to withholding of Chinese income tax. Additionally, proof of payment of withholding
taxes may be required as part of the remittance procedure. Any withholding taxes paid by us on income from our
investments in China may or may not be creditable on our income tax returns. We intend to avail ourselves of transfer
pricing rules and minimize any Chinese withholding tax or local taxes. However, there is no assurance that the
Chinese tax authorities will always recognize such rules in its applications.

Our industry depends on the stability of policies and the political situation in India and China and a change in policy
could adversely affect our business.

The role of the Indian central and state governments in the Indian economy on producers, consumers and regulators
has remained significant over the years. Since 1991, the Government of India has pursued policies of economic
liberalization, including significantly relaxing restrictions on the private sector. We cannot assure you that these
liberalization policies will continue under the present or under newly elected governments. Protests against
privatization could slow down the pace of liberalization and deregulation. The rate of economic liberalization could
change, and specific laws and policies affecting companies in the infrastructure sector in India, foreign investment,
currency exchange rates and other matters affecting our business could change as well. A significant change in India’s
economic liberalization and deregulation policies could disrupt business and economic conditions in India and thereby
affect our business. Similarly, the Chinese have been reforming their economic system since the 1970s. An adverse
change in the overall economic growth in China or adverse changes to import laws or even an attempt by the
government to curtail steel production in China may lead to an adverse impact on our business.

Restrictions on the RMB may limit our ability to move funds out of China.
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The Chinese currency, the Renminbi (RMB), like the India Rupee is not a freely convertible currency, which could
limit our ability to move money out of China freely. We would rely on the Chinese government’s foreign currency
conversion policies, which may change from time to time. In China, the government has control over Renminbi
reserves through, among other things, direct regulation of the conversion of Renminbi into other foreign currencies
and restrictions on certain types of foreign imports. A change in the currency regulations, which lead to further
restrictions, could negatively affect our ability to finance growth, or pay dividends, outside of China using the profits
from China.

U.S.-listed companies with business operations in China have recently come under increased scrutiny, criticism and
negative publicity.

Since 2010, a number of U.S. publicly-listed companies with substantial operations in China have been the subject of
intense scrutiny, criticism and negative publicity by investors, financial commentators and regulatory agencies, such
as the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC*) and the Justice department resulting in a loss of share
value. Much of the scrutiny and negative publicity has centered around accounting weaknesses, inadequate corporate
governance and, in some cases, allegations of fraud. As a result of such scrutiny and negative publicity, the stock
prices of most U.S. publicly listed companies with operations in China have sharply decreased in recent months.
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Because the Chinese judiciary will determine the scope and enforcement under Chinese agreements, we may be
unable to enforce our rights inside and outside of China.

HK Ironman operates under the laws of Hong Kong and PRC Ironman, its subsidiary, operates under the laws of
PRC. Substantially all of the assets of Ironman are located in China and the majority of its officers and directors and
the experts named in this proxy statement/prospectus are outside the U.S. It is therefore unlikely that service of
process on either HK Ironman or PRC Ironman or their officers and directors can be obtained within the U.S. Further,
it may be difficult to enforce in China a judgment obtained in the U.S. These difficulties stem from the lack of official
judicial arrangements between the U.S. and China, which means that judgments of U.S. courts will not be necessarily
be enforced in China without review and re-litigation of the merits of their claims.

There is doubt as to the enforceability in China of actions to enforce judgments of U.S. courts arising out of or based
on ownership of the securities of HK Ironman or PRC Ironman, including judgments arising out of or based on civil
liability provisions of U.S. federal or state securities laws. There is also doubt whether the Chinese courts would
enforce, in original actions, judgments against HK Ironman or PRC Ironman or the persons mentioned above
predicated solely based upon U.S. securities laws. Original actions may be brought in China or Hong Kong against
these parties only if the actions are not required to be arbitrated by Chinese law and only if the facts alleged in the
complaint give rise to a cause of action under Chinese law, in which event, a Chinese court may award monetary
damages.

Risks associated with our industry and specifically the iron ore business.
We are subject to numerous risks and hazards associated with the mining industry.
Our mining operations are subject to a number of risks and hazards including:

e industrial accidents;
¢ unusual or unexpected geologic formations;
e explosive rock failures; and
¢ flooding and periodic interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions.

Such risks could result in a variety of issues that could affect our operations, such as damage to or destruction of
mineral properties or production facilities, environmental damage, delays in our mining operations, personal injury or
death, monetary losses and possible legal liability. No assurance can be given that we will be able to avoid any or all
of the hazards discussed above and any such occurrence may substantially affect our business and financial
operations.

Our operations are highly susceptible to hazardous weather conditions and seasonal weather conditions.

Both India, specifically the east and west coasts, where our supply chains are located, and northeastern China, where
Ironman’s processing chain is located potentially experience severe weather conditions. Severe weather conditions
could cause our supply chain and/or processing chain to temporarily curtail or stop operations materially affecting our
quarterly results. During periods of curtailed activity due to adverse weather conditions, our operations in both
countries may continue to incur operating expenses, reducing profitability. Certain weather conditions may affect
mining operations. The Ironman beneficiation plant is located in a region with a typical subtropical climate
characterized mainly by high precipitation and high evaporation and humid conditions. The rainy season occurs from
May to August of each year, which may make the plant inaccessible or unusable during such rainy season due to
flooding caused by insufficient drainage necessary to release the excess water that has accumulated. During the last
rainy season there was a particularly rainy season marked by much flooding in China. As such, mining operation may
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be interrupted due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions experienced during such rainy season.
We may not be able to obtain necessary raw materials at competitive prices.

On the supply side, including procuring sufficient raw materials, we may have difficulties procuring low-grade iron
ore at specific sizes at competitive prices. In the event we are unable to secure steady suppliers, it could negatively
affect our profitability. The processing plant in China requires water for the wet separation. While there is currently
and for the foreseeable future an adequate supply of water, any discrepancy with the supply of water could lead to
curtailing operations, which could affect our profitability.
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The cost of logistics and shipping between India and China may reduce our income.

Our process involves moving ore from mine heads to crushers and then to the port for shipping. We rely on third
parties to provide a number of important services in connection with our business, and any disruption in these services
could materially affect our business. For example, we depend on trucking companies to move the ore. A surge in
demand for ore and, in general, other commodities, could increase the cost of domestic logistic affecting our
profitability. Additionally, we depend on shipping agencies to move ore from India to China and an increase in the
price of shipping could have an adverse impact on our profitability.

Mining is inherently dangerous and subject to conditions or events beyond our control, and any operating hazards
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

During the course of mining activities, we use dangerous materials and there is no assurance that accidents will not
occur. Should we be held liable for any such accident, we may be subject to penalties, and possible criminal
proceedings may be brought against us by our employees, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

PRC Ironman’s mining operations could have material safety concerns, which may result in accidents and in turn
negatively affect our revenue.

PRC Ironman’s mining operations could have safety issues in its iron ore mine or beneficiation plants including, in
part, inadequate natural ventilation, likelihood of flooding in the tunnels, etc. Accidents and employee’s injury arising
from any safety issues may cause suspension or discontinuance of our mining operation and thus negatively affect our
revenue.

Restrictive regulation on the export of ore may adversely affect our business.

Restrictive regulation on the export of ore from India or the import of ore into China may adversely affect our
profitability. India restricts the export of high quality ore to government agencies. China restricts the import of low
quality ore to specific agents. In the event these regulations change and become even more restrictive, our
profitability could be adversely affected.

The imposition of taxes on exports (export duty) could have an impact on our business.

India recently increased the export duty on ore from 5% to 20%. Any further increases in the export duty of ore could
adversely affect our profitability.

Strikes, civil unrest and tensions between India and China could have an impact on our business.

The supply chain for ore is heavily dependent on transportation. A strike by truck drivers could adversely affect our
business. The processing plant in China is located in the province of Inner Mongolia and any civil unrest in that area,
or other parts of China, could disrupt the logistics and processing chain adversely affecting our business. India and
China have had their share of disputes in the past 60 years. India and China had ancient friendly ties going back to the
silk route. However, beginning in the 1950s the relationship became strained largely over Tibet and issues over
borders. In 1962, China attacked India along its border, coinciding with the Cuban missile crisis that preoccupied the
super powers U.S., Russia and the UK. The war ended with a complete withdrawal that coincided with the arrival of
the U.S. air force. However, while there can be no guarantee that hostilities may again reappear between the two
countries, much has changed since the 1962 war. Both India and China are now nuclear powers, underpinning the
notion of Mutually Assured Destruction, and both are strategic partners with the U.S. Both countries took part in the
first ever BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and China) Summit, in June 2011. Both countries have had thirteen rounds of
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border talks and the recent one in August 2011, ended with both nations discussing raising their strategic partnership
to a higher level. In 2008-2009 India’s largest trading partner was China followed by the U.S. and the United Arab
Emirates. If hostilities between the two countries reappear, our business may be adversely affected.

Currency fluctuations may reduce our profitability.

Iron ore is traded in USD. However, the supply side, including logistics in India, is settled in Indian Rupees

(INR). On the other hand, the expense for processing the ore in China are all met in RMB. Therefore, three
currencies are involved in a typical trade. Fluctuations of one currency relative to the others may adversely affect our
profit margins.

Mining is inherently dangerous and subject to conditions or events beyond our control, and any operating hazards
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

During the course of mining activities, [Ironman may use dangerous materials and there is no assurance that accidents
will not occur. Should Ironman be held liable for any such accident, it may be subject to penalties, and possible
criminal proceedings may be brought against it by its employees, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
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Mining exploitation activities are labor intensive and employ low levels of mechanization, which may result in
inefficiency and impose greater safety and health hazards concern.

Ironman used rudimentary mining methods and low levels of mechanization since the beginning of its mining
operation. The labor-intensive and low-mechanization mining method its uses in its mining operations results in
inefficient operation. The relatively large number of mining workers exposed to dust, noise, heat and vibration caused
by its mining methods may increase the possibility of accidents and health hazards.

Environmental regulations could adversely affect Ironman’s business.

The process of digging ore from the ground is typically environmentally unfriendly as is the process of beneficiation,
which uses ground water. Stricter environmental controls in India or China on the mining of ore or the processing of
ore could have an adverse impact on our business, by raising additional compliance expenses. Mineral exploration
and development, as well as [ronman’s current mining activities and its future mineral mining operations are, and may
continue to be, subject to stringent state, provincial and local laws and regulations relating to environmental quality,
production, labor standards, occupational health, waste disposal, protection and remediation of the environment, mine
safety, toxic substances and other matters. Mineral mining is also subject to risks and liabilities associated with
pollution of the environment and disposal of waste products occurring as a result of mineral production. Compliance
with these laws and regulations will impose substantial costs on Ironman and may subject it to significant potential
liabilities. Further, any changes to these regulations may increase Ironman’s operating costs and may adversely affect
its results of operations.

Our business relies heavily on our management team and any unexpected loss of key officers may adversely affect our
operations.

The continued success of our business is largely dependent on the continued services of key employees in IGC, our
subsidiaries, and after the Acquisition. The loss of the services of certain key personnel, without adequate
replacement, could have an adverse effect on our performance. Our senior management, as well as the senior
management of our subsidiaries, plays a significant role in developing and executing the overall business plan,
maintaining client relationships, proprietary processes and technology. While no one is irreplaceable, the loss of the
services of any would be disruptive to our business.

A large portion of Ironman’s revenue is derived from five major customers.

Five of Ironman’s major customers accounted for 92%, respectively of its total revenue for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011 and 83%, respectively, of its total revenue for the fiscal year ended December 31,

2010. Non-renewal or/and termination of such relationship may have a material adverse effect on its revenue. No
assurance can be given that following the Acquisition that it will be able to maintain such a relationship. Additionally,
no assurance can be given that Ironman’s business will not remain largely dependent on a limited number of customers
accounting for a substantial part of our revenue.

Our quarterly revenue, operating results and profitability will vary.

Factors that may contribute to the variability of quarterly revenue, operating results or profitability include:

¢ Fluctuations in revenue due to seasonality such as during the monsoon season, the heavy rains slow down road
building and during the summer months, the winds are not strong enough to power the wind turbines, which results
in uneven revenue and operating results over the year;

e Commencement, completion and shipment during any particular quarter;
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e Weather and additions and departures of key personnel; and
e Strategic decisions made by us and our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures,
strategic investments and changes in business strategy.

Ironman faces intense competition in the Iron ore business.

Large companies in Brazil, Australia, India and other ore producing countries dominate the Iron ore business. Most of
these companies are miners and export directly to the large steel mills around the world. Our strategy of sourcing
low-grade inexpensive ore from India and processing it in China is fairly unique and allows us to supply steel
producers at competitive prices, while maintaining margins. Ironman depends on its expertise in sourcing low cost
low-grade ore and the expertise of Ironman to process the ore. If [ronman is unable to offer competitive prices there
could be a significant reduction in our revenue.
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IGC may not be able to compete successfully for mineral rights with companies having greater financial resources
than we have.

All mines have limited resources and as such, we intend to acquire additional mining operations, as part of our
long-term strategy. As there is a limited supply of desirable mineral deposits in the PRC, we face strong competition
for promising acquisition targets from other mining companies, some of which have greater financial resources than
we have. IGC may be unable to compete with such other mining companies in making acquisition that we deem to be
complementary to our business, or to acquire such on terms that are acceptable to us.

Ironman is a cash business, which may cause us to suffer losses.

Ironman is a “cash business” which means that most transactions occur on the spot using cash rather than through order
forms and payment via check, wire or credit card. Cash businesses are more susceptible to corrupt practices. As with
any business that is cash intensive, the accuracy and adequacy of reporting income is highly contingent upon
ownership and the owner's propensity for cash management and control. As a result, [ronman may experience a
certain percentage of loss due to theft and misappropriation. To offset this, IGC will impose controls over cash
collection for this cash business. The controls will include monitoring the cash balances closely, limiting the amount
of cash available in vulnerable locations, using vaulted equipment to store cash properly and most importantly,
migrating financial transactions toward checks and wire transfers. Failure to control the integrity of cash collection
and deposits would lead to a significant reduction in our revenue.

Ironman’s revenue and, therefore, our profitability, may be affected by metal price volatility.

The majority of Ironman’s revenue is derived from the sale of high-grade ore. As a consequence, its revenue is directly
related to the price of high-grade ore. The fact that it does not conduct any hedging exposes it to increased price
volatility. Iron ore is one of the biggest dry bulk commodities traded and shipped. Total estimated iron ore

production in 2010 was 1.7 billion tons and worth approximately $150 billion. The growth of spot trading in this huge
market presents an opportunity for banks, traders, producers and consumers to manage price risk and

exposure. Trading since 2008, the iron ore swap has emerged as the leading instrument for iron ore hedging and risk
management. Changes in the prices of high-grade ore and lead may adversely affect our operating results. It is
difficult to predict whether high-grade ore prices will rise or fall in the future and a decline in prices could have an
adverse effect on our future results of operations and financial condition.

We may suffer losses resulting from unexpected accidents.

Like other mining companies, our operations may suffer from structural issues such as unusual or unexpected geologic
formations or explosive rock failures that may result in accidents that cause property damage and possible personal
injuries. We can give no assurance that industry-related accidents will not occur in the future. We do not maintain
flood or other property insurance covering our properties, equipment or inventories. Any losses and/or liabilities we
incur due to unexpected property damage or personal injury could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Ironman’s mining exploitation activities are labor intensive and employ low levels of mechanization, which may result
in inefficiency and impose greater safety and health hazards concern.

Ironman has used rudimentary mining methods and low levels of mechanization since the beginning of its mining
operation. The labor-intensive and low-mechanization mining method it uses in its mining operations results in
inefficient operation. The relatively large number of mining workers exposed to dust, noise, heat and vibration caused
by Ironman’s mining methods may increase the possibility of accidents and health hazards.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We believe that some of the information in this proxy statement constitutes forward-looking statements within the
definition of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these statements by

forward-looking words such as “may,” ““ will,” “should,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “thinks,” “plans,
“seeks,” “predicts,” “potential” or similar words or the negative of these words or other variations on these words or
comparable terminology. You should read statements that contain these words carefully because they discuss future
expectations, contain projections of future results of operations or financial conditions or state or other

forward-looking information. Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and expectations of

future events. IGC cannot guarantee that these assumptions and expectations are accurate or will be realized. These
statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions.

99 ¢ 99 ¢ 9 ¢
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Many factors, including those discussed more fully in documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
which we refer to as the SEC, by IGC, particularly under the heading “Risk Factors” in this proxy and in Part 1, Item 1A
of IGC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended March 31, 2011, Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended
June 30, 2011 and September 30, 2011, and any amendments thereto for IGC, could cause results to differ materially
from those stated. While we believe it is important to communicate our expectations to our stockholders, there may

be events in the future that we are not able to predict or over which we have no control. The risk factors and

cautionary language discussed in this proxy statement provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may
cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations described by us in our forward-looking statements,
including among other things:

¢ the growth in global and specifically Asian GDP and more specifically infrastructure and the overall demand for

steel;

e competition in the iron ore sector;
e legislation by the government of India and the government of China;
e labor, trucking, and other logistic issues;
¢ unanticipated cash requirements to support current operations, expand our business or incur capital expenditures;
e the loss of key management or scientific personnel;
e the activities of our competitors in the industry;
e the effect of volatility of currency exchange rates;

e enactment of new government laws, regulations, court decisions, regulatory interpretations or other initiatives that

are adverse to us or our interests;
¢ the effect of the announcement of the Stock Purchase Agreement on our business relationships (including with

employees, customers and suppliers), operating results and business generally;

e the failure of stockholders of IGC to approve the Share Issuance;
e the failure of the Stock Purchase Agreement to close for any other reason;
¢ the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the Stock Purchase Agreement;

¢ risks that the proposed transactions disrupt current business plans and operations and the potential difficulties in

attracting and retaining employees as a result of the Stock Purchase Agreement; and
¢ the timing of the completion of the Acquisition and the impact of the Acquisition on our indebtedness, capital

resources, cash requirements, profitability, management resources and liquidity.

You should be aware that the occurrence of the events described in the “Risk Factors™ section above and elsewhere in
this proxy statement, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date of this proxy statement. All forward-looking statements included herein attributable to us or any person
acting on either party’s behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or
referred to in this section.
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Except to the extent required by applicable laws and regulations, we undertake no obligation to update these
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this proxy statement or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events. Any forward-looking statement made by us in this proxy statement speaks only as
of the date on which we make it. Before you grant your proxy or instruct how your vote should be cast or vote on the
proposals described in this proxy statement, you should be aware that the occurrence of the events described in the
“Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this proxy statement could have a material adverse effect on us.
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THE SPECIAL MEETING

Our Special Meeting, Date, Time and Place

We are furnishing this proxy statement to our stockholders as part of the solicitation of proxies by our Board of
Directors for use at the Special Meeting at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time, on , 201 _, at the offices of
Shulman, Rogers, Gandal, Pordy & Ecker, P.A., 12505 Park Potomac Avenue, 6th Floor, Potomac, Maryland

20854. At this important Special Meeting, we are asking IGC stockholders to: (1) authorize and approve the issuance

of shares of IGC common stock (the “Exchange Shares”) to the HK Ironman stockholders (which proposal we refer to as
the “Share Issuance Proposal”) and the other transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement, (2) elect
Danny Qing Chang to IGC’s board of directors, conditioned upon the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal, to hold
office as a Class A director to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders in 2014 and when his successor is duly
elected and qualified (the “Election Proposal”); (3) approve the issuance of 3,150,000 shares of IGC Common Stock (the
“Compensation Shares”) to the current officers and directors of IGC and HK Ironman (the “Compensation Proposal’)
subject to their 12-month vesting period following the closing of the Acquisition; and (4) approve the adjournment of
the Special Meeting to another time or place, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are
insufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to authorize and approve the Share Issuance Proposal, the

Election Proposal or the Compensation Proposal (the “Adjournment Proposal”).

If our stockholders fail to approve the Share Issuance Proposal, the Acquisition will not occur. A copy of the Stock
Purchase Agreement is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A. This proxy statement and the enclosed form of
proxy are first being mailed to our stockholders on or about , 2011. This proxy statement provides you with
the information you need to know to be able to vote or instruct your vote to be cast at the Special Meeting.

Recommendation of the IGC Board of Directors

The IGC Board of Directors has unanimously approved the Stock Purchase Agreement and the transactions
contemplated therein and unanimously recommends that IGC common stockholders vote “FOR” the Share Issuance
Proposal; “FOR” the Election Proposal; “FOR” the Compensation Proposal; and “FOR” the Adjournment Proposal.

Record Date and Quorum

IGC’s Board of Directors has specified October 18, 2011, as the record date for the purpose of determining the
stockholders who are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Special Meeting. Only stockholders of record at
the close of business on the record date are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Special Meeting. Record holders of
our common stock at the close of business on the record date are entitled to vote or have their votes cast at the Special
Meeting. On the record date, there were 20,960,433 shares of our common stock outstanding. Our issued and
outstanding warrants do not have voting rights and record holders of our warrants will not be entitled to vote at the
Special Meeting.

Voting Your Shares
Each share of our common stock that you owned at the close of business on the record date entitles you to one
vote. Your proxy card shows the number of shares of our common stock that you own. There are three ways to vote

your shares of our common stock at the Special Meeting:

1. You can vote by signing and returning the enclosed proxy card. If you vote by proxy card, your “proxy,” whose
name is listed on the proxy card, will vote your shares as you instruct on the proxy card. If you sign and return the
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proxy card, but do not give instructions on how to vote your shares, your shares will be voted, as recommended by
our board, “FOR” the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal, “FOR” the approval of the issuance of the
Compensation Shares to the officers and directors of IGC and HK Ironman and “FOR” the Adjournment Proposal.

You can vote by telephone or the Internet by following the telephone or Internet voting instructions that are
included with your proxy card. If you vote by telephone, you should not return the proxy card. The deadline for
voting by telephone or electronically is 9:30 a.m. Eastern Time on ,2011.

. You can attend the Special Meeting and vote in person. We will give you a ballot when you arrive. However, if

your shares are held in the name of your broker, bank or another nominee, you must get a proxy from the broker,
bank or other nominee. That is the only way we can be sure that the broker, bank or nominee has not already voted
your shares.

65



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

Table of Contents
No Additional Matters may be Presented at the Special Meeting

This Special Meeting has been called only to consider the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election
Proposal, the Compensation Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal.

Revoking Your Proxy
If you give a proxy, you may revoke it at any time before it is exercised by doing any one of the following:

® You may send another proxy card with a later date,
® You may notify IGC in writing before the Special Meeting that you have revoked your proxy, with such written
notification addressed to us at India Globalization Capital, Inc., 4336 Montgomery Avenue, Bethesda, MD 20814,
or
® You may attend the Special Meeting, revoke your proxy and vote in person.

Vote Required

e The approval of the Share Issuance Proposal will require the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our
common stock outstanding that are entitled to vote at the meeting. The Share Issuance Proposal is not conditioned
upon the approval of the Election Proposal, the Compensation Proposal or the Adjournment Proposal.

e The approval of the Election Proposal will require the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of
our common stock that are present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting. The Election Proposal
is conditioned upon the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal only.

e The approval of the Compensation Proposal will require the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares
of our common stock that are present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting. The Compensation
Proposal is conditioned upon the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal only.

e The approval of the Adjournment Proposal will require a majority of all the votes cast at a meeting at which a
quorum is present. The Adjournment Proposal is not conditioned upon the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal,
the Election Proposal or the approval of the Compensation Proposal.

Broker Non-Votes

A broker non-vote occurs when a broker submits a proxy card with respect to shares held in a fiduciary capacity
(typically referred to as being held in “street name”) but declines to vote on a particular matter because the broker has
not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner. Under the rules that govern brokers who are voting with
respect to shares held in street name, brokers have the discretion to vote such shares on routine matters, but not on
non-routine matters. Non-routine matters include the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election Proposal and the
Compensation Proposal. Accordingly, if you hold your shares through a broker in street name, in order for your
shares to be voted for the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election Proposal and the Compensation Proposal at the
Special Meeting, you must provide voting instructions to your broker in accordance with the voting instruction card
that you will receive from your broker. Proxies received but treated as broker non-votes will be included in the
calculation of the number of shares considered to be present at the annual meeting for quorum purposes.

Abstentions
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Proxies received but marked as abstentions will be included in the calculation of the number of shares considered
present at the Special Meeting for quorum purposes only. An abstention will have the same effect as a vote
AGAINST the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election Proposal, the Compensation Proposal and the Adjournment
Proposal. A failure to vote will have no effect on the outcome of the Election Proposal, the Compensation
Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal.
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Solicitation Costs

We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies. In addition to soliciting stockholders by mail through our employees, we
will request banks, brokers and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries to solicit clients for whom they hold our
stock and will reimburse them for their reasonable, out-of-pocket costs. We may use the services of our officers,
directors and others to solicit proxies, personally or by telephone, without additional compensation. We have also
engaged InvestorCom to solicit proxies on our behalf. We anticipate that the fees to InvestorCom will be
approximately $10,000. We have also incurred accountant and legal fees in connection with the preparation of this
Proxy and the Stock Purchase Agreement. If you grant a proxy, you may still vote your shares in person if you revoke
your proxy before the Special Meeting.

Securities Held by Directors and Executive Officers

At the close of business on the record date, our present executive officers and directors beneficially owned and were
entitled to vote, in the aggregate, 3,500,000 shares of our common stock, representing approximately 15% of the then
outstanding shares of common stock. IGC expects that its directors and executive officers will vote all of their shares
of common stock “FOR” the approval of the proposals to be considered at the Special Meeting. For information on
beneficial ownership of our common stock by executive officers, directors and 5% stockholders, see ‘“Beneficial
Ownership of Securities.*

Adjournments and Postponements

Although it is not currently expected, the Special Meeting may be adjourned or postponed to a later date or time, if
necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in the event there are insufficient votes to approve the Proposals
at the time of such adjournment. The Adjournment Proposal provides IGC with the right to continue to adjourn the
Special Meeting. In addition, our Bylaws provide that any adjournment may be made without prior notice if
announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. Any signed proxies received by us prior to 10:00 a.m.,
EST, on the date of the Special Meeting in which no voting instructions are provided on such matter will be voted
“FOR” an adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or time, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional
proxies in the event there are insufficient votes to approve the Proposals at the time of such adjournment. Whether or
not a quorum exists, holders of a majority of our shares of common stock present in person or represented by proxy
and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting may adjourn the Special Meeting. Any adjournment or postponement of
the Special Meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies will allow our stockholders who have already sent
in their proxies to revoke them at any time prior to their use at the Special Meeting was adjourned or postponed.

Questions and Additional Information

If you have more questions about the Stock Purchase Agreement, the four proposals contained herein, the content of
this proxy, how to submit your proxy, or if you need additional copies of this proxy statement, our 2012 Annual
Report, or the enclosed proxy card or voting instructions, or if you have any questions about how to vote or direct a
vote in respect of your shares of our common stock, you may call Claudia Grimaldi, John Selvaraj or Ram Mukunda
at (301) 983-0998.
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PROPOSAL 1: THE SHARE ISSUANCE PROPOSAL

On October 14, 2011, IGC, HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and their respective stockholders entered into a Stock
Purchase Agreement whereby IGC would acquire 100% of the outstanding equity of HK Ironman, which owns 95%
of PRC Ironman, in exchange for the 31,500,000 Exchange Shares. In addition, the Stock Purchase Agreement
provides for a contingent payment by IGC to Mr. Chang of $1 million payable within 30 days of closing and upon
satisfaction of certain post-closing covenants. In addition, the consideration under the Stock Purchase Agreement
includes certain contingent payments by IGC to PRC Ironman stockholders, as follows (i) $1.5 million in cash or
stock, which is contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of at least 30% from the previous year’s closing audit
(i.e., March 31, 2011); and (ii) $1.5 million in cash or stock, which is contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of
at least 30% from the previous year’s closing audit (i.e., March 31, 2012). If either of the foregoing annual targets are
missed, there would still be a payout of $3 million provided IGC achieves a cumulative earnings growth of 69%
between fiscal years 2011 and 2013.

IGC’s board of directors has unanimously approved the Stock Purchase Agreement, the performance by IGC of its
obligations thereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, including the issuance of the
Exchange Shares. IGC stockholders are hereby asked to approve the Share Issuance Proposal.

Vote Required to Approve the Share Issuance Proposal

Approval of the Share Issuance Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock
outstanding and entitled to vote as of the record date. For the Share Issuance Proposal, you may vote “FOR,”
“AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN.” Abstentions and properly executed broker non-votes, if any, will be counted as present for
the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present at the Special Meeting. If you abstain or if you hold your

shares in “street name,” the failure to instruct your bank, broker or other nominee how to vote your shares will have the
same effect as a vote against the Share Issuance Proposal. For the reasons described below, our Board of Directors
recommends that you vote “FOR” the Share Issuance Proposal.

Background of the Acquisition leading to the Share Issuance Proposal

IGC, a Maryland corporation organized April 29, 2005, as a blank check company, was formed for the purpose of
acquiring one or more businesses with operations primarily in India through a merger, capital stock exchange, asset
acquisition or other similar business combination or acquisition. In pursuing its objective of enhancing stockholder
value, our Board of Directors has from time-to-time considered opportunities for a variety of transactions, including
potential acquisitions, sales, business combinations and other strategic alliances, including potential transactions with
strategic parties and financial sponsors.

On March 8, 2006, the Company completed an initial public offering. A year later, on February 19, 2007, the
Company incorporated India Globalization Capital, Mauritius, Limited (IGC-M), a wholly owned subsidiary, under
the laws of Mauritius. Thereafter, on March 7, 2008, the Company consummated the acquisition of 63% of the equity
of Sricon Infrastructure Private Limited (Sricon) and 77% of the equity of Techni Bharathi Limited (TBL). Following
these acquisitions, on February 19, 2009, IGC-M beneficially purchased 100% of IGC Mining and Trading, Limited
based in Chennai, India.

Later, on July 4, 2009, IGC-M beneficially purchased 100% of IGC Materials, Private Limited, and 100% of IGC
Logistics, Private Limited. Both of these companies are based in Nagpur, India. Effective October 1, 2009, we
reduced our stake in Sricon from 63% to 22% in consideration for the setoff of the loan owed by IGC approximating
$17.9 million. In addition to TBL and our minority interest in Sricon, we operate three wholly-owned subsidiaries in
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India, IGC India Mining and Trading Private Limited (IGC-IMT), IGC Materials Private Limited (IGC-MPL) and
IGC Logistics Private Limited (IGC-LPL).

Earlier this year, on or about May 17, 2011, we received an inquiry on our potential interest in investing in an Iron
Powder company in China. The inquiry came from an investment bank that is no longer in business. The investment
bank did not have an acquisition mandate with IGC.

On May 18, 2011 Mr. Ram Mukunda, IGC’s CEO had a detailed discussion with representatives of the bank and asked
for certain clarifications and presented the bankers with a list of questions that the bank would need to have answered
by the target company. The name of the target company was not disclosed to IGC and the name Iron Powder was an
alias.

On May 23, 2011, there was another call with the banker to review the list of questions. The following day on May
24,2011, Mr. Mukunda presented the Board of IGC with a Power Point presentation on the Iron Powder company that
included a valuation, potential dilution and stock accretion analysis. The board having analyzed the power point
presentation agreed that Mr. Mukunda, our CEO, and Mr. Prins our independent director, should pursue the potential
acquisition.
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On May 25, 2011, Mr. Mukunda and Danny Ngai flew to China and to Inner Mongolia to meet the management and
board of Ironman. The discussions involved a site visit to the plant, presentations by both sides and preliminary
discussions including a discussion of what a preliminary offer from IGC would look like.

On June 1, 2011, Mr. Mukunda updated the board on his trip and discussions.

On June 14, 2011, Mr. Mukunda circulated a preliminary term sheet to the board for comments. This term sheet was
then discussed with Ironman. Discussions on the term sheet took place between IGC and Ironman between June 15
and July 6, 2011.

Mr. Mukunda circulated a draft Letter of Intent (the “LOI”) to the board on July 6, 2011. After considering comments
from our Board of Directors, the draft LOI was sent to Ironman.

On July 15, 2011, Mr. Mukunda, Daniel Ngai and Mr. Prins flew to China. Mr. Prins visited the plant in Inner
Mongolia met with management and the team interviewed audit firms that could conduct an audit of Ironman.

On or around July 26, 2011, IGC received quotes for the audit. Meanwhile Mr. Mukunda hired the legal team in
Hong Kong and the PRC to conduct background checks and legal due diligence of Ironman in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

On July 30, 2011, the board had a conference call and Mr. Mukunda and Mr. Prins reported their findings and
recommendations on the auditor.

On or about August 1, 2011, IGC and Ironman agreed on an auditor to conduct the U.S. GAAP audit of Ironman
based on the interviews that IGC had conducted. On or about August 1, 2011, a checklist for the audit was sent to
Ironman.

On August 9, 2011, IGC announced on a Current Report on Form 8-K a strategic partnership with HK Ironman and
PRC Ironman for the export and sale of iron ore from India to China. IGC intended to source iron ore from India and
ship the ore to PRC Ironman’s beneficiation plant. The parties contemplated a share exchange to memorialize the
strategic partnership. As the parties moved quickly instead toward this Acquisition, the parties did not finalize the
terms of the share exchange. To date, the parties have not finalized the amount of common stock each would receive,
if any, apart from the Exchange Shares discussed herein.

On August 11, 2011, the auditors, legal team and a team consisting of IGC personnel from the U.S., Hong Kong and
India arrived in China to conduct the due diligence and audit.

In late August 2011, IGC increased its due diligence efforts with several IGC staff members and the team of outside
experts engaged in this effort. In addition, we had several discussions with the legal team to ensure that we could

safeguard against possible scenarios plaguing other public Chinese companies.

Between August and October IGC conducted its due diligence, and the audit of both PRC Ironman and HK
Ironman. At the same time, a draft Stock Purchase Agreement was drafted and negotiated between Ironman and IGC.

On September 20, 2011, the Board of IGC met to discuss the details of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

On September 21, 2011, Mr. Mukunda and Daniel Ngai met with the management and the board of Ironman in China
to discuss the details of the Stock Purchase Agreement.
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On October 14, 2011 after the audits and due diligence was substantially completed the IGC board authorized Mr.
Mukunda to execute the Stock Purchase Agreement. At the same meeting, the board unanimously approved the
Acquisition and agreed to present this transaction to the stockholders and recommend that they vote in favor of the
acquisition. IGC issued a press release announcing the execution of the Share Purchase Agreement on October 18,
2011.
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Interests of Our Directors and Officers in the Acquisition

Certain of our directors and officers have interests in the Share Issuance Proposal that are different from, or in addition
to, your interest as an IGC stockholder. These interests include, among other things, that if the IGC stockholders
approve the Share Issuance Proposal and the transaction closes, there is the possibility of an appreciation in the value
of stock, warrants and options held by them. In addition, certain members of the Board of Directors of IGC and
certain of its officers would receive the Compensation Shares, subject to a 12-month vesting regime requiring each to
continue providing services to IGC for a minimum of 12 months after the closing of the Acquisition. In addition, we
anticipate that following the completion of the Acquisition, all of IGC’s directors will continue to serve on the IGC
Board of Directors. In addition, each of our directors and officers will remain eligible to receive compensation in such
manner, and in such amounts, as our Board of Directors may determine to be appropriate, subject in the case of our
officers to the requirements of any employment agreements entered into with them.

Shares as Unregistered Securities.

The Exchange Shares will be issued to HK Ironman’s stockholders in reliance upon an exemption from registration
pursuant to Section 4(2) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Regulation S of the
Securities Act based on the representations and warranties of the stockholders of HK Ironman in the Stock Purchase
Agreement.

Change in Control of IGC as a result of the of the Share Issuance Proposal

As a result of the issuance of the Exchange Shares to HK Ironman’s stockholders, Mr. Danny Chang will become the
largest stockholder or IGC representing approximately 23% of the issued and outstanding shares immediately after the
issuance of the Exchange Shares, replacing Dr. Ranga Krishna as our largest stockholder.

Accounting Treatment

IGC prepares its financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The Acquisition will be accounted for by applying
the acquisition method, which requires the determination of the acquirer, the acquisition date, the fair value of assets
and liabilities of the acquiree and the measurement of goodwill. The accounting guidance for business combinations,
referred to as ASC 805, provides that in identifying the acquiring entity in a combination effected through an
exchange of equity interests, all pertinent facts and circumstances must be considered, including: the relative voting
rights of the shareholders of the constituent companies in the combined entity, the composition of the board of
directors and senior management of the combined company, the relative size of each company and the terms of the
exchange of equity securities in the business combination, including payment of any premium. Based on current IGC
board members representing a majority of the board of directors of the combined company, as well as the overall
terms of the Acquisition, as provided in the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC is considered to be the acquirer of HK
Ironman for accounting purposes.

Our Reasons for the Acquisition and Recommendation of Our Board

Our Board of Directors, acting with the advice and assistance of IGC’s management and financial advisors and legal
advisors, carefully evaluated the Stock Purchase Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereby. Our Board of
Directors convened to review and discuss the Stock Purchase Agreement, the performance by IGC of its obligations
thereunder and the consummation of the transaction contemplated thereby, including the Acquisition. At a meeting of
our Board of Directors held on October 14, 2011, our Board of Directors unanimously resolved to approve the Stock
Purchase Agreement, the performance by IGC of its obligations thereunder and the consummation of the transaction
contemplated thereby, including the Acquisition of HK Ironman and to recommend to the stockholders of IGC that

73



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

they approve the Share Issuance Proposal.
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In the course of reaching its recommendation, our Board of Directors consulted with IGC’s management and its
financial and legal advisors and considered a number of substantive factors, both positive and negative, and potential
benefits and detriments of the Acquisition. Our Board of Directors believed that, taken as a whole, the following
factors supported its decision to approve the proposed Acquisition:

Iron Ore Industry; Demand for Ore in China/India. Our Board of Directors’ analysis of the iron ore industry shows
that macro growth drivers for the iron ore industry are strong. According to the Committee for Infrastructure
Financing (India) & Bloomberg News, India expects to spend $475 billion on infrastructure build out through 2012
and beyond. According a Forbes Magazine article of May 5, 2011, the Chinese government announced in March
2011 that they would build 36 million low-income apartment units between 2011 and 2015, with 10 million units
planned for construction per year starting in 2011. Further, Forbes reported that China imported $4.02 billion worth
of iron ore and metals from Brazil in the first quarter 2011, though down from $5.2 billion in the fourth quarter, but
was nearly double the $2.1 billion in the first quarter of 2010. In addition, it is believed that the recent tsunami that
devastated Japan will require increased spending on infrastructure. These facts and others suggested to IGC’s board
that in the medium to long term the demand for steel will remain robust and therefore the demand for iron ore, a basic
raw material used in producing steel will remain strong.

e Strategic Timing and Opportunity. Our Board of Directors believes that this Acquisition launches a business
growth opportunity to create a network of processing plants near various ports in China. This would create a
substantial barrier to entry for other companies and provide IGC with long-term strategic positioning and potential
to acquire iron ore companies with low-grade mines.

e Reserving Higher Grades for Local Use. Our Board of Directors considered the state of the iron ore industry
whereby countries with ore are trying to save the higher grades for indigenous consumption that is for their own
steel factories. India does this by imposing a 20% tax on the export of ore and controlling the highest grade that
can be exported by a private company. For example, exporting high-grade ore at $170 per metric ton results in a
tax of $34 per ton and, in addition, there are severe penalties for missing the grade. Exporting low-grade ore at $75
results in a tax of $15 and processing the ore in China results in better control over the grade and a savings of $19
per ton in taxes. Further, it becomes irrelevant whether we are shipping the exact grade ordered by the customer as
we now have control over the grade. This Acquisition therefore allows the Company to adopt a low cost, low risk
strategy. Therefore, the board believed that buying or building processing plants in China is strategically
advantageous and would result in a fairly predictable profitable model for our Company.

¢ [GC’s Industry Knowledge. Our Board of Directors considered IGC’s iron ore and infrastructure knowledge and
prior experience that complement the knowledge and experience to operate PRC Ironman in China. For example,
PRC Ironman is intimately familiar with the ground realities of importing, unloading, in country logistics and
processing. While we have knowledge of the industry in India, Ironman extends our knowledge into China more
intimately and much faster than we could duplicate. We believe we will have a core competency in processing and
producing ore.

e HK Ironman and PRC Ironman’s Cooperation with SOX 404 Compliance. Our Board of Directors considered HK
Ironman’s and PRC Ironman’s commitment to corporate governance and the ability of IGC to comply with SOX 404
after the closing of the Acquisition. Our Board recognized that part of the challenge in acquiring a company is the
willingness of the company to adhere to the standards of public company reporting and U.S. GAAP audits. The
management of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman was willing to let us institute changes to their financial reporting
and disclosure methodologies in order to potentially become SOX 404 compliant.

e Valuation and discount to public market multiples. Our Board of Directors considered the valuation and discount
to public market multiples: the iron ore industry has very strong medium and long-term opportunities in India and is
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growing rapidly; we have an opportunity to acquire HK Ironman and its 95%-owned subsidiary, PRC Ironman, at
fairly-steep discounts to the public markets, providing arbitrage and high growth to our stockholders.
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Terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. Our Board of Directors considered the terms and conditions of the Stock
Purchase Agreement, including:

§ the limited number and nature of the conditions to HK Ironman’s obligation to consummate the transaction;

that the Stock Purchase Agreement provides IGC sufficient operating flexibility to conduct its business generally in
the ordinary course between the signing of the Stock Purchase Agreement and the completion of the Acquisition;
and

the fact that all such terms and conditions were the product of extensive arm’s-length negotiations between the IGC
and HK Ironman.

Likelihood of Consummation. Our Board of Directors considered the likelihood that the Acquisition will be
completed, including its belief that there would not be significant regulatory impediments to the Acquisition and
HK Ironman’s agreement to use its reasonable best efforts to complete the Acquisition. Our Board of Directors also
considered the fact that HK Ironman had required only a limited amount of stockholder approval for the transaction.

Financial Capability of HK Ironman. Our Board of Directors noted after discussion with Mr. Mukunda, Mr. Prins
and others performing due diligence, that HK Ironman and PRC Ironman have the financial resources and
capabilities to operate without future funding.

Tax-Free Transaction. Our Board of Directors considered that the transaction contemplated by the Stock Purchase
Agreement will be a tax-free transaction to IGC and, therefore, neither IGC nor our stockholders will be required to
pay any taxes as a result.

Our Board of Directors also considered potential risks relating to the Acquisition, including the following:

e Managing the Acquisition through the significant head winds against Chinese companies: Our Board
of Directors considered that PRC Ironman’s location in China was potentially problematic given the
SEC’s closer scrutiny of China-based companies. Nevertheless, the board views this Acquisition as a
vital opportunity. This downside was mitigated by expectation that once the climate for
Chinese-based companies improves, these opportunities would be very difficult to come by. IGC’s
Board of Directors negotiated controls over PRC Ironman’s board (as well as HK Ironman) and
financial reporting including an IGC person as a co-signatory on all bank accounts as part of the
agreement.

e Lack of SEC reporting and U.S. GAAP accounting staff: Our Board of Directors considered that the HK Ironman
and PRC Ironman staffs do not have US public market experience and that it might be difficult to recruit staff that
can adequately perform the tasks required to report quarterly earnings in U.S. GAAP. This was mitigated by the
fact that the team in India is adequately equipped and can be instrumental in getting the staff trained in the basis
reporting functions. Further, the addition of Daniel Shu Kwong Ngai into the staff in China would bring a variety
of required skills to Ironman, as he has considerable experience as a CEO managing all the different functions
including a CFO.

PRC Ironman’s Underpayment of Taxes: Our Board of Directors weighed the gravity of PRC Ironman’s unpaid
taxes for previous years stemming from underreported income. IGC’s officers and directors discussed this
underreporting issue at length with the PRC Ironman’s management, IGC’s Chinese counsel and IGC’s auditors. For
the financial year ended March 31, 2011, out of a total current liability of $7,300,917 there is a total of $6,763,485
in taxes payable. As of September 30,2011 PRC Ironman has access to $7,667,364 in cash and cash equivalents and
$3,816,977 in receivables. Therefore, PRC Ironman has resources from which to pay these amounts in the event
PRC Ironman cannot settle this arrearage favorably. IGC believes that PRC Ironman will be successful in
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negotiating a settlement or a concession based on oral representations made by the authorities. The authorities have
offered concessions as part of an incentive to attract investment into a geographic area in China that needs trade,
commerce, jobs and a sustainable environment. While there is a high level of confidence that this issue will be
resolved to the benefit of PRC Ironman, we will continue to show the liability until resolved. Further, all taxes and
penalties due prior to the Acquisition are the responsibility of PRC Ironman and its stockholders.

Difficulties arising from a Cash Business: Our Board of Directors weighed the downsides of the fact that HK

Ironman’s business includes a significant amount of cash transactions. To mitigate certain of the risk associated
with this aspect of the business, especially in light of SOX 404, we negotiated clauses in the Stock Purchase

Agreement that allow us to overhaul the accounting department hire and fire the chief financial officer.

Difficulty transferring money from China to the U.S.: Our Board of Directors considered the risks related to the
fact that Chinese currency is not freely convertible into other currencies in part because of its undervalued
status. Therefore, profits made in China may have to be reinvested in China. According to EUObserver.com’s
September 8, 2011 report, China is seeking to make its currency convertible by 2015 according to officials in
Beijing, a move that may help the ailing euro and dollar, which are losing against an under-valuated
Yuan. However, IGC has engaged legal counsel in China to advise IGC on pathways that can be utilized to move
money between China and the US or India, which include (i) the sale of PRC Ironman stock back to HK Ironman
without dilution, (ii) dividend payment, (iii) transfer pricing that involves USA overhead expenses paid out of the
Chinese company. We have not received the advice from Chinese council as of the date of this filing, but we
expect to find a workable solution over the next few months.
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e Possibility of Delisting. Our Board of Directors considered the risk that the NYSE Amex may treat the
Acquisition, as a “reverse merger” and, consequently, requires IGC to re-qualify for listing of its common stock on
NYSE Amex. IGC believes the Acquisition is not a reverse merger and is advocating against a reverse merger
classification by NYSE Amex. However, a final decision by the NYSE Amex is outside of IGC’s control. If
re-qualifying for listing is required, then IGC is not likely to qualify because one of the conditions of the NYSE
Amex requires that the trading price of IGC’s common stock be maintained at or above the minimum price
requirement of $2.00 per share for a sustained period of time, generally five trading days, subject to lengthening or
shortening by the NYSE Amex depending on how consistently the stock trades above $2.00 during that period, and
that the Company maintain a market capitalization of $50 million and a public float of $15 million. IGC intends to
satisfy those conditions that are within its control. However, there are no assurances that any conditions outside the
control of IGC will be satisfied. If the Acquisition is deemed a reverse merger by NYSE Amex and IGC cannot
satisfy the conditions for listing, IGC’s common stock will not be listed for trading on the NYSE Amex. In such
event, IGC would trade its common stock on the OTCBB until all of the conditions to trading on the NYSE Amex
have been satisfied and the shares begin officially trading on the NYSE Amex.

¢ Jron Ore Exports from India may be reduced by one-third in 2012 and beyond. Our Board of Directors considered
the facts surrounding a legal dispute in Karnataka, India and high iron ore transport costs which reduced export
from this area to China by 25% this year. Karnataka, India normally accounts for a quarter of India’s exports. India
exported about half of China’s annual production until Karnataka introduced a ban on shipments in July 2010. IGC
is aware of the export issues in Karnataka, India, which could cause (a) logistics pricing, (b) export bans similar to
the Karnataka ban on exports elsewhere in India, and (c) increased in the export duty. If one or more of these risks
materialize, IGC’s revenues could be adversely affected. IGC believes that low grade ore remains readily available
in other parts of India including both Orissa and Goa in India. Further, IGC’s established presence in China and
India will facilitate its ability to export ore from India.

Our Board of Directors concluded that the potentially negative factors associated with the proposed merger were
outweighed by the opportunity for IGC’s stockholders. Our Board of Directors believed that the proposed transaction
would increase the immediate value of the stockholders’ shares and improve the future prospects of IGC. Accordingly,
our Board of Directors concluded that the Stock Purchase Agreement, the performance by IGC of its obligations
thereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby are advisable and fair to and in the best
interests of IGC and its stockholders. In addition, our Board of Directors was aware of and considered the interests
that our directors and executive officers may have with respect to the Acquisition that differ from, or are in addition

to, their interests as stockholders of IGC generally, which our Board of Directors considered as being neutral in its
evaluation of the Acquisition.

The foregoing discussion summarizes the material information and factors considered by our Board of Directors in its
consideration of the Acquisition. Our Board of Directors collectively reached the unanimous decision to approve the
Stock Purchase Agreement and related transactions in light of the factors described above and other factors that each
member of our Board of Directors felt was appropriate. In view of the variety of factors and the quality and amount of
information considered, our Board of Directors did not find it practicable to, and did not make specific assessments of,
quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors considered in reaching its

determination. Individual members of our Board of Directors may have given different weight to different factors.

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote “FOR” the approval of the Stock Issuance Proposal.
Industry Background: Iron ore mining and processing

Iron is the world’s most commonly used metal. Iron ore is the key ingredient in steel, which is 95% of all metal used
per year. About 98% of mined iron ore is used to make steel. Christopher La Femina, mining analyst at Barclays
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Capital comments in the October 26, 2009 article in the Financial Times titled “Iron ore pricing emerges from stone
age,” “Iron ore may be more integral to the global economy than any other commodity, except perhaps oil.” Iron
comprises of 5% of the Earth’s crust and it is the fourth most abundant element in the Earth’s crust. There are four
types of iron ore deposits, magnetite, hematite, titanomagnetite and pisolitec ironstone. Iron ore typically has trace
elements such as silicon, phosphorus, aluminum and sulfur mixed with the iron deposits. As explained in detail later,
the large producers and the large steelmakers typically agree on benchmark prices that the rest of the industry
follows. The Singapore exchange and other exchanges are planning to launch an iron ore futures contract similar to
gold and copper. While the pricing is volatile, it has risen from $30 a ton in November 2003 to more recent pricing
around $150 a ton. According to Reuters on October 19, 2011 global miner BHP Billiton is aggressively investing in
iron ore production as is Brazilian miner Rio Tinto.

Despite the volatility in iron ore prices, the expectation is that China’s industrial revolution promises strong demand
for decades to come. Goldman Sachs on May 25, 2011 reported that it was lowering its forecast for China’s economic
growth from 10% to 9.4% for 2011 and from 9.5% to 9.2% for 2012. These growth estimates, however, continue to
be ahead of the 7% GDP growth targeted by China in its 12th Five Year Plan. These projections must also be viewed
in a global and slightly longer-term perspective. According to projections by the Boston Consulting Group (BCG) on
May 25, 2010, China’s current $5.9 trillion economy is expected to triple to $17.7 trillion (more than the size of the
current U.S. economy) in 20 years. In the next 10 years, according to Kaushal Sampat, president & CEO of Dun &
Bradstreet India, the Indian economy is expected to grow from the current size of $1 trillion to more than $5 trillion
(the size of Japan’s current economy). Even if these projections are lowered, the demand for iron ore, a key ingredient
of steel, will continue to be very strong and IGC believes that the current uncertainty in the global markets is an
opportune time to increase its iron ore facilities, mines, market share and build stockholder value.
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Iron ore mining process

Iron ore site excavation begins by using dynamite to clear bedrock and access the iron ore beneath the earth’s
surface. The next step involves using electric shovels to load blasted ore into trucks, which then move the ore and

other materials to a crusher. A crusher is then used to break the ore down into small chunks that are then moved to a

grinder to make a powder-fine consistency. Then a process referred to as beneficiation purifies the iron ore to about
70% purity. Beneficiation involves magnetic cobblers that remove the silica waste, while large magnets attract the
iron. The waste is washed away, and then the material is floated so waste goes to the top and iron to the bottom. A
final step in preparing iron ore to be used for steel is pelletizing, in which the powdery iron ore concentrate is made

into pellets so it can be used in steel mills. Some steel mills use iron ore directly.

In the case of Ironman, the hills of Inner Mongolia are mostly sand mixed with magnetite iron ore. The sand is loaded

onto trucks and then moved to a dry magnetic separator, where the magnets separate iron ore from the sand. The

material that comes out of the dry separator is then moved to a wet processing plant that uses magnets and water to
wash the material and magnetically separate sand and dirt from the iron ore. This process results in a final product
that produces iron ore powder with about 65-67% iron content. The web site www.hfironman.net has a video that

shows the process. The site where PRC Ironman works has more than 3 million tons of ore that has a current market
value at $116 per metric ton of about $350 million. The process is much simpler and very different from the mining
processes that involve blasting, digging and crushing. Here, nature has already spent several million years doing the

hard work of crushing iron into sand like granules.

Global iron ore reserves

The largest iron ore reserves are found in Brazil, Australia, Russia, Ukraine, China and India. The reserves in each of

these countries are shown below. Brazil, Australia and Russia contain significantly more iron than any other
country. Out of the six countries with the largest reserves Brazil, Australia, and India contain high-grade iron
ore. Although China has a large reserve of ore, it is mostly low-grade ore. Approximately 90% of India’s iron ore
export goes to China. Brazil, Australia and India are the largest suppliers of ore accounting for 80% of the iron ore

that China imports (The Economic Times, May 19, 2011).

Global Iron Ore Reserves
Iron ore — World Reserves (Million metric tons)

Country
Brazil
Australia
Russia
Ukraine
China
India
Kazakhstan
Venezuela

37

Reserves
16,000
15,000
14,000
9,000
7,200
4,500
3,300
2,400

Country
Canada
Sweden
United States
Iran
Mauritania
South Africa
Mexico
World Total

Reserves
2,300
2,200
2,100
1,400
700
650
400
87,000

Source: U.S. Geological Survey
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Global iron ore producers

The largest producers of iron ore are China, Australia, Brazil and India as shown in the Table below. China produces

significantly more iron ore than any other country (more than double the second largest producer Australia). From
2007 through 2010, China, Australia and India have shown an uninterrupted upward trend in iron ore production as

shown in the table below, which measures iron ore production in million metric tons for 2007-2010:

Country
China
Australia
Brazil
India
Russia
World total

2007

2008

707
299
355
180
105
2,000

2009 2010
770 880 900
330 394 420
390 300 370
200 245 260
110 92 100
2,200 2,240 2,400

Source: U.S. Geological Survey, Mineral Commodity Summaries, January 2011

The countries with the largest iron ore reserves are also home to the companies that produce the highest amount of
iron ore. According to United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) as shown in the Table
below, the largest producers are Vale, Rio Tinto and BHP Billiton. Vale and Rio Tinto, which mine in Brazil and
Australia (countries with largest reserves), produce more than any company with 255 and 172 million metric tons
respectively. BHP Billiton, which mines in Australia, follows closely behind Vale and Rio Tinto with 137 million
metric tons, while producing nearly three times more than the highest producing India miner, National Mineral

Development Corporation at 55 mmt.

Company

Rank name

1 Vale

2 Rio Tinto

3 BHP Billiton
National
Mineral
Development

4 Corporation
Anglo

5 American

6 Arcelor Mittal

7 Metalloinvest
Fortescue

8 Metal Group
System
Capital

9 Management

Largest Iron Ore Producing Companies

Country
Brazil

UK

Australia

India
UK
Luxembourg

Russia

Australia

Ukraine

Production in
million tons
per annum
255
172

137

55
43
37
35

34

27

Area
Brazil
Australia,
Canada
Australia,
Brazil

India

South Africa,
Brazil
Global
Russia

Australia

Ukraine
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Cliffs Natural Australia,
Resources USA 24 Brazil
Source:
UNCTAD

83



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

Table of Contents
Global demand for iron ore

Global demand for ore is driven by the growth of steel used in infrastructure, cars, appliances, surgical equipment, and
manufacturing in China, Europe, Japan, Korea and Taiwan. According to China Iron & Steel Association, China is
the world's leading consumer and producer of steel. China’s steel output accounted for 44.3% of the world's total
output in 2010. As shown in the Table below China imports nearly half of the world’s exported iron ore, followed by
Europe and Japan.

On September 21, 2011, Charter Resources International’s Wei Tong said, “Nearly 60 percent of China's domestic
consumption relies on import.” The Table below demonstrates the trend between imports and in country production of
iron ore for China between the years 2000 to 2010. Since 2006, as demand for ore has increased dramatically, China
has relied more on imports to meets its needs and the expectation is that this trend will continue.
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Regulations in India and China

In the first quarter of 2011, India quadrupled the export tax on ore to 20%. India also has a restriction on the export of
ore with grades above 66% iron. Currently, there is a ban on exports from the State of Karnataka in an effort by the
Government of India to curb illegal mining. China imposes a 10% export tax on iron being exported. In April 2010,
China banned the import of low-grade iron ore by traders. In October 2011, China introduced the first iron ore index
to attempt to break up the monopoly by the top three companies, Vale, Rio and BHP. Zhou Wangjun, an official with
China's National Development and Reform, claims that the new index is needed for the big surge in China’s demand.

Iron ore pricing and the future of iron ore

A report by Price Waterhouse Coopers (PwC) in 2011, titled “Mine 2011: The game has changed. Review of global
trends in the mining industry,” highlighted the following:

e The mining industry has entered a new era. Demand continues to be stoked by strong demand in emerging markets.
e The top 40 companies announced more than $300 billion of capital programs with the expenditure in 2011 more
than double that of 2010.
e Despite all the caution, in 2010, revenues increased 32% breaking $400 billion and net profits were up 156% to
$110 billion with total assets at $1 trillion.
® The cost curve has shifted to where commodity prices have permanently moved higher.

The graph below shows that compared to prices in 2003, iron ore prices have increased an average 690% by the end of
2010. This compared to other commodities like cooper, which grew 540 percent, and gold, which grew 390 percent.

Iron ore, unlike the other commodities, is not traded in the capital markets; however, it is gaining a great deal of
attention as China, India and other countries have begun record consumption. The PwC analysis also shows that
following the 2009 financial crisis, “iron ore production levels returned to 2008 levels as iron-ore producers expanded
operations and returned to full production rates.” In 2010, with demand on the rise, iron ore mines operated at full
capacity, brought major capital projects online and generated a 16% increase in production levels. Just as
impressively, the mining industry has bounced back stronger than any other sector after the 2009 financial crises. IGC
believes that as mentioned in another section, investment into this sector continues and China and India cannot hope to
become the large economies that they are projected to become without steel and iron ore.
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In line with the PwC analysis, the number 2 ranked global mining company Rio Tinto in 2011 made a similar
prediction stating ““...we expect that real long-run prices and margins for almost all minerals and metals will average
significantly higher going forward than in the decade preceding the most recent six year boom but price volatility is
also expected to be elevated - a pattern we have dubbed as the ‘saw tooth economy.” Of the top mining companies in
the world, iron ore represents the third largest source of revenue behind coal and copper, with gold coming in fourth
behind iron ore.

The Table below based on data generated by PwC shows the total revenue generated by each of the
commodities. Coal generates the largest revenue followed by copper, iron ore and gold.

Iron ore represents the largest investments in infrastructure among all commodities, including coal, copper and
gold. The graph below, based on a PwC analysis, shows the capital expenditure on mining assets by commodity and
the continuing focus on the largest three, iron ore, coal and copper.
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Tim Goldsmith, PwC Global Mining Leader, assures that the demand for iron ore is greater than it has ever been and it
will continue this trend. The price of iron ore has jumped higher than ever, and Goldsmith believes that this price gain
is not a fluke. In a Bloomberg article, Fortescue Metals’ chief executive officer, Nev Power, has advised that he is
confident that Chinese iron ore demand will support high prices. Further, on June 5, 2011, Nev Power said, “We see
China as a very strong economy continuing to go forward, developing not only the urbanization, but further beyond
that a domestic consumption base which will drive steel demand.”

Iron ore prices should remain stable, a theory supported by commodity analyst Judy H. Zhu’s forecast “For the next 15
years, we believe that iron ore prices will not return to 2009 levels.” Zhu also believes that iron ore will hover over
$200 per metric ton from 2012-2014, and may settle, at the lowest, around $124 per metric ton by 2020. The
increasing demand and price stability of iron ore can be attributed to the fact that Chinese steel production has been
increasing at an increasing rate since 1980, with a significant increase starting around 2001. The Table below depicts
the trend seen in steel production and Raw Materials Group’s prediction of continued growth. The growth in demand
is expected to average 3.3% per year from 2008 to 2020 (it was 6% from 1998 to 2008). Around 2014, it is predicted
that the demand for iron ore will pass the 2 billion ton mark. The Table below by UNCTAD, RMG shows the trend in
the demand curve of iron ore with projections to 2020.

According to a press release by UNCTAD, the Raw Materials group predicts two possible long-term outcomes:

e The first is that low-grade Chinese mines will not be able to compete with imports and mines may shut down. This
will result in an increase in import dependence, which will also result in a strong stimulus for iron ore producers
globally. This will be coupled with the seaborne trade rapidly growing, offering opportunities for new suppliers.

e The second outcome proposed by RMG is that business will continue as usual because Chinese iron ore mines will
adapt and stay competitive and/or high freight rates will provide protection. As a result, import dependency in
China will be constant.

® RMG’s overall conclusion is that the “long term future is bright” for iron ore universally.

The general view from analysts is that iron ore prices, while volatile, will not see a sustained drop in pricing. Iron ore
pricing has rebounded even higher than the pre-2009 crisis drop, and analysts expect pricing to peak over

$200. Overall, our strategy is a low investment, low cost basis strategy. We provide the value addition of taking
low-grade ore and converting it to high-grade ore through a beneficiation process. Therefore, we seek out low-grade
ore at the least possible price and put it through our beneficiation process to produce higher grade, higher demand,
higher priced, higher margin ore. Our strategy is to acquire or build beneficiation plants with access to major ports in
China.
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HK Ironman and PRC Ironman

HK Ironman is a Hong Kong-based company formed on December 20, 2010, which is the 95% equity owner of PRC
Ironman, a People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) based iron ore company founded on January 8, 2008. Before the
formation of HK Ironman, PRC Ironman was owned by Danny Qing Chang and is now owned by him through HK
Ironman. The remaining 5% of PRC Ironman is owned by its local legal representative in China, and under the
control of the board of PRC Ironman. After the Acquisition contemplated in the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC
would own 100% of HK Ironman and 95% of the operating company located in China, PRC Ironman. We refer to
HK Ironman and its subsidiary PRC Ironman in the following discussion collectively, as Ironman.

Ironman is an iron processing plant with operations in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China. Ironman
processes low-grade iron ore (3% Fe content) mixed with sand that it obtains from the hills of Inner Mongolia and
from Outer Mongolia and produces high-grade iron powder. The processing technique used by Ironman is a magnetic
separation process that consists of two parts: dry magnetic separation and wet separation. Ironman uses 19 magnets in
the dry separation process and two magnets in the wet separation process. [ronman has cultivated close relations with
the local government and has a fairly influential and respected position in the local area. Ironman’s principal
stockholder, Danny Qing Chang, is a partner at a private equity fund called Jasmine Capital located in Beijing, which
is a partnership with the Government of China. In addition, his family owns sheep farms and constructs real estate in
and around Chifeng the capital of Inner Mongolia.

Customers: Since Ironman’s launch in 2008, Ironman built its facilities and became operational in 2009. Since then it
has grown to about 20 customers in and around the Tianjin port in Eastern China. Most of Ironman’s clients are steel
mills that use high-grade iron ore directly in their facilities. The customers are recurring customers who pick up the
processed high-grade ore from Ironman’s facilities.

Human Resources: Ironman currently has a team of 120 contractors and employees. It has technical and skilled
individuals who run the plant. Its technical, marketing and accounting staff is located in Chifeng. Ironman maintains
an office in Beijing that is dedicated to marketing and customer liaison.

Strategic differentiation: Ironman differentiates itself in several ways. It is one of only four companies with
permission to operate in the Inner Mongolia region. It benefits from a preferential policy of the regional government
that promotes sustainable barren hills projects. The hills where Ironman is located have very low-grade iron deposits
mixed in desert sand. Ironman has an arrangement with the local authorities to take the sand out of the ground, put it
through magnetic separators and then through wet separators and extracts iron ore from the sand. Ironman then
replaces the sand and covers it with topsoil and plants hundreds of trees. The wastewater from the wet separator is
used to water the trees. The environmentally friendly sustainable approach to extraction and processing of ore is
markedly different from open pit mines that leave sides of mountains completely defaced and barren. For using an
approach that beatifies the barren hills and provides employment to the locals, Ironman is respected and appreciated.

Management: Ironman is run by professional managers who have Chinese public company experience. The
leadership of Ironman is set out below:

e Mr. Danny Qing Chang has been the Managing Director of Ironman since 2010 and he is a Partner at the Private
Equity firm Jasmine Capital. Mr. Chang is a serial entrepreneur having started, invested in and managed several
companies in the UK and China. He is a United Kingdom citizen who has been working in China since
2005. From 2007 to 2010, he was the CEO of the State-owned investment enterprise China Railway Huachuang
United Investment Co. Ltd. Prior to that, from 2006 to 2007, he was the Vice President of Yishang Media
Investment Co. where he oversaw investments in the media industry. Mr. Chang graduated with a Masters in
Information Technology and Business Management from the University of Glasgow in 1999. Mr. Chang speaks
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English, Mandarin and Cantonese.

Mr. Jianqun Dou founded Ironman and since 2008 has served as the Deputy Chairman. Mr. Dou has extensive
experience as an entrepreneur having started a highly successful real estate development company and a sheep
farm. Prior to this, he held several increasingly responsible positions at the Bairin Right Banner Cement Plant
rising to Deputy Secretary of the Township Party Committee, and Secretary of the General Party Bureau Branch
(Bairin Right Banner, Inner Mongolia). Mr. Dou grew up in the Inner Mongolia region and graduated with a
degree in Economics from Inner Mongolia Zhaowuda Normal Training College (aka Chifeng, College) in
1991. Mr. Dou speaks Mandarin and Mongolian.

Mr. Wei Dong Qu has been the General Manager (Chief Operating Officer) of Ironman since its inception in
2008. Mr. Qu was responsible for setting up the plant and currently his responsibilities include overseeing all
aspects of operations, sales and marketing. He has vast industry knowledge having worked at several institutions in
China including at Chifeng Metals and Minerals Industrial Products Import and Export Co. and Beijing Fulong
Plastic Co., which is a China-Singapore joint venture. Mr. Qu graduated from Dalian Institute of Light Industry in
1990 with a Bachelors in Engineering. Mr. Qu speaks Mandarin and English.

Mr. Daniel Shu Kwong Ngai has been employed by IGC in Hong Kong on a part time basis since 2007. His
responsibility includes interfacing with our Chinese iron ore customers and representing IGC in China. He has
been intimately involved with the Acquisition negotiations and due diligence on Ironman. Mr. Ngai will move to
China from Hong Kong and assume the role of Country Head for IGC. Mr. Ngai has considerable experience
managing profits and loss statements, managing SEC reporting and U.S. GAAP audit functions. He graduated from
the University of Massachusetts, cum laude, in 1991 with a B.S. in Electrical Engineering and obtained a Masters
degree from the School of Business at the George Washington University in 1999. From 1997 to 2004, he held
various positions at Startec Global Communications, a company listed on NASDAQ, including as Managing
Director of the Hong Kong subsidiary and the Canadian subsidiary where he had profits and loss statements
responsibility for over $35 million in revenue. Mr. Ngai speaks English, Mandarin and Cantonese.
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Historical Financial Information
The following is a summary of the historical financial information of PRC Ironman:

Revenue: For the fiscal years ending March 31, 2011 and 2010, Ironman’s overall revenue was $13.5 million and $5.2
million, respectively. Ironman’s revenue increased in 2011 over 2010 because the beneficiation plant was in full
operation for the entire year of fiscal 2011 and only partially operational for fiscal 2010.

Cost of Revenue: For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, the cost of revenue including depreciation was
$5.2 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

Gross Profit: For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, the gross profit from operations was
$8.3 million and $1.6 million, respectively. The gross profit margin increased because the plant has
certain operating fixed costs and, once those are covered, the gross profit and gross margin improve
rapidly. The gross margin for fiscal 2011 and 2010 was 61% and 30.9% respectively.

Interest: For fiscal years ended 2011 and 2010, the interest expenses were $67,811 and $65,812,
respectively.

Net income: For fiscal 2011 and 2010, net income was $5.97 million and $951 thousand,

respectively. These net income amounts represent net margins of 44% and 18% respectively. We expect
net income to fluctuate based on the price of iron ore and quantity produced. Net income can be effected
by inclement weather and plant shut downs.

Projected financial performance

IGC’s senior management does not as a matter of practice make detailed projections for extended periods due to the
unpredictability of the underlying assumptions and estimates. However, certain financial forecasts were prepared by
our senior management as part of the due diligence process and we have included the material projections in this
proxy statement to provide our stockholders access to certain nonpublic information provided to IGC and its Board of
Directors for purposes of considering and evaluating the Acquisition of HK Ironman. The inclusion of this
information should not be regarded as an indication that any of IGC’s management or any other recipient of this
information considered, or now considers, it to be necessarily predictive of actual future results. The projections
reflect numerous estimates and assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, economic,
regulatory, market and financial conditions, as well as matters specific to IGC’s business, many of which are beyond
IGC’s control.

These projections, in general, were prepared solely for internal use and are subjective in many respects. They are
susceptible to interpretations and periodic revision based on actual experience and business developments. As a
result, there can be no assurance that the projected results will be realized or that actual results will not be significantly
higher or lower than projected. Since the projections cover multiple years, such information by its nature is subject to
greater uncertainty with each successive year. The projections were not prepared with a view toward public disclosure
or toward complying with published guidelines of the SEC or the guidelines established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants for preparation and presentation of prospective financial information. The prospective
financial information included in this proxy statement has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of, IGC’s
management. Furthermore, the financial projections do not take into account any circumstances or events occurring
after the date they were prepared. The following projections for [ronman are based on present market conditions.

Ironman Financial Performance. The projected revenue for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2012, is approximately

$11 million with after tax earnings of approximately $5.0 million. The revenue and earnings are projected to be below
2011 because of inclement weather in the months of July, August and part of September 2011 when significant
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rainfall and flooding in China caused the PRC Ironman beneficiation plant to remain closed unavoidably for several
months. In China, rains are seasonal and expected torrential downpours that cause flooding are rare. On a
post-acquisition basis, we expect the consolidated company to grow between 50% and 60% per year, as we look to
expand to other sites and as we ship raw materials from India are shipped to China.
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Ironman Short/Medium Growth Projections. We have a three-pronged approach to achieve rapid growth in the short

and medium term: (i) expansion of the current facility, (ii) use of raw material shipped from India, and (iii)
consolidation of other processing plants:

. Expansion of current beneficiation facility: The plant currently runs 19 magnetic separators. We intend to increase
this number to enhance production. The plant currently processes about seven million tons of sand to extract
100,000 tons of high-grade ore, which process utilizes the following: 35 trucks of sand are put through the 19 dry
magnetic separators to produce one truck of low-grade ore. Two trucks of low-grade ore are put through the wet
separators to produce about one truck of high-grade ore. Therefore, approximately, 70 trucks of sand mixed with
ore are put through the plant to produce one truckload of high-grade ore. Increasing the number of dry magnetic
separators can expand this process.

. Raw material shipped from India: Ironman currently utilizes approximately 70 trucks to produce one truckload of
high-grade ore because the raw materials available to Ironman today are sand mixed with 3% ore. India has a large
supply of ore that is between 45% and 55% iron content. By using raw material that has significantly higher
concentration of iron, the efficiency of the plant can be dramatically improved. For example, instead of 70
truckloads of raw material to make one truckload of high-grade ore, we estimate that the use of two truckloads or
three truckloads of raw material to make one truckload of high-grade iron ore.

. Consolidation of other processing plants: Several other plants located near Ironman, as well as similar plants are
located near other shipping ports. Our expansion plan includes making more acquisitions of area plants to increase
our production, efficiency and market share. We have not held detailed acquisition talks with other plant owners,

but our board has approved making more acquisitions as part of our overall strategy.
Board of Directors’ Due Diligence Process

The IGC Board of Directors considered the scope of the due diligence investigation conducted by management and
IGC’s advisors and evaluated the results thereof, including the information contained in Stock Purchase
Agreement. The IGC board also took note of the coverage of identified risk areas in the representations and
warranties in the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Experience of Our Board Members. Two of our board members, Ram Mukunda and Richard Prins, are
highly-experienced in matters involving valuation of companies and performance of the requisite due diligence to
arrive at such valuations.

Our Chief Executive Officer, Ram Mukunda has 15 years of international experience acquiring and integrating
acquisitions. He has led teams that conducted due diligence, valuations, made acquisitions and integrated minority
and majority stakes of companies in the U.S., India, Germany, France, Hong Kong, Guam and Canada. He has led
and managed several multimillion-dollar international business transactions involving high growth, business
restructuring, turn around, cost reduction, corporate governance and off-shoring strategies. He has led public

companies through capital raises, high growth, restructuring, involving both organic and inorganic expansion. He has
been on the sell-side and buy-side of an acquisition. His experience has helped him gain valuable insight in creating

business models, evaluating risk, conducting due diligence and the principals of evaluating and valuing businesses.

Our board member Richard Prins, over the past 27 years, has been involved in valuing companies, rendering fairness

opinions, conducting due diligence and practically all services related to mergers and acquisitions. Specifically, he

analyzed and valued companies for five years at the leveraged buyout firm of Tuscarora Corporation. For eight years,

he led the investment banking team at Crestar Financial Corporation that conducted valuations and due diligence as

well as helped companies acquire and sell businesses. For eleven years, he was involved in all aspects of mergers and
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acquisitions at the firm of Ferris, Baker Watts, as the Director of Investment Banking.
In conducting due diligence and arriving at a valuation, we retained the services of the following:

e The firm of UKCA Law Chambers (UKCA), a 25-year old law firm having an India-wide presence and is one of
the foremost law firms in India having represented and advised more than 500 Indian and foreign
companies. UKCA is also the legal counsel for the OTC Exchange and the Delhi Stock Exchange in India and has
teams that specialize in conducting legal due diligence, negotiating and drafting agreements for mergers and
acquisitions. The lead partner, Mr. Sameer Chaudhary, graduated in Law from Delhi University and graduated with
a masters in corporate and commercial law from King’s College, London. He is also a qualified Barrister-at-Law
and is a member of the Honourable Society of Lincoln’s Inn in the United Kingdom. Mr. Saurabh Kalia, also a
Partner, is a graduate in law from Delhi University and is a qualified Company Secretary. He has extensive
experience in mergers and acquisitions, having advised multinationals all over Asia. The firm was responsible for
drafting the Stock Purchase Agreement and reviewing the legal due diligence conducted by the Chinese law firm of
Gaopeng & Partners.

e The law firm of Gaopeng & Partners based in the China conducted the legal due diligence of Ironman in
China. The firm was founded in 1998 and provides legal services in the areas of mergers and acquisitions, public
market listing services and more. The lead partner, Mr. Xiaoming Xie, graduated from China University of
Political Science and Law with a degree in Law and earned a Masters in Law (LL.M.) from Manchester University
in England under a Chevening Scholarship. Mr. Xie has assisted several multinational firms and specifically U.S.
listed firms with conducting due diligence through acquisition. Ms. Tang Qing, an Associate, graduated from
China University of Political Science and Law with a Bachelor’s degree in Law and a Masters in Law. Prior to
joining Gaopeng & Partners, Ms. Qing worked for the DLA Piper, the largest law firm in the world, in Beijing,
practicing overseas listings, listing company compliance, mergers and acquisitions, venture capital and private
equity investment. Ms. Qing has worked with several high profile Chinese overseas listings and Chinese SEC
clients as well as assisting large U.S. high technology companies with Chinese acquisitions. Ms. Nina Wang, an
associate, also assisted with the due diligence. Ms. Wang graduated from the University of Science and
Technology Liaoning with a Bachelor’s degree in Law and subsequently earned a Masters in Law (LL.M.) from
University of Leicester, United Kingdom. Before joining Gaopeng & Partners, Ms. Wang worked at Beijing
Junyou & Partners, where she worked on investments, acquisitions, business negotiations and corporate matters
involving several fortune 500 companies of the world.

e The PCAOB listed audit firm of Shanghai Zhonghaua conducted the two-year U.S. GAAP audit of [ronman. The
lead partner, Ella Zhu, is a big U.S. accounting firm trained auditor. Ms. Zhu has extensive experience with
Chinese and U.S. GAAP audits as well as formations of equity joint ventures and wholly-owned foreign enterprises
in a variety of industries. She has conducted audits on public companies listed in China, US, UK and
Germany. Ms. Zhu has a Masters degree in Accounting from Shanghai Academy of Social Science.
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In addition to the above, we engaged the India-based advisory services firm to provide advice on the Stock Purchase
Agreement, SEC filings, and to review the audits and the due diligence. IGC anticipates that this firm will continue to
play a key role in ensuring that [ronman’s disclosures and IGC’s filings are compliant. Based on the extensive
resources devoted to evaluating and conducting due diligence of our acquisition candidate, we decided not to devote
additional resources and engage an investment bank to render a fairness opinion, instead we relied on the team
consisting of Ram Mukunda, Richard Prins and our advisors to value the company.

Due Diligence. Our Board of Directors’ approach to valuing Ironman consisted first of an analysis of the materials
sector in India and in China and the opportunity for expanding our business. Our analysis included analyzing
historical growth, future growth, competitive landscape, market size and an analysis of the companies that are publicly
traded on the Indian and Chinese stock market. Our Board then analyzed the U.S. market for comparable companies
and considered the multiples at which the U.S. companies trade on the U.S. stock exchange. Our Board also
considered, qualitatively, the different types of risks including:

e Country/political risk consists of the likelihood that our business would be affected adversely from mass riots, civil
war, currency devaluation, regulatory changes etc. While this risk would apply to all companies in India or in
China its impact on the materials sector could be more than a sector like information technology (IT) or contract
manufacturing. For example, civil disturbance is likely to hurt our business, versus a business in I'T, which might
have site diversity.

e PRC Ironman’s Unpaid Taxes. PRC Ironman is arrears in its income taxed due to underreporting income in
China. PRC Ironman has approximately $7 million in cash currently and is due up to $4 million in contingent
payments from IGC if this Acquisition closes with which it could pay its tax deficiencies if needed. PRC Ironman
is optimistic that this matter will settle for less than $7 million but this mater cannot be free from doubt at this
time. The local authorities in China have orally agreed that they will release the company from some of its tax
liability.

e Currency risk consists of risk associated with the relative value of the Indian Rupee, PRC’s Renminbi (“RMB”) versus
the U.S. dollar. This is because all pricing is set in USD. The risk is especially pointed as conventional wisdom
says that the RMB is undervalued. The trend in the past six months has been for the RMB to strengthen slightly
against the USD and for the international normalized ratio (“INR”) to weaken considerably against the
USD. Therefore, sales are in a currency that is relatively stable against the USD and the costs of raw materials are
in a currency that is weaker against the USD. This trend is advantageous to IGC. However, a dramatic reversal
would work against us.

e Labor risk consists of risk associated with labor. This is an important risk factor as certain aspects of the business
depend on a large unskilled labor-force. We determined that this risk while real was a risk factor that potentially
could be controlled.

e Risk associated with clients (collection risk) is manageable. On the one hand, all of IGC’s customers in China pay
with Letters of Credit whereas all of Ironman’s customers pay in cash. The business will have to be managed to
ensure that the working capital requirements are kept to a minimum by using a combination of Letters of Credit and
traditional credit.

Based on the market outlook and a qualitative analysis of risk the board decided that the Acquisition would be very

attractive to our stockholders. We used three methodologies: (i) peer group multiples, (ii) comparable transaction and
(iii) discounted cash flow, for valuing Ironman.
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Public Peer Group. The valuation of HK Ironman is complicated by the fact of the consolidation of PRC Ironman into
HK Ironman on January 18, 2011. Therefore, the Financial Statements reflect less than three months of operations of
PRC Ironman. We therefore valued PRC Ironman instead of HK Ironman and took as a value accretive to IGC as
95% of the value we calculated for PRC Ironman because HK Ironman owns 95% of PRC Ironman.
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The first approach that we used was to evaluate a group of public companies that trade on markets in the U.S., China,
India and Australia. The table below lists some of the companies we looked at as a public peer group. Some
companies have much larger revenue and an asset base of iron deposits. Some companies trade at very high multiples,
Orissa Mining Corp for example has revenue of about $20 million and a market capitalization of $521 million and
trades at a P/E multiple of 180. On the other hand, Sesa Goa one of the dominant players in India trades at a multiple
of 4.2 mainly because of the clamp down on illegal mining that has affected iron ore exports from India.

Revenue for ~ Market Cap P/E (TTM)

FYE March % (source
Name of Company 31,2011 ($) October 2011  Bloomberg)
Sesa Goa (India) 1.99B 3.4B 4.5
Orissa Mining (India) 20M 521M 180
Cliffs Natural Resources
(USA) 8.7B 154
Adani Enterprise Ltd. (India) 5.4B 10B 19.9
Bailadila Mines (India) 2.3B 18B 13.76
Chongging Iron & Steel (PRC) 2.6B 693M 249
Ironman (PRC) 13-14 M 5-6 M 1.2

Based on detailed discussions with the management of Ironman, we developed a model of Ironman’s fiscal years 2012,
2013 and 2014 revenue and earnings based on contracts in hand not including any revenue enhancement from a

supply of low-grade ore from India. Based on the audit for fiscal yearend March 31, 2011, earnings of Ironman
adjusted for extraordinary income was $5.9 M. Applying the average P/E multiple for the peer group of 13 leads to a
valuation of $77.61 M. We are, however, acquiring 95% of PRC Ironman, therefore the valuation would be $73.73

M. We further modified the aggregate value of $73.73 million using three factors: (i) a private company discount
factor, (ii) a scale factor and (iii) a control premium factor. Each is discussed below. The private company discount
factor is generally arrived at using:

e Market liquidity: As Ironman is private, its stock is illiquid contributing to a discount in its value over the value
calculated using public market metrics.

e (Capital structure: Ironman is relatively unleveraged compared to its public company counterparts. However, it
does not have established bank lines like its public counterparts and this contributes to a discount over public
market multiples.

e Profitability: Ironman is very profitable however, it does not have a long history of operations and
profitability. Further, it has been run to minimize tax liability; we would expect to run it as public company
seeking to maximize profit, which results in a discount over public company multiples.

e QOperations: The peer group, while in the same industry as Ironman, tends to have products, services and revenue
mix that are broader than Ironman, which results in a discount over the public market multiples.

e Scale: Ironman is smaller than the public market peer group resulting in a different risk profile. While IGC will
provide raw material and a quicker way to grow, the risk of scaling operations will remain, which also results in a

discount over the public market multiples.

We qualitatively assessed the discount factor for the first four factors (market liquidity, capital structure, profitability
and operations) at 35%. For the fifth factor, Scale, we added an additional 35%, which we arrived at analyzing the
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trading discount of smaller companies over the average. In the case of Ironman, we are purchasing a controlling
interest by purchasing 95% of the company. Typical control premiums are between 10% and 20%, as estimated by
our advisors. We used the premium at the lower end of the range of 10%. Combining all three of the factors, we
arrived at an overall private market discount of 60% for Ironman, compared to the public peer group. Applying this
discount, we arrived at a value of $24.3 million for the IGC ownership in Ironman. This corresponds to a P/E multiple
of about four. Based on IGC’s stock price on the day the Stock Purchase Agreement was signed (October 14, 2011),
we are paying a multiple of approximately 1.1.
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Comparable Transactions. This is an analysis that involves a review of merger, acquisition and asset purchase
transactions involving target companies that are in industries related to [ronman. This type of analysis generally
provides a wide range of values because of the varying importance of an acquisition to a buyer. For example, a
strategic buyer may be willing to pay more than a financial buyer. In addition, there are potential differences in the
transaction process based on how competitive a bid may become. Information involving private buyers and sellers are
not typically disclosed unless they involve a public company and the transaction is deemed material. Further, most of
the private transactions involve companies that have mining licenses or prospecting licenses. As a result, the selected
comparable transaction analysis is very limited and we did not apply this methodology to this Acquisition.

Discounted Cash Flow. The third methodology used was a discounted cash flow (DCF) methodology. A DCF
estimates value based upon a company’s free cash flow discounted at a rate reflecting risks inherent in its business and
capital structure. The analysis used unlevered free cash flow after estimated capital expenditures. This represents the
amount of cash generated and available for interest, principal and dividend payments after providing for ongoing
business operations and capital expenditures. While a DCF analysis is the most scientific of the methodologies used,
it is dependent on projections and numerous industry specific and macroeconomic factors.

A standard DCF analysis was used to determine the value of Ironman’s equity on the basis of its financial results and
projected estimates of revenue and net profit for the fiscal years ending March 31, 2013 through March 31, 2018. We
used the fiscal year 2013, as we expect the acquisition to close in the last quarter of the fiscal year ending March 31,
2012; thus, 2013 will be the first full year of joint operations. We used 2018 because the license to operate the plant
goes through the fiscal year ending March 31, 2018. Key inputs used in the DCF analysis were the projections for
revenue and net profit for the next six fiscal years and the cost of equity for the company using standard market

data. The key assumptions for projecting revenue and profit were a) iron ore pricing at $135 per metric ton, this is the
lowest value in the past 12 months, the high has been $180 per metric ton, there is no way to be certain of the pricing
but most analysts believe that pricing will not go below the $135-$140 range, b) maintenance Cap X of $1,500,000
over six years, c¢) continuing global and Chinese demand for ore, d) a discount rate of 49% as explained below, e) a
terminal value for the equipment of $1,000,000. Factors not considered are the following: a) the benefits or synergies
drawn from shipping ore from India, which would result in a dramatic improvement in output, b) stock based
compensation as no stock will be given out at the subsidiary level, ¢) uncertainty with respect to cash flow is included
in the discount rate.

The discount rate was determined using the Company’s weighted average cost of capital and the cost of equity was
derived using the Capital Asset Pricing Model. In addition, we made adjustments for illiquidity and added 30% for
uncertainty of the cash flow (this also compensates for a potential decrease in the pricing of ore). The aggregate
discount rate that we applied was 49%. At a discount rate of 49% the model yields a valuation of $12.5 million. On
the day that we announced the acquisition our stock price was at $.18 per share. Assuming this value for the shares
that we are allocating for this acquisition and $1 million payout, but not including any earn outs, our acquisition price
is about $6.67 million. These three valuation methodologies are relevant in their own way and provide useful
information; we combined the peer group analysis and the DCF analyses, allocating each analysis an equal weight of
50%. Based on the analysis described the board recommended that the acquisition, as providing our stockholders
considerable value. The results are summarized below.

Valuation
Peer Group $24.3
million
Discounted Cash Flow  $12.5
million
Average Valuation $18.4
million
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Purchase price based on  $6.67
the closing stock price on million
October 14, 2011.

Any estimates contained in the analysis were not necessarily indicative of actual values or predictive of future results
or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than as set forth in the analysis. In addition, analyses
relating to the value of businesses do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which businesses actually
may be sold.

Appraisal or Dissenters Rights

No appraisal rights are available under the Maryland General Corporation Law for our stockholders in connection

with the Share Issuance Proposal.
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U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Acquisition

As the stockholders of IGC are not receiving any consideration or exchanging any of their outstanding securities in
connection with the Acquisition, and are simply being asked to vote on the matter, it is not expected that you will have
any U.S. federal income tax related issues as a result of voting on these matters. We urge you to consult your own tax
advisors regarding your particular tax consequences.

Regulatory Approvals

The Acquisition and related transactions are not subject to any federal or state regulatory requirement or approval,
including the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

The PRC has no regulatory impediment to the transactions proposed in the Stock Purchase Agreement and no
advanced permission is required apart from the pending approval of PRC Ironman’s business license, which was
amended to reflect the conversion to EJV status following the January 2011 acquisition of the PRC Ironman by HK
Ironman.

Consequences if Share Issuance Proposal is Not Approved
If stockholders do not approve the Share Issuance Proposal, we will not acquire [ronman.
The Stock Purchase Agreement

The summary of the material terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement below and elsewhere in this proxy statement is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the Stock Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this proxy
statement as Annex A and which we incorporate by reference into this proxy statement. This summary does not
purport to be complete and may not contain all of the information about the Stock Purchase Agreement that is
important to you. We encourage you to carefully read the Stock Purchase Agreement in its entirety.

The Stock Purchase Agreement has been included to provide you with information regarding its terms. It is not
intended to provide any other information about IGC, HK Ironman and PRC Ironman. Such information can be found
elsewhere in this proxy statement and in the other public filings IGC makes with the SEC, which are available without
charge at www.sec.gov. The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Stock Purchase Agreement
were made only for purposes of that agreement and as of specific dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, and may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the contracting parties, including being
qualified by confidential disclosures made for the purposes of allocating contractual risk between the parties to the
Stock Purchase Agreement instead of establishing these matters as facts, and may be subject to standards of
materiality applicable to the contracting parties that differ from those applicable to investors. Investors are not
third-party beneficiaries under the Stock Purchase Agreement and should not rely on the representations, warranties
and covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of IGC, HK
Ironman and PRC Ironman or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the
subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement,
which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in this proxy statement or in other public disclosures
by IGC.

Acquisition of HK Ironman. HK Ironman is a Hong Kong-based company formed on December 20, 2010, for the

purpose of holding the shares of the operating company PRC Ironman. In December 2010, 95% of the shares of PRC
Ironman were transferred to the holding company HK Ironman. A local Chinese person who is the designated legal
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representative of PRC Ironman holds the remaining 5% of the shares of PR Ironman. On October 14, 2011, IGC
entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement) with BVI Ironman, stockholders of BVI
Ironman, HK Ironman, stockholders of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman and stockholders of PRC Ironman
(collectively, the “Ironman‘’), pursuant to which IGC will acquire 100,000 shares directly from the stockholders of HK
Ironman. At the conclusion of this transaction, IGC will own 100% of HK Ironman and consequently 95% of its
operating subsidiary, PRC Ironman.

The Stock Purchase Agreement provides for the Acquisition of 100% of the outstanding equity of HK Ironman upon
the terms, and subject to the conditions, of the Stock Purchase Agreement. IGC will continue to exist following the
Acquisition and will be the 100% owner of HK Ironman. Upon consummation of the Acquisition, the former majority
stockholder of HK Ironman will become a director of IGC, subject to IGC stockholder approval (see Proposal 2 in this
proxy statement) and become the majority stockholder of IGC. It is anticipated that all directors and officers of IGC
will hold their positions until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or their earlier
death, resignation or removal for a minimum of the next three years.
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Effective Time. The closing of the Acquisition will take place following a successful vote FOR the Share Issuance
Proposal by the stockholders of IGC. We expect to complete the Acquisition as soon as practicable after our
stockholders approve the issuance of the Exchange Shares and all other conditions to closing have been satisfied or
waived. The conditions of the closing of the Acquisition are described in the section of this proxy statement entitled
“Summary of the Term Sheet -- Conditions to the Stock Exchange.”

Share Issuance Proposal Consideration. At closing, the stockholders of HK Ironman will receive 31,500,000 shares
(the “Exchange Shares”) of common stock of IGC. While the value of the Exchange Shares will depend on the price of
IGC shares on the date of closing, neither the number of Exchange Shares, nor the amount of any other consideration,
will be adjusted at closing. The purchase price of HK Ironman, calculated on the date of the execution of the Stock
Purchase Agreement, was approximately $5,670,000, based on a stock price of $0.18 per share that day. In addition,
under the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC has agreed to file a registration statement to register the Exchange Shares
for resale within 60 days of the closing of the Acquisition. See also “Additional Consideration” and “Compensation
Shares” below.

Additional Consideration; Contingent Cash Payments; Earn Out. The Stock Purchase Agreement provides for the
contingent payment of up to $4 million by IGC which is payable among three separate mechanisms.

e First, the Stock Purchase Agreement provides for a contingent cash payment in the amount of $1,000,000 to be paid
by IGC to the former stockholders of HK Ironman within 30 days of the Closing Date contingent on the satisfaction
of post-closing conditions. These post-closing conditions include among others, the election and appointment of
IGC directors on the boards of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman, the appointment of IGC personnel on the bank
accounts of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman and the filing of appropriate ownership documents with the government
as required.

e Second, the Stock Purchase Agreement provides for the payment by IGC to the former HK Ironman stockholders of
$1,500,000, which receipt is contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of at least 30% from the previous year’s
closing audit (i.e., March 31, 2011) in cash or stock paid, based on the U.S. GAAP audited financial statements for
fiscal year March 31, 2012, at the sole discretion of the full board of IGC.

e Third, the Stock Purchase Agreement provides for the payment by IGC to the former HK Ironman stockholders of
$1,500,000, which receipt is contingent on IGC achieving earnings growth of at least 30% from the previous year’s
closing audit (i.e., March 31, 2011) in cash or stock paid, based on the U.S. GAAP audited financial statements for
fiscal year March 31, 2013, at the sole discretion of the full board of IGC.

However, in the event that the Company does not achieve a 30% year-over-year growth (i.e., if either of the foregoing
annual earnings targets is missed), the total earn out of $3,000,000 will still be paid by IGC if it achieves an overall
cumulative earnings growth of 69% between FYE 2011 and FYE 2013. In no event would the earn out amount
exceed a total of $3,000,000 under this alternative formula.

The Compensation Shares. The Stock Purchase Agreement contemplates paying out an additional 3,150,000 shares of
IGC common stock to the combined management of both IGC and HK Ironman (the “Compensation Shares™). The
Compensation Shares are an incentive to the two companies’ officers and directors who remain one year following the
closing of the Acquisition to work towards the successful integration of the combined company. The Compensation
Shares are a post-closing performance bonus, which would be shared 50-50 between IGC’s and HK Ironman’s officers
and directors, as each company’s board of directors determines.

Representations and Warranties. In the Stock Purchase Agreement, IGC made representations and warranties relating
to, among other things:
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e [GC is duly organized, validly existing, in good standing and its capitalization is as disclosed;
e |GC’s subsidiaries are properly described in Exhibit 3 of the Stock Purchase Agreement;
e IGC’s tax records and books are in all material respect complete and correct;
¢ IGC has not failed to disclose actions, suits, proceedings, etc.;
¢ |GC is not in default on any material contract or commitment;
¢ IGC has not made any untrue statement or omitted material facts in its disclosures;
IGC has good and marketable titled to its assets, as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement, and has not infringed
on any rights or intellectually property;
IGC has no material contracts, agreements or franchises outstanding and is not a party to any contracts, agreements
or instrument that would materially and adversely affect IGC;
¢ IGC has complied with all material contracts or agreements between IGC and other parties;
The execution of the Stock Purchase Agreement did not violate any other contract, mortgage, instrument or
indenture;
e [GC possesses of all necessary licenses required to permit IGC to conduct its operations;
IGC is the lawful owner of the Exchange Shares and can convey valid title free and clear of encumbrances; and
A special committee of disinterested directors of IGC’s Board of Directors has approved and approved the
Acquisition, as contemplated in the Stock Purchase Agreement.
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The Stock Purchase Agreement also contains representations and warranties made by the stockholders of HK
Ironman, by HK Ironman and PRC Ironman relating to, among other things:

e HK Ironman is owned and controlled by Mr. Danny Chang;
The stockholders of HK Ironman acknowledge that the Exchange Shares may not be sold or distributed without
compliance with U.S. securities laws;
The stockholders of HK Ironman acknowledge that Exchange Shares would be issued pursuant to exemptions from
registration under U.S. securities laws on the basis there was no public offering or general solicitation in connection
thereto;
The stockholders of HK Ironman acknowledge that they are not U.S. persons as defined in the Securities Act of
1933, as amended;
Neither the SEC nor any U.S. federal or state agency has approved or reviewed the validity of the Exchange Shares’

issuance;
e Neither HK Ironman nor its stockholders will engage in short selling of the Exchange Shares; and
e The Exchange Shares certificates will bear a restrictive legend.

Several of the representations and warranties are qualified by materiality or material adverse effect.

Indemnification. Ironman has agreed to hold IGC and its representatives, successors and permitted assigns harmless
for any damages, whether as a result of any third party or otherwise, and which arise from or in connection with any
breach by the Ironman of any representations, warranties, covenants or obligations under the Stock Purchase
Agreement.

Conditions to the Completion of the Acquisition. The obligations of IGC and Ironman are subject to certain
customary closing conditions, which are summarized in part here:

Each party’s obligation to close the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver if permissible under applicable
law) of the following conditions:

No governmental entity shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation,
executive order, decree, injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect
and that has the effect of making the acquisition illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the acquisition
substantially on the terms contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement;

Completion of a business, financial, accounting tax, technical, legal and regulatory due diligence to the reasonable
satisfaction of both parties;

Since the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement, among each of the parties, there must not have been any change,
event, occurrence, circumstance or effect which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
have a material adverse effect including no action, suit or proceeding shall exist that is reasonably likely to prevent
the Acquisition or cause rescission of the Acquisition following closing;

The stockholders and boards of directors of both parties shall have approved the transactions outlined in the Stock
Purchase Agreement; and

None of the transactions contemplated hereby are disapproved by any regulatory authority whose approval is
required to consummate such transactions.

104



51

Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

105



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

Table of Contents

The obligation of IGC to close the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver if permissible under applicable
law) of the following conditions:

e HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and their stockholders must have performed in all material respects all obligations that
are to be performed by each of them under the Stock Purchase Agreement;

e HK Ironman and PRC Ironman must have provided details of the bank accounts maintained by the companies in
PRC and Hong Kong;

e Each of the representations and warranties made by HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and Mr. Chang, as set forth in the
Stock Purchase Agreement, disregarding all qualifications and exceptions contained in the Stock Purchase
Agreement relating to materiality or material adverse effect being true and correct as of the date of the Stock
Purchase Agreement and as of the effective time of the transaction (except to the extent made as of a specific date),
except where the failure to be true and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be
expected to have a material adverse effect;

e HK Ironman, PRC Ironman and Mr. Chang must have performed in all material respects all of its covenants and
agreements required to be performed by them under the Stock Purchase Agreement at or prior to the closing date;
and

e HK Ironman and PRC Ironman shall have been furnished an IGC officer’s certificate with certain representations
and warranties.

The obligation of HK Ironman to close the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver if permissible under
applicable law) of the following conditions:

e |GC shall have obtained all consents, waivers, permits and approvals required in connection with the consummation
of the Acquisition if failure to obtain the same would be reasonably expected to cause a material adverse effect;

e [GC shall have been furnished an HK Ironman and PRC Ironman’s officer’s certificate with certain representation
and warranties;

e Each of the representations and warranties made by IGC, as set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement,
disregarding all qualifications and exceptions contained in the Stock Purchase Agreement relating to materiality or
material adverse effect being true and correct as of the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement and as of the effective
time of the transaction (except to the extent made as of a specific date), except where the failure to be true and
correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect;

¢ |GC shall have been furnished an IGC officer’s certificate with certain representations and warranties; and

e IGC have performed in all material respects all of its covenants and agreements required to be performed by
them under the Stock Purchase Agreement at or prior to the closing date.

Termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement

The Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the consummation of the transaction, whether
before or after stockholder approval has been obtained:

¢ by mutual written consent of IGC and HK Ironman;
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¢ by either IGC and HK Ironman if:
o any order, decree or ruling permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Stock
Purchase Agreement shall become final and non-appealable; provided, that the party seeking to terminate the Stock
Purchase Agreement has not breached in any material respect its obligations to use reasonable best efforts to cause

the Stock Purchase Agreement to be consummated;

o the IGC stockholders do not approve the Share Issuance Proposal at the Special Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof; and

o other party is not satisfied with its due diligence review of the other parties.
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¢ by HK Ironman, if:

o IGC has breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements under the
Stock Purchase Agreement;

e by IGC, if:

o either HK Ironman, PRC Ironman or Danny Chang has breached or failed to perform any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or agreements under the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

o by IGC, if the transaction is disapproved by any regulatory authority whose approval is required to close the
Acquisition.

Effect of Termination. In the event the Stock Purchase Agreement is terminated, certain confidentiality and
indemnification obligations will survive the termination. With respect to termination by mutual agreement or
otherwise in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Stock Purchase Agreement, such termination shall not
create liability for either party.

Election of Officers and Directors. The Stock Purchase Agreement addresses the election of the officers and directors
in relation to IGC as well as HK Ironman and PRC Ironman following the closing of the Acquisition, as follows:

e [GC will have the right to appoint, and the stockholders of HK Ironman will support three out of five members of
the Board of Directors. This right shall last for a period of three years following the Acquisition.

e Ram Mukunda shall continue as the Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of IGC.

e [GC will be entitled to designate the chief financial officer of IGC, HK Ironman and PRC Ironman during the first
three years following the closing of the Acquisition while IGC has a majority of the Board of Directors’ seats.

¢ |GC nominees will control the IGC Board of Directors for three years, as the stockholders of HK Ironman receiving
IGC stock have to vote their shares in favor of IGC to elect or replace its nominees to the Board of Directors of
IGC.

e [GC’s Board of Directors will have five directors and IGC stockholders will nominate three directors while Mr.
Chang will nominate two directors; the parties will adhere to SEC and NYSE Amex rules on the nomination
process and independence.

e During the first three years following the closing of the Acquisition, IGC will control the board of directors for both
HK Ironman and PRC Ironman. IGC will nominate a majority of directors to the board of directors of both HK
Ironman and PRC Ironman. The quorum for board meetings of HK Ironman and PRC Ironman will be in
accordance with the respective companies’ bylaws and applicable local laws.

e For the first three years following this closing, IGC will supervise and manage U.S. GAAP and SEC
financial reporting, bank accounts in China as well nominating auditors. The parties have agreed further
that IGC will nominate the person responsible for control over financial reporting and disclosure for each of
HK Ironman and PRC Ironman.

Employment agreements. IGC’s Compensation Committee will recommend to the Board of IGC any changes to the
Employment Agreement of our CEO and President after the Acquisition is completed. No discussions on the
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employment agreement have taken place as the date of this filing.

Fees and Expenses. Whether or not the Acquisition closes, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the
Acquisition and the other transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement will be paid by the party
incurring such expense.

Recommendation

For the reasons described above, among others, we believe that the Acquisition is attractively valued. Accordingly,
after careful consideration, our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the Share Issuance Proposal.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT THE STOCKHOLDERS VOTE “FOR”
THE SHARE ISSUANCE PROPOSAL.
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PROPOSAL 2: THE ELECTION PROPOSAL

General. Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes (Class A, Class B and Class C) with only one class of
directors being elected in each year and each class serving a three-year term. The term of office of the Class A
directors, consisting currently of only Mr. Sudhakar Shenoy, will expire at the 2014 annual meeting of

stockholders. The term of office of the Class B directors, currently consisting of Mr. Richard Prins and Dr. Ranga
Krishna, will expire at the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders. The term of office of the Class C director, currently
consisting of Mr. Ram Mukunda, will expire at the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders. These individuals have
played a key role in identifying and evaluating prospective acquisition candidates, selecting the target businesses, and
structuring, negotiating and consummating acquisitions.

The NYSE Amex, upon which the Company is listed, requires that the majority of IGC’s Board be independent. The
NYSE Amex listing standards define an “independent director” generally as a person, other than an officer or an
employee of a company, who does not have a relationship with the company that would interfere with the director’s
exercise of independent judgment. Consistent with these standards, the Board of Directors has determined that
Messrs. Krishna, Prins and Shenoy are independent directors. After the Acquisition and the approval by the IGC
stockholders of this Proposal 2, Mr. Danny Qing Chang would join the board as a Class A director with a term to
expire at the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders. According to the NYSE Amex rules, Mr. Chang will not be
considered as an independent director.

At the Special Meeting, one Class A director will be voted on to serve until the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders
or until a successor for such director is elected and qualified, or until the death, resignation or removal of such
director. There is only one nominee for the Board of Directors in this special election. Although the nomination and
appointment of Mr. Chang to the Board of Directors is not required to be submitted to a vote of the stockholders until
the 2012 annual meeting, the Board of Directors believes it appropriate to request that the stockholders elect Mr.
Chang to the Board of Directors presently, conditioned upon the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal. Regarding
Mr. Chang’s right, pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, to nominate a second director, Mr. Chang has agreed to
withhold this nomination until the 2013 annual meeting in connection with the election of the Class B directors.

Mr. Chang has agreed to serve, if elected, and the Board of Directors has no reason to believe that the nominee will be
unavailable or will decline to serve. In the event, however, that the nominee is unable or declines to serve as a
director at the time of the annual meeting, the proxies will be voted for any nominee who is designated by the current
Board of Directors to fill the vacancy. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote the proxies received
by them “FOR” the following nominee:

Danny Qing Chang, 41, has been the Managing Director of HK Ironman since December 20, 2010. Mr. Chang also is
a partner at the private equity firm Jasmine Capital. Mr. Chang is a serial entrepreneur having begun, invested in and
managed several companies in the UK and China. He is a United Kingdom citizen who has been working in China
since 2005. From February 2007 to January 2010, Mr. Chang was the CEO of the state-owned investment enterprise
China Railway Huachuang United Investment Co. Ltd. Prior to that, from January 2006 to February 2007, he was the
Vice President of Yishang Media Investment Co. where he oversaw investments in the media industry. From January
2005 to January 2006, he was an investor and CEO at Tu Sheng Wang LuoJiShu You Xian Gong Si, a medical
consulting network in China. Prior to that, from January 2003 to January 2005, he was the Founder and Managing
Director of UK Chinatown Group a China British trading platform for promoting business between the United
Kingdom and China. Mr. Chang graduated with a Masters in Information Technology and Business Management
from the University of Glasgow in 1999. Mr. Chang speaks English, Mandarin and Cantonese. Mr. Chang’s extensive
business contacts in China and his experience in investment banking venture capital and private equity would make
him a highly effective board member.
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The Election Proposal is conditioned upon and subject to the approval of the Share Issuance Proposal. If the Share
Issuance Proposal is not approved, the Election Proposal will not be consummated and our current directors will
continue to comprise our Board of Directors.

The following is a biographical description of each of the members of our board of directors and our executive
officers:

Dr. Ranga Krishna has served as a non-executive Chairman of the Board since December 15, 2005 and as a director
since May 25, 2005. As of June 30, 2010, he was the largest IGC stockholder. Since 1998, Dr. Krishna has served as
the founder and CEO of Rising Sun Holding, LLC, a $120 million construction and land banking company located in
New Jersey. In September 1999, Dr. Krishna co-founded Fastscribe, Inc., an Internet-based medical and legal
transcription company with its operations in India with more than 200 employees. He has served as a director of
Fastscribe since September 1999. He is currently the Managing Partner. In February 2003, Dr. Krishna founded
International Pharma Trials, Inc., a company with operations in India and more than 150 employees, which assists
U.S. pharmaceutical companies performing Phase II clinical trials in India. He is currently the Chairman and CEO of
that company. In April 2004, Dr. Krishna founded Global Medical Staffing Solutions, Inc., a company that recruits
nurses and other medical professionals from India and places them in U.S. hospitals. Dr. Krishna is currently serving
as the Chairman and CEO of that company. On November 7, 2008, he joined the board of TransTech Service
Partners, a SPAC, which initiated liquidation on May 23, 2009. Dr. Krishna is a member of several organizations,
including the American Academy of Neurology and the Medical Society of the State of New York. He is also a
member of the Medical Arbitration panel for the New York State Worker's Compensation Board. Dr. Krishna was
trained at New York's Mount Sinai Medical Center (1991-1994) and New York University (1994-1996). As shown
above, Dr. Krishna has founded several other companies that conduct business in India and has developed
relationships, over the years, with Indian government officials and Indian business leaders. Dr. Krishna’s in-depth
knowledge and long experience in both U.S. and Indian business make him an effective board member.
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Mr. Richard Prins has served as our Director since May 2007. Mr. Prins has more than 26 years of experience in
private equity investing and investment banking. From March 1996, he was the Director of Investment Banking at
Ferris, Baker Watts, Incorporated (FBW). FBW was the lead underwriter for our IPO. FBW was sold to Royal Bank
of Canada (RBC) in 2008. Mr. Prins served in a consulting role to RBC until January 2009. Today, Mr. Prins serves
on several boards, volunteers full time with a non-profit organization, Advancing Native Missions, and is a private
investor. Prior to FBW, from July 1988 to March 1996, Mr. Prins was Senior Vice President and Managing Director
for the Investment Banking Division of Crestar Financial Corporation (SunTrust Banks). From 1993 to 1998, he was
with the leveraged buy-out firm of Tuscarora Corporation. Mr. Prins has experience serving on the boards of other
publicly held companies. Since February 2003, he has been on the board of Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
since March 2010, he has been on the board of Hilbert Technologies. Mr. Richard Prins holds a B.A. degree from
Colgate University (1980) and an M.B.A. from Oral Roberts University (1983). Mr. Prins has excellent knowledge
and experience with U.S. capital markets, has served on and chaired audit and compensation committees of Boards,
has extensive experience in finance, accounting, and internal controls over financial reporting. He brings particularly
important experience to the board, especially if IGC seeks additional financing in the U.S. capital markets. Mr. Prins
has traveled in India and China. His knowledge of India and China, as well as, his in-depth experience with U.S.
capital markets makes him a highly effective board member.

Mr. Sudhakar Shenoy has served as our Director since inception of IGC on May 25, 2005. Since January 1981, Mr.
Shenoy has been the Chairman and CEO of Information Management Consulting, Inc., a business solutions and
technology provider with operations in the U.S. and in India that he founded. Mr. Shenoy is a member of the
Non-Resident Indian Advisory Group that advises the Prime Minister of India on strategies for attracting foreign
direct investment. Mr. Shenoy was selected for the U.S. Presidential Trade and Development Mission to India in
1995. In 1996, Mr. Shenoy was inducted into the University of Connecticut School of Business Alumni Hall of Fame
and was recognized as a Distinguished Alumnus of the Indian Institute of Technology (IIT) in Bombay, India in

1997. Mr. Shenoy’s extensive business contacts in India and his experience serving on the boards of public companies
in the U.S. make him a highly effective board member. Mr. Shenoy holds a B. Tech (Hons.) in electrical engineering
from the Indian Institute of Technology and an M.S. in electrical engineering and an M.B.A. from the University of
Connecticut Schools of Engineering and Business Administration, respectively.

Mr. Ram Mukunda, IGC’s founder, has served as our Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
since our inception on April 29, 2005 and was Chairman of the Board from April 29, 2005 through December 15,
2005. Since July 2010, Mr. Mukunda has been on the board of directors of the BLA Power Private Limited Board, in
Mumbai, India. From January 1990 to May 2004, Mr. Mukunda served as Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Startec Global Communications, an international telecommunications carrier focused on providing voice
over Internet protocol (VOIP) services to the emerging economies. Startec was among the first carriers to have a
direct operating agreement with India for the provision of telecom services. Mr. Mukunda was responsible for the
organizing, structuring and integrating a number of companies owned by Startec. Many of these companies provided
strategic investments in India-based operations or provided services to India-based companies. Under Mr. Mukunda’s
tenure at Startec, the company made an initial public offering of its equity securities in 1997 and conducted a public
high-yield debt offering in 1998. From June 1987 to January 1990, Mr. Mukunda served as Strategic Planning
Adpvisor at INTELSAT, a provider of satellite capacity. Mr. Mukunda serves on the Board of Visitors at the
University of Maryland, School of Engineering. From 2001-2003, he was a Council Member at Harvard’s Kennedy
School of Government, Belfer Center of Science and International Affairs. Mr. Mukunda is the recipient of several
awards, including the University of Maryland’s 2001 Distinguished Engineering Alumnus Award and the 1998 Ernst
& Young, LLP’s Entrepreneur of the Year Award. He holds B.S. degrees in electrical engineering and mathematics
and a M.S. in Engineering from the University of Maryland. Mr. Mukunda has traveled extensively through India and
has conducted business in India and China for more than 15 years. He has more than 11 years of experience managing
a publicly held company, has acquired and integrated more than 15 companies, and is an engineer by training. His
in-depth business experience in India, his knowledge of U.S. capital markets and his engineering background make
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him a highly effective board member.

Mr. John B. Selvaraj has served as our Treasurer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer since November 27,
2006. From November 15, 1997 to August 10, 2007, Mr. Selvaraj served in various capacities with Startec, Inc.,
including from January 2001 to April 2006 as Vice President of Finance and Accounting where he was responsible for
SEC reporting and international subsidiary consolidation. Prior to joining Startec, from July 1984 to December 1994,
Mr. Selvaraj served as the Chief Financial and Administration Officer for the US office of the European Union. In
1969, Mr. Selvaraj received a BBA in Accounting from Spicer Memorial College India, and an Executive MBA, in
1993, from Averette University, Virginia. Mr. Selvaraj is a Charted Accountant (CA, 1971).

Mr. Santhosh Kumar has been with IGC since March 2008. Since 1991, he has been with our subsidiary in India TBL
where he held increasingly responsible positions. From 2002 to January 2008 he served as Manager (Finance and
Accounting) and from 2000 to 2002, he was the Marketing Executive for Techni Soft (India) Limited, a subsidiary of
TBL. From 1991 to 2000, he held various positions at TBL in the Finance and Accounting department. From 1986 to
1991, he worked as an accountant in the chartered accounting firm of Balan and Company in India. In 1986, Mr.
Santhosh Kumar graduated with a B.A. in Commerce from, Gandhi University, Kerala, India.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. Our Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee currently composed of three
independent directors who report to the Board of Directors. Messrs. Krishna, Prins and Shenoy, each of whom is an
independent director under the NYSE Amex listing standards, serve as members of our Audit Committee. In addition,
we have determined that Messrs. Krishna, Prins and Shenoy are “audit committee financial experts” as that term is
defined under Item 407 of Regulation S-B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit
Committee is responsible for meeting with our independent accountants regarding, among other issues, audits and
adequacy of our accounting and control systems.

Audit Committee Financial Expert. The Audit Committee will at all times be composed exclusively of “independent
directors” who are “financially literate,” as defined under the NYSE Amex listing standards. The NYSE Amex listing
standards define “financially literate” as being able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including a
company’s balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement. In addition, we must certify to the NYSE Amex
that the Audit Committee has, and will continue to have, at least one member who has past employment experience in
finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or other comparable experience or

background that results in the individual’s financial sophistication. The Board of Directors has determined that

Messrs. Krishna, Prins and Shenoy satisfy the NYSE Amex’s definition of financial sophistication and qualify as “audit
committee financial experts,” as defined under rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Compensation Committee. Our Board of Directors has established a Compensation Committee composed of three
independent directors, Messrs. Krishna, Shenoy and Prins. The compensation committee’s purpose is to review and
approve compensation paid to our officers and directors and to administer the Company’s Stock Plan.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. We intend to establish a nominating and corporate governance
committee. The primary purpose of the nominating and corporate governance committee will be to identify
individuals qualified to become directors, recommend to the Board of Directors the candidates for election by
stockholders or appointment by the Board of Directors to fill a vacancy, recommend to the Board of Directors the
composition and chairs of Board of Directors committees, develop and recommend to the Board of Directors
guidelines for effective corporate governance, and lead an annual review of the performance of the Board of Directors
and each of its committees. We do not have any formal process for stockholders to nominate a director for election to
our Board of Directors. Currently, nominations are selected or recommended by a majority of the independent
directors as stated in Section 804(a) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide.

Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight

e [eadership Structure — The Chairman of the Board of Directors is Dr. Ranga Krishna. The Executive Chairman is
Ram Mukunda, who also serves as IGC’s Chief Executive Officer. The full Board of Directors of IGC considers all
major decisions of IGC. All decisions involving strategy, finance, joint venture agreements, partnerships and
acquisitions are first discussed informally with our Dr. Krishna, Richard Prins and Sudhakar Shenoy. If decisions
require board approval, then resolutions are presented to the full board for approval either at a meeting or by
email. The Board of Directors has established a standing Audit Committee and Compensation Committee so that
certain important matters can be addressed in more depth than may be possible in a full Board of Directors meeting.
Each committee operates under its own charter.

¢ Combination of Powers — The Chairman of the Board of Directors is Dr. Krishna and the Chief Executive Officer of
IGC is Mr. Mukunda. The Board chose to separate the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer for the
following reasons, a) consistency with the by-laws of the Company, and b) consistency with best practices of larger
public companies. However, considering the size of the Company the Board of Directors elected Mr. Mukunda as
the Executive Chairman.

e | ead Independent Director — The Board of Directors has not designated a permanent lead independent director. This
role is assumed by different based on their experience and knowledge. For example, the board asked Mr. Prins to
take an active role in the acquisition of Ironman. In other cases Mr. Shenoy with his extensive experience in India
and extensive contacts in the business community has been assigned the role for meetings with large private equity
or with difficult issues in India. The specific role assumed by the individual is to interact with the CEO on a daily
basis, facilitate meetings and be an intimate part of the decision-making process and part of the reporting to the
board.

Appropriateness of Leadership Structure — The Board of Directors determines the best board leadership structure for
IGC from time-to-time. IGC recognizes that different board leadership structures may be appropriate for companies in
different situations. From inception to December 2005, our Chief Executive Officer, Ram Mukunda also served as
Chairman of the Board . Since December 2005 (prior to the completion of IGC’s initial public offering), IGC
separated the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions. Our current chairman has never held a management
position at IGC. We believe that our current leadership structure, with Mr. Mukunda serving as Executive Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer and Dr. Krishna serving as Chairman of the Board, is the optimal structure for IGC at this
time.
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Role in Risk Oversight — The Board of Directors retains responsibility for risk oversight for IGC. The Board of
Directors is routinely called upon in the exercise of its business judgment to assess the risk involved in matters
brought to it for consideration. As described above, different individuals based on their expertise and based on the
issue may assume the role of Lead Independent Director. This allows the Board of Directors to administer risk
oversight by allowing individual directors to independently assess risk and report to the board. Through this
mechanism, sometimes informal, the directors compliment the CEO’s knowledge and skills in assessing risk and
maintaining risk oversight.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

A code of business conduct and ethics is a written standard designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote (a) honest
and ethical conduct, (b) full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in regulatory filings and public
statements, (c) compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, (d) the prompt reporting violation of the code
and (e) accountability for adherence to the code. The Company has adopted a written code of ethics (the “Senior
Financial Officer Code of Ethics”) that applies to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers,
including the Company’s Principal Accounting Officer, Controller and persons performing similar functions
(collectively, the “Senior Financial Officers”) in accordance with applicable federal securities laws and the rules of the
NYSE Amex. Investors may view our Senior Financial Officer Code of Ethics on the corporate governance
subsection of the investor relations portion of our website at www.indiaglobalcap.com. The Company has established
separate audit and compensation committees that are described below. The Company does not have a separate
nominating committee. Accordingly, Board of Director nominations occur by either selection or recommendation of a
majority of the independent directors.
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Board Meetings

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, our Board of Directors held six meetings. Although we do not have any
formal policy regarding director attendance at our annual meetings, we attempt to schedule our annual meetings so
that all of our directors can attend. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, all of our directors attended 100% of
the meetings of the Board of Directors. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, there were two meetings of the
audit committee, all of which were attended by all of the members of the committee. There were no compensation
committee meetings held during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. Between April 1, 2011 and November 13,
2011 IGC’s Board of Directors held six board meetings. Also during that time, IGC’s Audit Committee met six times
and IGC’s Compensation Committee met one time.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

During the past ten years, none of our present or former directors, executive officers or persons nominated to become
directors or executive officers:

(1) A petition under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any state insolvency law was filed by or against, or a receiver,
fiscal agent or similar officer was appointed by a court for the business or property of such person, or any partnership
in which he was a general partner at or within two years before the time of such filing, or any corporation or business
association of which he was an executive officer at or within two years before the time of such filing;

(2) Such person was convicted in a criminal proceeding or is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding
(excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses);

(3) Such person was the subject of any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of
any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from, or otherwise limiting, the
following activities:

(1) Acting as a futures commission merchant, introducing broker, commodity trading advisor, commodity pool
operator, floor broker, leverage transaction merchant, any other person regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission, or an associated person of any of the foregoing, or as an investment adviser, underwriter, broker or
dealer in securities, or as an affiliated person, director or employee of any investment company, bank, savings and
loan association or insurance company, or engaging in or continuing any conduct or practice in connection with such
activity;

(i1) Engaging in any type of business practice; or

(iii) Engaging in any activity in connection with the purchase or sale of any security or commodity or in connection
with any violation of Federal or State securities laws or Federal commodities laws;

(4) Such person was the subject of any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed,

suspended or vacated, of any Federal or State authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting for more than 60
days the right of such person to engage in any activity described in paragraph (f)(3)(i) of this section, or to be
associated with persons engaged in any such activity;

(5) Such person was found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the Commission to have violated

any Federal or State securities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the Commission has not been
subsequently reversed, suspended, or vacated,;
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(6) Such person was found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated any Federal commodities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission has not been subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated;

(7) Such person was the subject of, or a party to, any Federal or State judicial or administrative order, judgment,
decree, or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, relating to an alleged violation of:

(i) Any Federal or State securities or commodities law or regulation; or
(i1) Any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies including, but not limited to, a
temporary or permanent injunction, order of disgorgement or restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or

permanent cease-and-desist order, or removal or prohibition order; or

(iii) Any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or
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(8) Such person was the subject of, or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or
vacated, of any self-regulatory organization (as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §
78c(a)(26))), any registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C.
1(a)(29))), or any equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its
members or persons associated with a member.

Family Relationships.
There are no family relationships between any of our directors or executive officers.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors, executive officers and
persons who beneficially own more than 10% of our common stock to file reports of their ownership of shares with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Such executive officers, directors and stockholders are required by SEC
regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. Based solely upon review of the copies of
such reports received by us, our senior management believes that all reports required to be filed under Section 16(a)
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 were filed in a timely manner.

Required Vote

For election as a director, our bylaws require that a nominee receive the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of
our common stock present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote. If a quorum is present at the Special
Meeting, Mr. Chang will be elected if the number of votes cast in favor of the Election Proposal exceeds the number
of votes cast against the proposal.

An abstention will have the same effect as a vote cast against the election of a nominee. A failure to vote or broker
non-vote will have no effect on the Election Proposal since the approval of this proposal is based solely on the number

of votes actually cast.

Recommendation. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT THE
STOCKHOLDERS VOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF MR. DANNY CHANG TO OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
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PROPOSAL 3: THE COMPENSATION PROPOSAL

General

Our Board of Directors is requesting that IGC stockholders approve the compensation proposal contemplated in the
Stock Purchase Agreement, which provides for the issuance of 3,150,000 shares of IGC common stock (the
“Compensation Shares”) equally (50:50) among IGC and HK Ironman executive officers and directors. The
Compensation Shares shall be subject to 12-month vesting requiring that the recipient executive officer or director
remain with their respective companies for a minimum of 12 months following the closing of the Acquisition (the
“Compensation Proposal”). The boards of directors of both of the companies will determine the award of the
Compensation Shares among their respective companies’ executive officers and directors following the closing of the
Acquisition. Accordingly, the amount of the Compensation Shares by each of the executive officers and directors of
the two companies are not currently determinable. The approval of the Compensation Proposal is contingent upon the
approval of the Share Issuance Proposal. Currently, IGC has no commitment to issue to any of its current officers or
directors any shares of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of IGC. The NYSE Amex rules require
IGC stockholders approval prior to the issuance of the Compensation Shares.

Beneficial Ownership of Officers and Directors

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of October 18,
2011, by:

. each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of common
stock;

. each of our executive officers, directors and our special advisors; and

. all of our officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and does not necessarily indicate beneficial
ownership for any other purpose. Under these rules, beneficial ownership includes those shares of common stock over
which the stockholder has sole or shared voting or investment power. It also includes shares of common stock that the
stockholder has a right to acquire within 60 days through the exercise of any option, warrant or other right. The
percentage ownership of the outstanding common stock, which is based upon 20,960,433 shares of common stock
outstanding as of October 18, 2011, is based on the assumption, expressly required by the rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, that only the person or entity whose ownership is being reported has exercised options or
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock.

The table below sets forth as of October 18, 2011, except as noted in the footnotes to the table, certain information
with respect to the beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock by (i) all persons or groups, according to the
most recent Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or otherwise known
to us, to be the beneficial owners of more than 5% of the outstanding common stock of the Company, (ii) each
director and director-nominee of the Company, (iii) the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation
Table, and (iv) all such executive officers and directors of the Company as a group.

Shares Owned
Number of  Percentage of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Shares Class
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Wells Fargo & Company (2)

420 Montgomery Street

San Francisco, CA 94104

Sage Master Investments Ltd. (3)
500 Fifth Avenue, Suite 930
New York, New York 10110
Ram Mukunda (4)

Ranga Krishna (5)

Richard Prins (6)

Sudhakar Shenoy (7)

All Executive Officers and Directors as a group (4 Persons) (8)
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1,934,424

1,570,797
2,024,914
3,021,780
350,000
350,000
5,746,694

9.22%

7.49%
9.66%
14.42%
1.67%
1.67%
27.42 %
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(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each of the individuals listed in the table is c¢/o India
Globalization Capital, Inc., 4336 Montgomery Avenue, Bethesda, MD 20814.

(2) Based on an amended Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on March 11, 2011 by Wells Fargo
Company on behalf of its subsidiary Wachovia Bank, National Association that is the direct
holder of the shares. Dr. Ranga Krishna is entitled to 100% of the economic benefits of the
shares.

(3) Based on an amended Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011 by Sage Master
Investments Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (“Sage Master”), Sage Opportunity
Fund (QP), L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“QP Fund”), Sage Asset Management, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership (“SAM”), Sage Asset Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Sage Inc.”),
Barry G. Haimes and Katherine R. Hensel (collectively, the “Reporting Persons™). As disclosed
in the Schedule 13G, each of the Reporting Persons’ beneficial ownership of 1,570,797 shares
of common stock constitutes 9.6% of all of the outstanding shares of common stock. The
address for each of the foregoing parties is c/o 500 Fifth Avenue, Suite 930, New York, New
York 10110.

(4) Includes (i) 245,175 shares of common stock directly owned by Mr. Mukunda, (ii) 425,000
shares of common stock owned by Mr. Mukunda’s wife Parveen Mukunda, (iii) options to
purchase 1,210,000 shares of common stock all of which are currently exercisable and (iv)
warrants to purchase 144,739 shares of common stock, of which warrants to purchase 28,571
shares of common stock are owned by Mr. Mukunda’s wife Parveen Mukunda and all which
are currently exercisable.

(5) Includes warrants to purchase 290,000 shares of common stock, all of which are currently
exercisable. Includes 797,356 shares purchased between August 2011 and September 2011
and see footnote (2) for reference to the 1,934,424 shares beneficially owned by Wells Fargo
& Company, which has sole voting and dispositive control over the shares. Dr. Krishna is
entitled to 100% of the economic benefits of the shares.

(6) Includes options to purchase 350,000 shares of common stock all of which are currently
exercisable.

(7) Includes options to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock all of which are currently
exercisable.

(8) Includes: (i) 3,401,955 shares of common stock, (ii) warrants to purchase 434,739 shares of
common stock, (iii) options to purchase 1,910,000 shares of common stock and The warrants
and options are both exercisable within sixty (60) days of July 11, 2011 and currently
exercisable. Includes 1,934,424 shares beneficially owned by Wells Fargo & Company,
which has sole voting and dispositive control over the shares.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table lists the annual compensation for fiscal years 2011 and 2010 of our CEO and principal accounting
officer.

Option
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Awards(1) Total
Compensation
Ram Mukunda, Chief Executive
Officer and President 2011 $ 300,000 $ -3 -3 300,000
2010 $ 300,000 $ -3 40,894 $ 340,894
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John Selvaraj, Principal
Accounting Officer 2011 $ 93,160 $ -
2010 $ 69,000 $ -

$ - $
$ - $
(1) The amounts reported in this column represent the fair value of option awards to the named

executive officer as computed on the date of the option grant using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model.

93,160
69,000

There were no equity and non-equity awards granted to the named executives in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table sets forth information with respect to outstanding stock options for the named executives as of
March 31, 2011.

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying Option
Unexercised Unexercised Exercise Option
Options (#) Options (#) Price Expiration
Name Exercisable Unexercisable % Date
Ram Mukunda 635,000 -3 1.00 5/13/14

Compensation of Directors

No compensation was awarded to, earned by or paid to the directors in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 for
service as directors. All compensation paid to our employee director is set forth in the tables summarizing executive
officer compensation above. The Option Awards column reflects the grant date fair value, in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation (formerly Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123R) for awards pursuant to the Company’s equity incentive program.

Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 are included in
Footnote 17 “Stock-Based Compensation” to the Company’s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2011, included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, and any amendments thereto for IGC, filed
with the SEC on July 14, 2011. The Company cautions that the amounts reported in the Director Compensation Table
for these awards may not represent the amounts that the directors will actually realize from the awards. Whether, and
to what extent, a director realizes value will depend on the Company’s actual operating performance and stock price
fluctuations.

We pay IGN, LLC, an affiliate of Mr. Mukunda, $4,000 per month for office space and certain general and
administrative services. We believe, based on rents and fees for similar services in the Washington, DC metropolitan
area that the fee charged by IGN LLC is at least as favorable as we could have obtained from an unaffiliated third
party. The agreement is on a month-to-month basis and may be terminated by the Board of Directors without notice.

Employment Contracts

Ram Mukunda has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since its inception. The
Company, IGC-M and Mr. Mukunda entered into an Employment Agreement on May 22, 2008, which agreement was
made effective as of March 8, 2008, the date on which the Company completed its acquisition of Sricon and

TBL. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company pays Mr. Mukunda a base salary of $300,000 per year. Mr. Mukunda
was also entitled to receive bonuses of at least $225,000 for meeting certain targets for net income (before one-time
charges including charges for employee options, warrants and other items) for fiscal year 2009 and is entitled to
receive $150,000 for meeting targets with respect to obtaining new contracts. The Agreement further provides that the
Board of Directors of the Company may review and update the targets and amounts for the net revenue and contract
bonuses on an annual basis. The Agreement also provides for benefits, including insurance, 20 days of paid vacation,
a car (subject to partial reimbursement by Mr. Mukunda of lease payments for the car) and reimbursement of business
expenses. The term of the Employment Agreement is five years, after which employment will become at-will. The
Employment Agreement is terminable by the Company and IGC-M for death, disability and cause. In the event of a
termination without cause, the Company would be required to pay Mr. Mukunda his full compensation for 18 months
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or until the term of the Employment Agreement was set to expire, whichever is earlier.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table shows, as of March 31, 2011, information regarding outstanding awards available under our

compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements) under which our equity securities may be
delivered.

(@) (b) (©
Number of Number of
securities to be Weighted- securities
issued upon average exercise available for
exercise of price of future
outstanding outstanding issuance
options, options, (excluding
warrants and warrants and shares in
Plan category rights(1) rights column (a))(1)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders:
2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan 1,413,000 $ 1.00 471,045
) Consists of our 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended. See Note 17—"Stock-Based Compensation” of the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and any amendments
thereto for IGC filed with the SEC on July 14, 2011.

Required Vote

The approval of the Compensation Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common
stock present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. An abstention will have
the same effect as a vote cast against the election of a nominee. A failure to vote or broker non-vote will have no
effect on the Compensation Proposal since the approval of this proposal is based solely on the number of votes
actually cast.

Recommendation. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT THE
STOCKHOLDERS VOTE “FOR” THE COMPENSATION PROPOSAL.
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PROPOSAL 4: THE ADJOURNMENT PROPOSAL

General

If at the Special Meeting of stockholders on , 201_, the number of shares of IGC common stock present or
represented and voting in favor of adoption of the Share Issuance Proposal, the Election Proposal or the Compensation
Proposal are insufficient to adopt such proposals under the applicable rules and regulations, IGC’s treasurer and
principal financial and accounting officer, John Selvaraj, intends to move to adjourn the Special Meeting in order to
enable our Board of Directors to solicit additional proxies.

In this proposal, we are asking you to authorize Ram Mukunda or John Selvaraj to vote in favor of an adjournment of
the Special Meeting to another time and place for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. If the stockholders
approve the adjournment proposal, we could adjourn the Special Meeting and any adjourned session of the Special
Meeting and use the additional time to solicit additional proxies, including the solicitation of proxies from
stockholders that have previously submitted proxies. Among other things, approval of the Adjournment Proposal
could mean that, even if we had received proxies representing a sufficient number of votes against the Share Issuance
Proposal, we could adjourn the Special Meeting without a vote on that proposal and seek to convince the holders of
those shares to change their votes to votes in favor of adoption of the Share Issuance Proposal.

Vote Required and Board Recommendation

The proposal to adjourn the Special Meeting, if a quorum is present, requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the
votes, which could be cast by holders of all shares of stock entitled to vote thereon, which are present in person or by
proxy at the Special Meeting. In the absence of a quorum, the stockholders present, by majority vote, may adjourn the
Special Meeting. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the vote on the adjournment proposal. Our
Board of Directors believes that if the number of shares of IGC common stock present or represented at the Special
Meeting and voting in favor of the Acquisition is insufficient to approve Proposal 1, Proposal 2 and Proposal 3, it is in
the best interests of our stockholders to enable our Board of Directors to continue to seek to obtain a sufficient number
of additional votes in favor of the proposals to bring about their approval. Our Board of Directors recommends that
you vote “FOR” the IGC Adjournment Proposal.

Consequences if Adjournment Proposal is Not Approved

If our stockholders do not approve the Adjournment Proposal, our Board of Directors may not be able to adjourn the
Special Meeting to a later date in the event there are not sufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting.

Required Vote

Approval of the Adjournment Proposal requires a majority of all the votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is
present. An abstention will have the same effect as a vote cast against approval of the Abstention Proposal. A failure
to vote or broker non-vote will have no effect on the Adjournment Proposal.

Recommendation

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT OUR STOCKHOLDERS VOTE “FOR”
THE ADJOURNMENT PROPOSAL.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of IGC

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our unaudited condensed financial statements and related notes that appear elsewhere in this proxy
statement and that appears in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 18, 2011, and the amended Annual
Report on Form 10-K/A filed on November 2, 2011. In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the
following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual
results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this proxy statement or seen in our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 18, 2011, as well as in our amended Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on November 2, 2011, including the risk factors set out in Item 1A therein. The financial statements included in
the proxy statement should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements contained in the
Company’s amended Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 filed with the SEC on
November 2, 2011.

This Amendment No. 2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A ("Form 10-K/A") amends our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended March 31, 2011, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on
July 14, 2011, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, which was filed with the
SEC on July 27, 2011 ("Form 10-K"). This Form 10-K/A Amendment No. 2 was filed to supplement certain sections
of the Form 10-K for the purpose of providing additional disclosure in response to comments received from the Staff
of the SEC in connection with a review of our Form 10-K.

64

128



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

Table of Contents
Overview

In response to the increased infrastructure-related construction in India and China, our focus is to supply construction
materials in India and to China as well as execute infrastructure projects. We do this entirely through our

subsidiaries. We supply construction materials such as iron ore and rock aggregate to the construction industry and
build interstate highways, rural roads, and execute civil works in high temperature cement and steel plants. We own
and operate rock aggregate quarries and are pursuing joint venture partnerships with mine owners and have applied for
licenses to mine iron ore in India. We have customers in India and China and are exploring other regional
opportunities. We also actively continue to pursue joint venture partnerships with mine owners for acquisition of
mines and mining rights.

Company Overview

We are a materials and construction company offering a suite of services including: 1) the export of iron ore to China
and supply of ore to the Indian markets, 2) operations and supply of rock aggregate, and 3) the civil construction of
roads and highways. Our present and past clients include various Indian government organizations and steel mills in
China. Including our subsidiaries, we have approximately 131 employees and contractors. We are focused building
out rock aggregate quarries, setting up relations and export hubs for the export of iron ore to China and winning
construction contracts.

Our business model is as follows:
1. We supply iron ore to China and trade in steel in the Indian markets.

2. We supply rock aggregate to the construction industry in India and trade in other
construction materials in the Indian markets, and

3. We bid and execute construction and engineering contracts.

Our expansion plans include building out 10 rock aggregate quarries to create a one-stop shop for rock aggregate (a
business currently not prevalent in India); obtaining licenses for the mining of iron ore in India in order to fill
customer orders from China; and winning and executing construction contracts. There is seasonality in our business
as outdoor construction activity slows down during the Indian monsoons continuing intermittently from June through
September.

Core Business Competencies

As the infrastructure in India is built out and modernized, the demand for basic raw materials like stone aggregate and
iron ore (steel) is expected to increase. We offer an integrated set of services to our customers based upon several
core competencies. This integrated approach provides us with an advantage over our competitors. Our core business
competencies are:

1. A sophisticated, integrated approach to project modeling, costing, management and
monitoring.

2. In-depth knowledge of southern and central Indian infrastructure development.

3. Knowledge of low cost logistics for moving commodities across long distances in specific
parts of India.

4. In-depth knowledge of the licensing process for mines and quarries in southern and central
India.
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Strong relationships with several important construction companies and mine operators in
southern and central India.
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Our core business areas are:

1. Mining and trading. Our mining and trading activity currently centers on the export of iron ore to China and
the resale of iron ore to traders in India. India is the fourth largest producer of iron ore. The Freedonia Group
projected in May 2010 that China’s $1.15 trillion construction industry would grow 9.1% every year until 2014. This
growth will increase China’s already large demand for steel. China, which accounted for 648 million metric tons of
steel production in 2010, is expected to produce between 690 million and 710 million metric tons in 2011. As The
Wall Street Journal reported, this production is expected to be almost half of total global output. We believe that IGC
is well positioned to provide some Chinese steel mills with the iron ore needed to meet their demand. Our subsidiary
IGC Mining and Trading Private Limited (IGC-IMT), based in Chennai, India, is engaged in the iron ore

business. The subsidiary has relationships and in some cases agreements with mine owners in Orissa and Karnataka,
two of the largest ore mining belts in India. In addition, it operates facilities at seaports on the west coast of India and
to a lesser extent on the east coast of India. The facilities consist of an office and a plot of land within the port to store
iron ore. Our staff is experienced in delivering and managing the logistics of ore transport. Our subsidiary services a
customer in China by buying ore from Indian mine owners, transporting it to seaports and then subcontracting
stevedores to load the ships. Our share of the export market for iron ore is less than 1%.

2. Quarrying rock aggregate. As Indian infrastructure modernizes, the demand for raw materials like rock
aggregate, iron ore and similar resources is projected to greatly increase. In 2009, according to the Freedonia Group,
India was the third largest stone aggregate market in the world. The report projected that Indian demand for crushed
stone will increase to 770 million metric tons in 2013 and 1.08 billion metric tons in 2018. Our subsidiary, IGC
Materials Private Limited (“IGC-MPL”), is responsible for our rock aggregate production. The subsidiary currently has
two quarrying agreements with two separate partners. The two quarries mined near Nagpur, a city in the state of
Maharashtra, India, have approximately 10-11 million metric tons of rock aggregate or about $40,000,000 of reserves
at current prices. With the production of these two quarries, our subsidiary is one of the largest suppliers in the
immediate area. Our share of the overall market in India is currently less than 1%. However, IGC-MPL has a

growing regional presence in the Nagpur area.

All quarrying or mining activities in India require a license. IGC and its subsidiaries do not directly hold any mining
or quarrying licenses and therefore there are no licenses or expenses in connection with acquiring the same being
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. However, Sricon holds licenses and we quarry under licenses held
by our partners. Quarry licenses are granted for two years. The licenses are automatically renewed for additional
periods of two years, provided that all royalty payments and taxes to the Indian government are paid up to

date. IGC-MPL has applied, on its own, for licenses for mining and quarrying. The process of obtaining a quarrying
license is difficult and typically takes between 12-18 months. The process involves a competitive application
process. As such, while we have applied for licenses, there is no assurance that we will be granted these

licenses. IGC-MPL is also in active negotiations with other land and license owners to expand the number of
producing quarries available to it.

3. Highway and heavy construction. The Indian government has developed a plan to build and modernize
Indian infrastructure. The Wall Street Journal reported on March 23, 2010 that the Indian government plans to double
infrastructure spending from $500 billion to $1 trillion. It will pay for the expansion and construction of rural roads,
major highways, airports, seaports, freight corridors, railroads and townships. A significant number of our customers
are engaged in highway and heavy construction. Our subsidiary, Techni Bharathi Limited (“TBL”), a small road
building company, is engaged in highway and heavy construction activities. TBL has constructed highways, rural
roads, tunnels, dams, airport runways and housing complexes, mostly in southern states. TBL, because of its
successful execution of contracts, is pre-qualified by the National Highway Authority of India (NHAI) and other
agencies. TBL’s share of the overall Indian construction market is very small. However, TBL’s prequalification and
track record provides a way to grow the Company in highway and heavy construction. Currently, TBL is engaged in
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the recovery of construction delay claims that it is pursuing against NHAI, the Airport Authority of Cochin and the
Orissa State Works. Our share of the overall market in India is significantly less than 1%.

4. Construction and maintenance of high temperature plants. Through our unconsolidated, minority interest in
Sricon Infrastructure Private Limited (Sricon), we engage in the civil engineering, construction and maintenance of
high temperature plants. Sricon also has the specialized skills required to build and maintain high temperature
chimneys and kilns. Sricon’s share of this market in India is less than 1%. We currently hold equity in

Sricon. According to the global market researcher eMpulse, the construction industry’s total market size in India is
approximately $53 Billion. According to Reuters, India exports about 100 million tons of iron ore per year. Prices for
iron ore have averaged around $140 per metric ton. The rock aggregate market is India is approximately $3

billion. As noted above, Sricon’s share of these markets is less than 1%.

The following table sets out the revenue contribution from our subsidiaries:

Six months Six months

ended ended

September 30, September 30,
Subsidiary 2011 2010
TBL 1 % 37 %
IGC-IMT 83 % 57 %
IGC-MPL 16 % 5 %
IGC-LPL - % 1 %
Total 100 % 100 %
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Customers.

Our present and past customers include the National Highway Authority of India, several state high way authorities,
the Indian railways, private construction companies in India and several steel mills in China, including PRC Ironman.

Construction contract bidding process.

In order to create transparency, the Indian government has centralized the contract awarding

process for building interstate roads. The new process involves, at the “federal” level, NHAI publishes a Statement of
Work for an interstate highway construction project. The Statement of Work has a detailed description of the work to
be performed, as well as, the completion time frame. The bidder prepares two proposals in response to the Statement
of Work. The first proposal demonstrates technical capabilities, prior work experience, specialized machinery,
manpower required, and other qualifications required to complete the project. The second proposal includes a
financial bid. NHAI evaluates the technical bids and short-lists technically qualified companies. Next, the short list
of technically qualified companies are invited to place a detailed financial bid and show adequate financial strength in
terms of revenue, net worth, credit lines, and balance sheets. Generally, the lowest bid wins the

contract. Additionally, contract bidders must meet several requirements to demonstrate an adequate level of capital
reserves:

1) An earnest money deposit between 2% to 10% of project costs,
2) A performance guarantee of between 5% and 10%,

3) An adequate overall working capital, and

4) Additional capital available for plant and machinery.

Bidding qualifications for larger NHAI projects are set by NHAI and are imposed on each contractor. As the
contractor actually executes larger highway projects, then the contractor may qualify for even larger projects.

Growth strategy and business model.
Our growth strategy and business model are to:

1) Deepen our relationships with our existing construction customers by providing them infrastructure materials like
iron ore, rock aggregate, concrete, coal and associated logistical support.

2) Expand our materials offering by expanding the number of rock aggregate quarries and other materials.

3) Leverage our expertise in the logistics and supply of iron ore by increasing the number of shipping hubs we
operate from and continue to expand our offering into China and other Asian countries in order to take advantage
of their expected strong infrastructure growth.

4) Expand the number of recurring contracts for infrastructure build-out to customers that can benefit from our
portfolio of offerings.

Competition.

We operate in an industry that is competitive. However, the industry is fragmented and while a number of our
competitors are well qualified and better financed than we are, we believe that the demand for contractors in general
will permit us to compete for projects and contracts that are appropriate for our size and capabilities. Large domestic
and international firms compete for jumbo contracts over $250 million in size, while locally based contractors vie for
contracts worth less than $5 million. We seek to compete in the gap between these two ends of the competitive
spectrum. The recent capital markets crisis has made it more difficult for smaller companies to grow to mid-sized

133



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

companies because their access to capital has been restrained. While we are also constrained by capital, we believe
that we are in a better position to secure capital than a number of small, purely local competitors.

Our construction business is positioned in the $5 million to $50 million contract range, above locally based
contractors and below the large firms, creating a distinct technical and financial advantage in this market niche
assuming that we can maintain access to capital. Rock aggregate is generally supplied to the industry through small
crushing units, which supply low quality material. Frequently, high quality aggregate is unavailable, or is transported
over large distances. We fill this gap by providing high quality material in large quantities. We compete on price,
quantity and quality. Iron ore is produced in India, where our core assets are located, and exported to China. While
this is a fairly established and relatively efficient market, we compete by aggregating ore from smaller suppliers who
do not have direct access to customers in China. Further, we expect to install a large iron ore crusher that can grind
ore pebbles into fine ore particles, providing a value added service to the smaller mine owners.
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Seasonality.

The road building and construction industries typically experience naturally recurring seasonal patterns throughout
India. The Northeast monsoons historically arrive on June 1 annually, followed by the southwest monsoons, which
usually continue intermittently until September. Historically, the business in the monsoon months is slower than in
other months because of the heavy rains. Activities such as engineering and maintenance of high temperature plants
are less susceptible to weather delays, while the iron ore export business slows down somewhat due to the rough seas.
Flooding in the quarries can slow production in the stone aggregate industry during the monsoon season. However,
our quarries build stone reserves prior to the monsoon season. The monsoon season has historically been used to bid
and win contracts for construction and for the supply of ore and aggregate in preparation for work activity when the
rains abate.

Employees and consultants.

As of September 30, 2011, we employed a work force of approximately 131 employees and contract workers
worldwide. Employees are typically skilled workers including executives, welders, drivers and other specialized
experts. Contract workers require less specialized skills. We make diligent efforts to comply with all employment
and labor regulations, including immigration laws in the many jurisdictions in which we operate. In order to attract
and retain skilled employees, we have implemented a performance based incentive program, offered career
development programs, improved working conditions and provided U.S. work assignments, technology training and
other fringe benefits. We hope that our efforts will make our companies more attractive.

Environmental regulations.

India has strict environmental, occupational, health and safety regulations. In most instances, the contracting agency
regulates and enforces all regulatory requirements. We internally monitor and manage regulatory issues on a
continuous basis. We believe that we comply with all the regulatory requirements of the jurisdictions in which we
operate. Furthermore, we do not believe that compliance will have a material adverse effect on our business activities.

Current Chinese currency revaluation.

Bloomberg News reported on December 21, 2010 that U.S. senators are strongly encouraging China to hold up to their
promise to re-institute a “managed floating exchange rate.” China may continue to institute a managed floating
exchange rate regime that is tied to a basket of foreign currencies for the next eight or nine years, the China Securities
Journal announced August 4, 2011. However, the RMB (the official currency of the People's Republic of China) is
unlikely to be floated freely in the near term as the country's economy faces internal difficulties during its reform drive
and external uncertainties of the global economy according to experts. Generally, the RMB is the best performer of
the BRIC countries (i.e., Brazil, Russia, India and China) and has appreciated 24% to the dollar in the past decade. If
a similar appreciation occurs, it will increase the purchasing power of Chinese steel mills buying iron ore, which is
traded in US dollars. Chinese firms could buy more ore, even at a higher price, and IGC would benefit from an
appreciation of the RMB.

Information and timely financial reporting.

Our operations are located in India where the accepted accounting standard is the Indian GAAP, which, in many
cases, is not congruent with the U.S. GAAP. Indian accounting standards are evolving toward IFRS (International
Financial Reporting Standards). We engage an independent public accounting firm registered with the U.S. PCAOB
to conduct an annual audit of our financial statements. The process of producing financial statements is at times
cumbersome and places significant demands upon our existing staff. We believe we are still some time away from
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having processes and adequately trained personnel in place to meet the reporting timetables set out by U.S. reporting
requirements. Until then we may, on occasion, have to file for extensions to meet U.S. reporting timetables and it is
possible that we will fail to meet these time tables. Failure to file our reports in a timely fashion can result in severe
consequences including the potential delisting of our securities. In addition, our access to capital may become more
difficult or limited if we fail to meet reporting deadlines. We will make our annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy
statements and up-to-date investor presentations available on our website, www.indiaglobalcap.com, as soon as they
are available. Our SEC filings are also available, free of charge, at www.sec.gov.
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Results of Operations
Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Revenue - Total revenue was $912 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2011, as compared to $1,682
thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2010. The primary reasons for the decrease in revenues of $770
thousand is due to the continued ban on mining and export of iron ore from the state of Karnataka in India. This has
created major disruptions in the sourcing and transportation as most mines in the region have been shut down pending
an investigation into illegal mining.

Cost of Revenue (excluding depreciation) — Cost of revenue is exclusive of depreciation and amortization. Cost of
revenue consists primarily of compensation and related fringe benefits for project-related personnel, department
management and all other dedicated project related costs and indirect costs. It also includes the cost associated with
buying raw materials for the two primary revenue generating activities of the Company during the current quarter —
trading of iron ore and rock aggregates. Cost of revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2011 was about
$903 thousand as compared to $1,613 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2010. The increase in cost
of revenue as a percentage of revenue from 95.90% to 99.01% is primarily due to the existence of fixed costs, which
are continued to be incurred in the current quarter.

Selling, General and Administrative - Selling, general and administrative expenses was $652 thousand for the three
months ended September 30, 2011 compared to $764 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2010. The
selling, general and administrative expenses are generally fixed in nature and include travel, rent, consultancy charges,
insurance and legal and professional fees.

Depreciation — The depreciation expense was $76 thousand in the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared
to $101 thousand in the three months ended September 30, 2010.

Interest and other financial expense — The interest expense and other financial expense for the three months ended
September 30, 2011 were $149 thousand compared to $374 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2010.
The interest expense for the two periods primarily relates to the interest recorded on the debt that has been incurred by
the parent company. The decrease in interest payments is because of a decrease in the outstanding debt. Most of the
interest expense continues to be non-cash. If the Company raises additional equity capital and uses the proceeds to
repay the existing long term debt, we expect a significant reduction in this interest expense. However, there is
currently no guarantee that the Company would be in a position to do this.

Income tax benefit/(expense) — For the three months ended September 30, 2011, the Company has not recorded any
income tax benefit or expense. The Company continues to incur losses on its operations, which have resulted in
taxable losses. Therefore, in the absence of any taxable gain, the Company has not recorded an income tax

expense. Further, given that the Company has significant carry forward losses, as a matter of prudence, the Company
has created a full valuation allowance on all the deductible differences including carry forward losses. However, the
Company continues to believe that these would be recoverable in the future. For the three months ended September
30, 2010, the Company recorded a net income tax benefit of $33 thousand, which primarily related to the tax assets
created for the carry forward losses incurred during the particular quarter.

Other income — Other income primarily consists of foreign exchange gain arising from the restatement of the
inter-company receivables denominated in Indian rupees in relation to payables to the U.S. entity.

Share in profit of joint venture — For the three months ended September 30, 2011, the Company has recorded an income
amounting to $26 thousand resulting from its share in the joint venture that is reflected as another investment in the
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balance sheet. The joint venture primarily operates in the rock aggregate crushing and trading business. We are also
entitled to an interest on the capital that is invested in this joint venture. During the three months ended September 30,
2011, we have earned interest amounting to $26 thousand, which has been recorded separately from the share in profit
as interest income. The joint venture operates one crusher and for the three months ended September 30, 2011, has
generated revenue approximating $642 thousand, which is not reflected in the consolidated revenue.

Consolidated Net Income (loss) — Consolidated net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2011 was $798
thousand compared to a consolidated net loss of $859 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2010.
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Six Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Six Months Ended September 30, 2010

Revenue - Total revenue was $1,972 thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2011, as compared to $2,810
thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2010. The lower revenue in 2011 is from curtailed operations in the
iron ore business because of a ban of exports from the state of Karnataka, India.

Cost of Revenue - Cost of revenue consists primarily of compensation and related fringe benefits for project-related
personnel, department management and all other dedicated project related costs and indirect costs. It also includes the
cost associated with buying raw materials. Cost of revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2011 was $1,877
thousand compared to $2,596 thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2010.

Selling, General and Administrative - Selling, general and administrative expenses were $1,386 thousand for the six
months ended September 30, 2011 compared to $1,345 thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2010. The
primary reason for the increase in these expenses is due to the issue of stock options to some of the employees of the
Company for which we incurred a cost approximating $235 thousand. Further some of these expenses increased in
2011 because of increased legal and accounting expenses associated with the restatements on Form 10K/A. These
increases are partially offset by a marginal decline in some of the variable expenses such as travel in line with the
decline in revenue.

Operating Income (loss) - In the six months ended September 30, 2011, operating loss was $1,417 thousand compared
to an operating loss of $1,328 thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2010.

Interest and other financial expenses — The interest expense and other financial expenses for the six months ended
September 30, 2011 was $450 thousand as compared to $767 thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2010.

Income tax benefit/(expense) — There was no provision for income taxes in the six months period ended September 30,
2011 compared to tax benefit of $455 thousand for the same period in 2010.

Consolidated Net Income (loss) — Consolidated net loss for the six months ended September 30, 2011 was $1,669
thousand compared to a consolidated net loss of $1,450 thousand for the six months ended September 30, 2010.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any investments in special purpose entities or undisclosed borrowings or debt.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

This liquidity and capital resources discussion compares the consolidated company results for the six-month period
ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Cash used for operating activities from continuing operations is our net loss adjusted for certain non-cash items and
changes in operating assets and liabilities. During the six months ended September 30, 2011, cash used for operating
activities was $813 thousand compared to cash used for operating activities of $1,811 thousand during the six months
ended September 30, 2010. The uses of cash in the six months ended September 30, 2011 relate primarily to the
payment of general operating expenses of our subsidiary companies. The losses from our operations have primarily
contributed to this utilization of cash for our operations. The significant contributor to the reduced cash out flow
during the current six months is the realization of some of the accounts receivables and other long term deposits.
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During the six months ended September 30, 2011, investing activities from continuing operations provided $38
thousand of cash as compared to $166 thousand provided during the same period in 2010. The inflow of cash was
primarily due to release of restricted cash during the six months mentioned above.

Financing cash flows from continuing operations generally consist of transactions related to our debt and equity
structure. However, there have not been transactions that are to be classified as cash flows from financing activities
during the six months ended September 30, 2011. In the six months ended September 30, 2010, financing activities
provided approximately $1,185 thousand.

We have financed our operations primarily from sales of shares of common stock. We raised about $3.9 million in
capital through sale of our common stock during the year ended March 31, 2011. We raised such capital in the current
year primarily for the purpose of funding our working capital requirements and day-to-day operations. Our operations
have not generated sufficient cash during the six months ended September 30, 2011 due to a significant loss in
revenues from our iron ore and mining business primarily because of the ban on export of low grade iron ore to China
and closure of ports and mines in Karnataka (India). Income loss on this count is majorly the reason for the net cash
used in operating activities as although a significant part of the costs associated with revenue also decreased in line
with revenue, we had some fixed costs, which did not reduce proportionately leading to a decline in our operating
profits. During the six months ended September 31, 2011, net cash used for investing activities is not material.
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Our future liquidity needs will depend on, among other factors, stability of construction costs, interest rates, and a
continued increase in infrastructure contracts in India. We believe that our current cash balances, anticipated
operating cash flow and potential cash from claims are adequate to sustain the Company, but not to fuel rapid growth
commensurate with the opportunities before us. In addition to the existing cash balances, we have about $1.71 million
in restricted cash and about $2.38 million in receivables from claims. Although these claims were awarded in
arbitration and the amounts are contractually due to us, we have not yet received payment from the clients. The
amounts have been due for more than one year. In the event we were to classify these receivables as long term, we
fail to collect the amounts or we fail to win the release of restricted cash in the financial year ending March 31, 2012,
we will have a working capital deficit. We have and continue to take measures to constrain growth until we have
visibility into increased liquidity. As of now, our bank lines in India have been reduced to amounts borrowed and
outstanding. We continue to explore funding sources including negotiated settlement of accounts receivable,
settlement of claims, bank lines, equity, convertible debentures and debt. However, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to access additional credit facilities. Our strategy is to develop businesses that have a very short
receivable cycle like the export of ore to China and the sale of rock aggregate and to collect our outstanding
receivables and claims.

Because of the restatement of our 2010 Financial Statements, purchasers of our common stock in our At-The-Market
offering after July 14, 2010 and the purchasers of our common stock and warrants in our December 2010 offering may
have rescission rights with respect to such purchases. To the extent that such purchasers elect to exercise such rights
and are ultimately successful in doing so, it would reduce the cash available for our operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

See Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1
herein for a discussion of critical accounting policies.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the statements contained in this report that are not historical facts constitute forward-looking statements
under the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of the words "may," "
"should," "could," "expects," "plans,"” "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "intends," "potential,"
"proposed,” or "continue" or the negative of those terms. These statements reflect management's current views and
are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, expressed
or implied in these statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ, relate to: (i) ability of the Company to
successfully execute on contracts and business plans, (ii) ability to raise capital and the structure of such capital
including the exercise of warrants, (iii) exchange rate changes between the U.S. dollar and the Indian rupee, (iv)
weather conditions in India and (v) the ability of the Company to access ports on the west coast of India. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to
publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or

otherwise. Other factors and risks that could cause or contribute to actual results differing materially from such
forward looking statements have been discussed in greater detail in the Company's amended Annual Report on Form
10-K/A for the year ended March 31, 2011 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2011 and the Company's Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 19, 2011 and for the quarter ended September 30, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 18, 2011.

will,"
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INDIA GLOBALIZATION CAPITAL, INC. OUR SECURITIES

Shares of our units, common stock and warrants are listed on the NYSE Amex under the symbols IGC.U, IGC and
IGC.WT, respectively. Each of our units consists of one share of common stock, and two warrants that entitle the
holder to purchase from us one share of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00. The warrants will expire at 5:00
PM on March 8, 2013 or earlier upon redemption.

The closing prices per share of our units, common stock and warrants on October 17, 2011, the last trading day before
the announcement of the execution of the Stock Purchase Agreement and the terms of the agreements, were $0.20, $
0.18, and $0.01 respectively.

The following table sets forth, for the calendar quarter indicated, the quarterly high and low bid information of our
common stock, warrants and units as reported on the NYSE Amex Exchange. The quotations listed below reflect
inter dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown or commission and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions.

Common Stock Warrants Units

Quarter Ended High Low High Low High Low
June 30, 2009 $ 125 $ 1.12 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 1.80 $ 1.02
September 30,

2009 $ 1.86 $ 088 $ 020 $ 0.05 $ 232 % 1.00
December 31,

2009 $ 220 $ 133 $ 022 $ 0.04 $ 250 $ 1.34
March 31,2010  $ 1.67 $ 1.17  $ 0.13 $ 0.03 $ 141 $ 1.20
June 30, 2010 $ 205 $ 092 $ 0.12 $ 0.03 $ 245 $ 1.06
September 30,

2010 $ 122 $ 058 $ 0.05 $ 0.01 $ 132 % 0.85
December 31,

2010 $ 1.15 $ 052 $ 0.04 $ 0.00 $ 123 $ 0.55
March 31, 2011 $ 093 $ 030 $ 0.04 $ 0.00 $ 1.00 $ 0.62
June 30, 2011 $ 0.69 $ 030 $ 0.04 $ 0.02 $ 0.63 $ 0.50
September 30,

2011 $ 037 $ 017 $ 0.04 $ 0.01 $ 054 $ 0.17

The common stock and warrants began trading on April 13, 2006. Holders of our units, common stock and warrants
should obtain current market quotations for their securities. The market price of our units, common stock and
warrants could vary at any time before the Acquisition.

Holders of Common Equity

As of October 18, 2011, there were 20,960,433 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock to date and do not intend to pay dividends prior to the
completion of the Acquisition.

Dividends upon Completion of the Acquisition
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Upon completion of the Acquisition of HK Ironman, the payment of dividends in the future will be contingent upon
our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any dividends
subsequent to the Acquisition will be within the discretion of our then Board of Directors. It is the present intention of
our Board of Directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our business operations and, accordingly, our board
does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Plan category
Equity
compensation
plans approved
by security
holders
Equity
compensation
plans not
approved by
security holders

Total

HK Ironman Common Stock

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of
securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

(a)

2,861,820

0
2,861,820

Weighted-average
exercise price
of outstanding

options,
warrants and
rights
(b)

$ 079

$ 079

The following table sets forth IGC’s securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans:

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation
plans (excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a))

(©)

116,480

0
116,480

There is no established public trading market for the shares of common stock of HK Ironman.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS OF H&F IRONMAN LIMITED (“HK IRONMAN”)

This Proxy Statement contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or HK Ironman’s

future financial performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as

“may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue,” the negati
or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ
materially. Factors that may cause HK Ironman’s results to differ include, but are not limited to changes in the scope or

timing of HK Ironman’s projects; changes in demand for iron ore; changes in availability of raw materials which could

cause delays or cancellations of key contracts; the timing, rescheduling or cancellation of significant customer
contracts and agreements, or consolidation by or the loss of key customers; failure to successfully integrate acquired
operations; and competition in the marketplace which could reduce revenues and profit margins.

EEINT3 29 ¢ 99 <6 99 ¢

Although HK Ironman believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, there

is no guarantee of future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither HK Ironman, nor

any other person, assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. HK

Ironman is under no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements. HK Ironman believes this

information is useful to investors because it provides a basis for measuring the operating performance of HK ironman’s
business and cash flow. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with its audited consolidated

financial statements and the related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this proxy

statement. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by IGC, which

attempt to advise interested parties of the factors that affect IGC’s revenues and performance.

Overview

HK Ironman was incorporated as H&F Ironman Limited, a private limited company, on December 20, 2010 in Hong
Kong with a registered office at Room 17 6/F Shun on Commercial Building 112-114, Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong. HK Ironman’s sole asset is its ownership of a 95% equity interest in Linxi HeFei Economic and Trade
Co., Ltd. (“PRC Ironman”), which was incorporated in China on January 8, 2008. HK Ironman was formed for the
express purpose of acquiring and owning PRC Ironman. HK Ironman acquired PRC Ironman in January 2011. As a
result of that acquisition, PRC Ironman is now considered an equity joint venture (“EJV”’) because of its foreign
ownership through HK Ironman.

PRC Ironman was incorporated as Linxi Hefei Economic & Trade Co., Ltd. in China on January 8, 2005. PRC
Ironman is engaged in the processing and extraction of iron ore from sand and dirt at its beneficiation plant on 2.2
square kilometers of hills, with iron ore deposits of well over 3 million tons in southwest LinXi in the autonomous
region of Inner Mongolia. Linxi is located in eastern Inner Mongolia and is under the administration of Chifeng
City. The city of Chifeng, Inner Mongolia is located 250 miles from Beijing, 185 miles from Tianjin Port and 125
miles from Jinzhou Port and well connected by roads, planes and railroad.
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PRC Ironman’s technique for extracting ore consists of two processes. First, naturally occurring sand mixed with
sparse amounts of iron ore is processed through a dry separation process, which uses magnets to extract loosely bound
iron ore. Water is then used as a solvent to remove dirt and sand. The slurry containing water, dirt, sand and iron ore
is then further purified by passing it through magnets in a wet extraction process. The end result is high-grade iron ore
that has a 65-67% iron (Fe) content. PRC Ironman currently produces 66% iron ore, and then sells the high-grade ore
to steel mills and other traders in China. Its customers are mostly traders and steel mills located mostly around the
port of Tianjin, China.

PRC Ironman’s business objective is to operate and grow an environmentally friendly company that extracts and
processes ore from barren hills and leaves in place a sustainable green environment. PRC Ironman has a license to
operate in the hills until the year 2018. PRC Ironman is located in southwest LinXi in the autonomous region of Inner
Mongolia. PRC Ironman’s office is in the capital city of Chifeng. It has access via highways to Tianjin port, which
provides access to steel mills in the northeastern part of China. PRC Ironman customers mostly come to its site to
pick up the refined and processed high-grade ore.

Company Overview

HK Ironman operates a beneficiation plant through its subsidiary in China, PRC Ironman. PRC Ironman’s business is
to mine, extract and process high-grade iron ore from the sand located in the hills of Inner Mongolia. it currently
operates on an area of 2.2 square kilometers with estimated reserves of over 3 million tons, which at about $140 per
ton translates to about $420 million of available iron reserves. Prices of ore have moved from a high of $180 per ton
at the end of 2010 to about $116 per ton and recently have moved up to the $130-$140 per ton range. PRC Ironman’s
permit to mine is for 6.6 square kilometers. However, it currently operates on an area of 2.2 square miles, but is free
to expand. Therefore the actual potential reserves are over $1.2 billion over the 6.6 square kilometers. Expanding the
operations to a larger footprint would require an expansion of the equipment used to process and produce high-grade
ore.

PRC Ironman’s plant extracts iron ore from the sand by using two processes. The first process is a dry separation
process. Trucks of sand are poured into a separator that employs 19 magnets. The magnets separate the sand from the
iron ore. About 35 trucks of sand are distilled to one truck of higher iron content sand. In one day PRC ironman may
process as much as 30,000 tons of sand through the dry separators. The second process is a wet process, which
involves mixing the processed sand and ore with water and then using magnets to separate the ore from the

slurry. The entire process is continuous and runs during daylight. The sand that is separated from the ore is
redistributed to the hills. The water is filtered and reused up to three times before pumping it to grass, plants and
shrubs that are planted in the hills to create a sustainable environment. Approximately, for every two trucks of sand
from the dry separator PRC Ironman generates one truck of 65- 67% high-grade iron ore. In summary, about 70
trucks of sand are used to extract one truckload of processed high-grade ore.

Core Business Competencies, competition and seasonality

As the infrastructure of China is built out, the demand for raw materials and especially steel is very high. China is a
net importer of iron ore from Australia, Brazil, India and other countries. China is the largest mineral trader in the
world accounting for 25% of the trading in 2010. The iron ore and steel global trade in 2010 was about $395 billion
and China accounted for $83 billion or 21.1 % of the global trade. Global prices for iron ore are set through
negotiations between China Steel and the large suppliers Rio Tinto, BHP Billiton, and Vale. Once prices are set the
rest of the global markets follow that pricing. Prices for iron ore have increased about 7 fold from 2003 to a high of
$180 per metric ton at the end of 2010. In 2011, iron ore prices have been between $130 and $150 per metric ton.
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The core competencies of PRC Ironman are 1) its access to the sand ore in the hills of Inner Mongolia, 2) its
knowledge, history and ability to work in Inner Mongolia and Mongolia, 3) its strong relationships at the appropriate
levels of government in the autonomous region of Inner Mongolia, 4) in-depth knowledge of the licensing process for
mines and 5) its knowledge of logistics in the autonomous region of Inner Mongolia. PRC ironman’s customers
include local traders and steel mills near the port of Tianjin. Other than about 10 kilometers of dirt road leading over a
bridge and over the hills, the access to Tianjin port and steel mills located there is excellent consisting of multi-lane
highways. The competition in the immediate area consists of three other operators and is fairly limited mainly
because demand for ore within China is currently so high that the market can absorb almost any amount of ore that is
produced.
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In 2011, the area of Chifeng and Inner Mongolia was subject to inclement weather. Typically the months of May
through September are rainy. On average the rainfall is between 1.1 inches per month to a high of 4.7 inches per
month, typically in July. This level of rainfall is not disruptive to the production of ore and in most cases the plant is
operational. However, in 2011, the area received very heavy rainfall that caused flooding through the region. It had a
serious impact on PRC Ironman’s operations, as PRC Ironman could not operate the mines and the plant for over four
months. The heavy rains and flooding destroyed over 16,000 houses and over 6000 hectares of farmland. It also
destroyed the bridge connecting our production facilities to the main highways. No damage was sustained to the plant
because the plant is located high in the hills. However during that time PRC Ironman was unable to produce ore. The
rains have since stopped and the floodwaters have receded and PRC Ironman is back in operation.

PRC Ironman has a work force of about 120 employees, consultants and contract workers mostly in Chifeng with a
sales and liaison office in Beijing. The work force consists mostly of truck drivers, engineers, accountants, sales
personnel and executives. The truck drivers tend to be contract workers. PRC Ironman has represented to IGC that it
is in compliance with local labor regulations and PRC Ironman tends to be the employer of choice as there are very
few industries in the area. We currently do not participate in a multi-employer defined contribution plan to provide
employees with certain retirement, medical and other fringe benefits because most of our workforce is contract
workers that are employed thru agencies or other companies.

China has strict environmental regulations and PRC Ironman represents that it is in in compliance with these
regulations. As part of the mandate in the area, PRC Ironman has undertaken a conservation effort as well as an effort
to create a sustainable environment. PRC Ironman actively plants grass and shrubs in the hills after they are
excavated and uses the water from the processing plant to irrigate the grass and shrubs.

PRC Ironman buys and sells in only one currency, the RMB. Prices for ore are set in USD and then converted to
RMB. PRC Ironman has no currency risk. However PRC Ironman is subject to price volatility. HK Ironman is
located in Hong Kong and PRC Ironman is located in China. The accounts for both companies are kept in Chinese
GAAP and the functional currency is RMB. PRC Ironman maintains an English language web site at
www.hfironman.net.

Effects of the Acquisition

HK Ironman will account for the Acquisition as a change of ownership. No new shares will be issued to the
purchasers of HK Ironman. Shares held by the current shareholders will be sold to the purchasers in exchange for
shares of the purchaser. The Acquisition of 100% of HK Ironman’s stock by IGC will be tax free to HK Ironman and
PRC Ironman.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires HK Ironman management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. HK Ironman has based its estimates and judgments on assumptions that it finds reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from such estimates under different conditions and could have a material
impact on the financial statements, and it is possible that such changes could occur in the near term.

Significant estimates and assumptions are used when accounting for certain items, such as but not limited to, revenue
recognition, the useful lives and the evaluation of impairment of property and equipment, the income tax, the
contingencies and the provision for impairment of receivables and advances. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

148



Edgar Filing: India Globalization Capital, Inc. - Form PRE 14A

The summarized balance sheet for HK Ironman and the statement of income is shown below.

Summarized balance sheet information for HK Ironman is as follows:

As of March 31, As of September

2011 30, 2011
Total Assets $ 15,182,125 17,339,824
Total liabilities $ 8,236,404 9,519,231
Total stockholders’ equity $ 6,945,721 7,820,593
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Major items of HK Ironman’s assets and liabilities are as follows:

As of March
31,2011
Cash and cash equivalents $ 149,993
Accounts receivables 4,080,331
Property, plant and equipment, net 4,357,275
Other current assets 5,875,091
Income tax payable 2,694,523
Other payables and accruals 4,227,220
Total stockholders’ equity $ 6,945,721

As of
September 30,
2011
7,667,364
3,816,977
4,061,587
1,101,845
3,044,262
5,062,652
7,820,593

Summarized statement of income information for HK Ironman is as follows:

For the period

December 20,

2010 to March

31,2011

Revenue $ 1,053,201
Expenses 647,917
Net income before taxes $ 405,284
Income taxes 193,027
Net income $ 212,257

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

HK Ironman being incorporated on December 20, 2010, hence there were no operations for the six months period

ended September 2010.

For the
six-month
period ended
September 30,
2011

3,038,444
1,932,273
1,106,171

274,698
831,473

Six Months Ended September 30, 2011 compared to period ended March 31, 2011

Revenues

Total revenue was USD 3.04 million in the half year ended September 30, 2011, and USD 1.05 million for the period
ended March 31, 2011, an increase of 188%, which was majorly because the revenues for the period ended March 31,

2011 only included the period from December 20, 2010 to March 31, 2011 against the six months September
revenues. The revenues for the six months period from April 2011 to September 30, 2011 reflect only about two

months of operations as the plant was shut down for over four months because of heavy rainfall and flooding. PRC

Ironman had to wait for the floodwaters to recede and the bridge connecting its plant to the main highways to be

rebuilt. It has since been rebuilt and logistics are once moving.
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Expenses

HK Ironman’s expenses principally consisted of materials, employee compensation and benefits, depreciation and
amortization, interest expense and general and administrative expense. In the six months ended September 30, 2011,
total expenses increased by USD 1.28 million, or 198%, as compared with the period ended March 31, 2011. Cost of
revenue increased by USD 1.22 million, or 48%, as compared with the period ended March 31, 2011. The increase
was due to the different periodicity under comparison and due to higher scale of operation during the six months
period ended September 30, 2011. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by USD 69 thousand, or
203%, as compared with the period ended March 31, 2011. The increase was due to the different period under
comparison and due to higher scale of operation during the six months period ended September 30, 2011. During the
time that the plant was shut down PRC Ironman incurred general and administrative expenses, which decreased its
overall operating margins.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

HK Ironman’s senior management establishes the overall liquidity and capital policies of the company. Its liquidity and
funding risk management policies are designed to ensure that HK Ironman is able to access adequate financing to
service its financial obligations when they are due. The principal sources of financing for the business are

stockholders’ equity and short-term borrowings from banks.

As of September 30, 2011, HK Ironman’s net capital exceeded the net capital requirements. During the six months
ended September 30, 2011, HK Ironman showed $7.66 million in cash and cash equivalents, up from $149,993 at the
end of March 31, 2011. Of the cash shown at the end of September 30, 2011, $4.8 million was generated from the
realization of a short-term loan receivable, $1.1 million from income during the six-month period, and about $1.2
million from a change in current liability and the rest from receivables, and other sources. Prior to September 30,
2011 PRC Ironman had kept most of its cash as a deposit with an unrelated party. However during the quarter, ended
September 30, 2011, pursuant to discussions with IGC, that money which in the March 31, 2011 statements is booked
as Other Current Assets was brought back into the bank account of PRC Ironman. It thus moved from Other Current
assets to Cash and cash equivalents. HK Ironman did not make any investments in property, plant and equipment
during the six months ended September 30, 2011, and was not engaged in any investing or financing activity.

HK Ironman believes that its net income and existing cash balances will be sufficient to meet its cash requirements for
the next twelve months. In the longer term, the company believes future cash requirements will continue to be met by
its cash from operations, credit arrangements and equity financings as required.

Accounting Developments and their impact on HK Ironman

In January 2010, the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting standards related to the disclosures about an
entity's use of fair value measurements. Under these amendments, entities will be required to provide enhanced
disclosures about transfers into and out of the Level 1 (fair value determined based on quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities) and Level 2 (fair value determined based on significant other observable inputs)
classifications, provide separate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements relating to the tabular
reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the Level 3 (fair value determined based on significant
unobservable inputs) classification and provide greater disaggregation for each class of assets and liabilities that use
fair value measurements. Except for the detailed Level 3 roll-forward disclosures, the new standard was effective for
the Company for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 31, 2009. The adoption of this
accounting standards amendment did not have a material impact on the HK Ironman’s disclosure or consolidated
financial results. The requirement to provide detailed disclosures about the purchases, sales, issuances and settlements
in the roll-forward activity for Level 3 fair value measurements is effective for HK Ironman for interim and annual
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reporting periods beginning after December 31, 2010. The adoption of this accounting standard did not have a
material impact on the HK Ironman's disclosure or consolidated financial results.

In December 2010, the FASB issued a new accounting standard, which requires that Step 2 of the goodwill
impairment test be performed for reporting units whose carrying value is zero or negative. This guidance is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010 and interim periods within those years. Adoption of this standard
did not have a material impact on the HK Ironman's disclosure or consolidated financial results.

In December 2010, the FASB issued new guidance clarifying some of the disclosure requirements related to business
combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis. Specifically, the guidance states that, if
comparative financial statements are presented, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity
as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year occurred as of the beginning of the
comparable prior annual reporting period only. Additionally, the new standard expands the supplemental pro forma
disclosure required by the authoritative guidance to include a description of the nature and amount of material,
non-recurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination in the reported pro forma
revenue and earnings. This guidance became effective January 1, 2011. Adoption of this standard did not have a
material impact on the HK Ironman's disclosure or consolidated financial results.

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2011-04, “Fair Value Measurement:
Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS”.
This update defines fair value, clarifies a framework to measure fair value and requires specific disclosures of fair

value measurements. The guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after January 1,

2012 and is required to be applied retrospectively. HK Ironman does not expect adoption of this guidance to have a
material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, which is now part of ASC 220: “Presentation of Comprehensive
Income". The new guidance will require companies to present the components of net income and other comprehensive
income either as one continuous statement or as two consecutive statements. It eliminates the option to present
components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. The standard
does not change the items, which must be reported in other comprehensive income. These provisions are to be applied
retrospectively and will be effective for us as of January 1, 2012. Because this guidance impacts presentation only, it
will have no effect on HK Ironman’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information is based on the historical
consolidated financial information of India Globalization Capital Inc. (“IGC”) and HK Ironman included in this proxy
statement and has been prepared to reflect the acquisition.

In the Tables below we set out the pro forma balance sheet of the combined companies as of September 30, 2011 and
four pro forma Statements of Operations:

1.

79

Balance Sheet: The Table titled Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet As of
September 30, 2011 combines the historical unaudited balance sheets of IGC and HK Ironman as of September 30,
2011, giving effect to the Acquisition as if it had been consummated on September 30, 2011.

Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011: The Table titled Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the Six Months ended September 30, 2011 combines the condensed unaudited
statements of operations of HK Ironman for the six months ended September 30, 2011 with the unaudited
statement of operations of IGC for the six months period ended September 30, 2011, giving effect to the
Acquisition as if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented.

Financial Statements as of March 31, 2011: The Table titled Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the period ended March 31, 2011 combines the audited statements of operations of HK
Ironman for the period December 20, 2010 (inception) to the period ended March 31, 2011 with the audited
statement of operations of IGC for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, giving effect to the Acquisition as if it
had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented.

4. HK Ironman pro forma Financial Statements as of March 31, 2011: The Table titled HK Ironman and
Subsidiaries, Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period ended
March 31, 2011 consolidates the pro forma unaudited statement of operations for HK Ironman for the
period ended March 31, 2011 with the unaudited statement of operations of PRC Ironman for the period
April 1, 2010 to January 18, 2011, the date on which PRC Ironman was acquired by HK Ironman.

5. IGC and Ironman Financial Statements as of March 31, 2011: The Table titled IGC and Subsidiaries,
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period ended March 31,
2011 consolidates the pro forma unaudited statement of operations for IGC for the period ended March 31,
2011 with HK Ironman for the period ended March 31, 2011 and with the unaudited statement of operations
of PRC Ironman for the period April 1, 2010 to January 18, 2011. The January 18, 2011 date reflects the
date on which HK Ironman acquired PRC Ironman. This Table reflects the acquisition as if IGC had
acquired HK Ironman at the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, i.e. on April 1, 2010 and
HK Ironman had acquired PRC Ironman on April 1, 2010.
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The historical financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that are directly attributable to
the Acquisition, are factually supportable and are expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results. We
are providing the following information to aid you in your analysis of the financial aspects of the acquisition.

We derived the pro forma information for the six months ended September 30, 2011 from the condensed unaudited
consolidated financial statements of HK Ironman for the six months ended September 30, 2011, and from the
unaudited condensed financial statements of IGC for the six months ended September 30, 2011. We derived the pro
forma information for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 from the audited financial statements of HK Ironman,
IGC and PRC Ironman for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

This information should be read together with IGC’s audited and unaudited financial statements and related notes, the
HK Ironman audited and unaudited financial statements and related notes, the PRC Ironman audited financial

statements and related notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
of each of HK Ironman and IGC and other financial information included elsewhere in this proxy statement.

The acquisition will be accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting under U.S. GAAP whereby the total
purchase price is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values
determined on the acquisition date. At this time, IGC has not completed a detailed valuation analyses to determine the
fair values of HK Ironman’s assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated
financial information includes a preliminary allocation of the purchase price based on assumptions and estimates,
which while considered reasonable under the circumstances, are subject to changes which may be material.
Additionally, IGC has not yet completed the due diligence necessary to identify items that could significantly impact
the purchase price allocation or the assumptions and adjustments made in preparation of this unaudited pro forma
condensed combined consolidated financial information. Upon completion of detailed valuation analyses, there may
be additional increases or decreases to the recorded book values of HK Ironman assets and liabilities, including, but
not limited to mineral reserves, property, plant and equipment, and other intangible assets that will give rise to future
amounts of depletion, depreciation and amortization expenses or credits that are not reflected in the information
contained in this unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information. Accordingly, once the necessary
due diligence has been completed, the final purchase price has been determined and the purchase price allocation has
been completed, actual results may differ materially from the information presented in this unaudited pro forma
condensed combined consolidated financial information. Additionally, the unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended September 30, 2011 and for the year ended March 31,
2011 do not reflect the cost of any integration activities or benefits from the acquisition and synergies that may be
derived from any integration activities, both of which may have a material effect on the consolidated results of
operations in periods following the completion of the acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma condensed information is for illustrative purposes only. The financial results may have been
different had the companies always been combined. You should not rely on the unaudited pro forma condensed
financial information as being indicative of the historical results that would have been achieved had the companies
always been combined or the future results that the combined company will experience. IGC and HK Ironman have
not had any meaningful historical relationship prior to the Acquisition. Accordingly, no pro forma adjustments were
required to eliminate activities among the companies.
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INDIA GLOBALIZATION CAPITAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2011

Pro-forma Total
ASSETS IGC HK Ironman  adjustments Pro-forma
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $766,829 7,667,364 1,000,000 (a, c)
(510,000 ) (o) 8,924,193
Trade accounts receivable, net 2,381,247 3,816,977 - 6,198,224
Inventories 103,729 1,609 - 105,338

Dues from related parties - 62,599
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